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CORPORATE INFORMATION AND FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Our Corporate Information

Our business was incorporated in Delaware as IntraLinks Inc in June 1996 In June 2007 we

completed merger the Merger pursuant to which IntraLinks Inc became wholly-owned subsidiary of

TA Indigo Holding Corporation newly-formed Delaware corporation owned by TA Associates Inc and

certain stocltholders of IntraLinks Inc including Rho Capital Partners Inc and former and current officers

and employees of IntraLinks Inc The Merger was funded in part through term loans made under various

credit facilities in an aggregate principal amount of $275.0 million The Merger was accounted for under the

purchase accounting method in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

of America GAAP In 2010 we changed the name of TA Indigo Holding Corporation to IntraLinks

Holdings Inc Unless otherwise stated in this Annual Report on Form 10-K this Annual Report or

Form 10-K or the context otherwise requires references to IntraLinks we us our the

Company and similar references refer to IntraLinks Holdings Inc and its subsidiaries

IntraLinks IntraLinks ExchangeSM IntraLinks DesignersM IntraLinks CourierSM IntraLinks

DealspaceSM IntraLinks ConnectSM and Extended Enterprise and other trademarks and service marks of

IntraLinks appearing in this Annual Report are the property of IntraLinks Other trademarks or servicemarks

appearing in this Annual Report are the property of their respective holders Solely for convenience the

trademarks and trade names in this Annual Report are referred to without the IM and
SM

symbols but such

references should not be construed as any indicator that their respective owners will not assert to the fullest

extent under applicable law their rights thereto

Forward-Looking Statement Safe Harbor

Some of the statements in this Annual Report constitute forward-looking statements within the

meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended and Section 21E of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended These statements relate to our operations and are based on our current

expectations estimates and projections Words such as may will could would should

anticipate predict potential continue expects intends plans projects believes

estimates goals in our view and similar expressions are used to identify these forward-looking

statements The forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report include but are not limited to

statements about our internal control over financial reporting and remediation of the material weakness

identified therein our results of operations and financial condition and our plans strategies and developments

Forward-looking statements are only predictions and as such are not guarantees of future performance and

involve risks uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict Forward-looking statements are based

upon assumptions as to future events or our future financial performance that may not prove to be accurate

Actual outcomes and results may differ materially from what is expressed or forecast in these forward-looking

statements Many of the reasons for these differences include changes that occur in our continually changing

business environment and other important factors including those described in Item 1A Risk Factors and

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation You are

strongly encouraged to read those sections carefully as the occurrence of the events described therein and

elsewhere in this report could materially harm our business Given these risks uncertainties and other factors

you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements Also these statements speak only as

of the date they were made and except as required by law we undertake no obligation to publicly update or

revise any forward-looking statements whether as result of new information future events or otherwise
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PART

ITEM BUSINESS

Overview

IntraLinks is leading global provider of Software-as-a-Service SaaS solutions for securely

managing content exchanging critical business information and enabling inter-enterprise collaboration Our

cloud-based solutions allow organizations to control track search and exchange sensitive information inside

and outside the firewall all within secure and easy-to-use environment Our customers rely on our

cost-effective solutions to manage large amounts of electronic information accelerate information-intensive

business processes reduce time to market optimize critical information workflow meet regulatory and risk

management requirements and collaborate with business counterparties in secure auditable and compliant

manner We help our customers eliminate many of the inherent risks and inefficiencies of email fax courier

services and other existing solutions to collaborate and exchange information

At our founding in 1996 we introduced cloud-based collaboration for the debt capital markets

industry and shortly thereafter extended our solutions to merger and acquisition transactions Today we service

enterprises and governmental agencies in over 63 countries across variety of industries including financial

services pharmaceutical biotechnology consumer energy industrial legal insurance real estate

and technology

We deliver our solutions entirely through cloud-based model where they are available on-demand over

the Internet using multi-tenant SaaS architecture in which single instance of our software serves all of our

customers We sell our solutions directly through sales team with industry-specific expertise and indirectly

through customer referral network and channel partners In 2011 we generated $213.5 million in revenue of

which approximately 40% was derived from sales across 63 countries outside of the United States We have

generated positive cash flow from operations on an annual basis since 2003 including $54.7 million in 2011

The IntraLinks Platform

We have built highly secure and scalable cloud-based multi-tenant platform upon whiØh we develop

solutions that allow our customers to collaborate and manage and exchange critical information across

organizational and geographic boundaries We integrate content management collaboration and social

networking software into one platform that supports business collaboration and content exchange The

IntraLinks Platform scales from the needs of small groups and individuals within one organization to large

teams of people across multiple enterprises financial institutions and governmental agencies Our platform

helps transform wide range of slow expensive and information-intensive tasks into streamlined efficient and

real-time business processes Examples include the following

debt capital markets transactions including loan syndication agency and other financing activities

due diligence for merger and acquisition transactions initial public offerings IPOs and other

strategic transactions

private equity fundraising and investor reporting

clinical trial management support and safety information exchange

life sciences drug development support and licensing

contract and vendor management

corporate development and board reporting and

corporate banking

IntraLinks Exchanges

IntraLinks Exchanges are our primary solution for collaboration within and among organizations They

integrate the capabilities of content management collaboration and social networking software into cohesive

work environment that is accessible from the Internet IntraLinks Exchanges can be configured for variety of

uses including the facilitation and management of number of transactions and matters such as loan

syndications mergers and acquisitions clinical trials support investor reporting and capital management



Users access and work in IntraLinks Exchanges primarily through simple intuitive and easy to use

browser interface Content within an IntraLinks Exchange can be accessed through our customers existing

operating systems with an Internet connection Users can also easily access the system with advanced mobile

devices such as iPads iPhones and BlackBerry products In addition we make available advanced on-premise

tools such as IntraLinks Designer for administrators and other users to simplify the uploading organization

and management of content For example IntraLinks Designer facilitates activities such as adding files and

folders in bulk dynamically indexing information and setting permissions for multiple users and user groups

Inherent in each IntraLinks Exchange is the abslity to manage content This includes not only standard

document management capabilities such as the ability to monitor document use to maintain version control

but also more sophisticated permissioning capabilities such as document locking and protection that can

watermark content and control users ability to view print forward and save content stored on the

IntraLinks Exchange Document locking and protection can be configured for users and groups on bulk or

per document basis

To protect and secure the IntraLinks Exchange environment and its content disaster recovery services

virus scanning and protection and automated backups are included as an ongoing component of our service

offering We also provide comprehensive Archiving Service that includes complete electronic copy of all

documents access history historical permissions and electronic communications sent through an IntraLinks

Exchange Detailed and auditable records demonstrate disclosure should legal or other compliance challenges

arise and satisfy additional company and regulatory record-keeping requirements

IntraLinks Courier

IntraLinks Courier is an enterprise-class managed file transfer service that allows individuals and
groups

to support ad-hoc inter-enterprise collaboration allowing the exchange of content through the firewall in

controlled secure and auditable manner It is designed to enable the secure exchange of critical information

among individuals and groups on more one-pif ad hoc basis than an IntraLinks Exchange which is

designed for more sustained content sharing and collaboration

IntraLinks Courier integrates the advanced capabilities of the IntraLinks Platform including tracking and

reporting access history for compliance support document-level restrictions for printing forwarding and

saving and watermark security Because the content is stored on the IntraLinks Platform users can restrict file

access to intended recipients and revoke access privileges even after packages are sent Users access the

IntraLinks Courier service through simple web interface desktop application or an email plug in

IntraLinks Courier eliminates the file size limitations and inherent risk of email and file transfer protocol or

FTP servers and the time and cost associated with overnight mail and physical couriers

IntraLinks Technology and Integration Services

The IntraLinks Platform provides technology environment for building business applications and

integrating with existing enterprise software applications Through our technology integrators and third party

developers have the ability to create and deploy new business applications customized to specific customer

requirements Additionally they can connect and integrate IntraLinks Exchanges with existing content

management systems and collaboration services as well as manage workfiow and information exchange

between systems Key elements include

IntraLinks Application Programming Interfaces or APIs IntraLinks APIs include broad set of

functionality and comprehensive API map to manage and control content users sessions and

system administration They are developed on the representational state transfer or REST
architecture making them web services ready and are used extensively by our internal development

teams to create all IntraLinks applications

IntraLinks Adapters IntraLinks Adapters are .NET applications that enable communications

between IntraLinks and external systems IntraLinks Adapters include pre-packaged functionality

such as contact management file management and basic system configuration



IntraLinks Connectors IntraLinks Connectors are software hooks designed to connect and integrate

IntraLinks with the APIs of specific external systems like Microsoft SharePoint Our connectors are

out-of-the-box offerings for external integration and include packaged services for file transfer

permissioning reporting and workflow

IntraLinks Customer Service

Our customer facing teams provide range
of implementation and end-user support services to ensure

that our customers remain productive through the duration of their use of our services

Implementation Services

Requirements consultation and solution development We engage with customers to understand

their unique business processes and analyze and identify their service requirements to assist with the

optimal configuration of the IntraLinks Exchange environment

Project management We develop an action and training plan to accelerate the integration and

rollout of the IntraLinks Solution within the customers organization

Training We provide administrator and end-user training including end-user certifications to meet

specific industry requirements in areas such as life sciences

Document scanning and upload We provide services as required to organize and scan customer

documents and to automate the data upload process

Our online solutions are critical to enable time-sensitive transactions and communications We therefore

aim to provide excellent customer service to enable our customers to complete their business processes and

objectives in timely and cost-effective manner Our customer service team provides live support 24 hours

per day days per week and 365 days per year for all users regardless of whether they are direct customers

or invited users to an IntraLinks Exchange Customer service and support is regular component of our value

proposition This support model is significant differentiator from alternative applications that restrict

information to within the firewall Because many of the organizations and business processes supported by our

online IntraLinks Exchanges are global and involve international communication and collaboration we support

customer inquiries in over 140 languages

Our Technology

We have built highly secure and scalable cloud-based multi-tenant platform upon which we develop

solutions that allow our customers to collaborate and manage and exchange critical information across

organizational and geographic boundaries Our third-generation IntraLinks Platform is optimized to service all

of our customers from single central software instance Unlike enterprise software vendors we do not need

to custom-build software to deploy our technology into different environments or to address industry-specific

needs Consequently we do not need to manage and support multiple versions of our software and we do not

need to expend effort to customize support for different hardware operating systems or databases Our

platform combines our proprietary code with integrated components from third-party vendors

The IntraLinks Platform can be accessed universally from simple web browser yet has rich customer

interface powered by Adobe Flex that supports familiar desktop tools These include drag-and-drop

capabilities right-click menus and dynamic easy-to-use reporting features making it easy to get started

quickly and effortlessly We also utilize Microsoft .NET technologies for desktop integration and

MOSS integration toolkits and make extensive use of Web 2.0 technologies such as AJAX and Flash for

improved usability and performance and to deliver rich and highly interactive experience Our technology

platform includes an integrated full text search capability that performs real time data categorization and

tagging of content along with dynamic facet generation to help users quickly navigate search results In

addition we utilize Akamais Web Application Accelerator and IP Application Accelerator services to enable

consistently high performance for users around the world We also employ virtualization and load balancing

technologies to enable seamless scalability of our infrastructure across all computing tiers



We have built highly sophisticated authentication authorization and encryption service designed to

ensure that the content stored in our system is accessible only by authorized users We employ wide range

of technical security features including two factor authentication using RSA Adaptive Authentication and data

encryption with encoded session identifications and passwords Every file we transmit from an exchange is

encrypted to the end user via Secure Socket Layer or SSL transaction We also use encryption technology

in our storage systems and backup tapes Our platform also incorporates sophisticated information rights

management and permissioning controls that enable our customers to control the role and access of

participants to information within an exchange Our platform provides audit trails for compliance and access

history tracking throughout the entire lifecycle of the content of each exchange

To demonstrate that we have established effective operational control objectives and activities we

undergo annual audits conducted by an outside service auditor in accordance with the American Institute of

Certified Public Accountants audit guide titled Reports on Controls at Service Organization over Security

Availability Processing Integrity Confidentiality or Privacy The successful completion of these audits and

the issuance of the outside service auditors report provides independent validation that our control activities

and
processes are effective and can be relied upon by our customers

The IntraLinks Platform is hosted in three secure data centers provided by SunGard Availability Services

LP that are run in primary and secondary mode with redundancy and failover capability Physical security at

these facilities includes continually staffed security station along with biometric and man trap access

controls Systems are protected by firewalls and encryption technology Each data center features redundant

power on-site backup generators and environmental controls and monitoring As part of our disaster recovery

arrangements all customer data is replicated to all sites in near real-time Our hosting providers conduct

regular security audits of our infrastructure and we also employ outside vendors for managed network security

and monitoring 24 hours per day days per week and 365 days per year The performance of our application

suite is continually monitored using variety of automated tools and customer data is regularly backed up

and stored on-site and off-site in secure locations to minimize the risk of data loss at any facility

Sales and Marketing

We have developed strong sales and marketing capability aimed at accelerating the adoption of our

solutions by expanding the penetration of existing industries capitalizing on new opportunities in

underpenetrated or emerging industries and by continually increasing our geographic coverage

Sales

We sell our solutions through an internal sales force referral network and select group of

channel partners As of December 31 2011 our direct sales product marketing and sales support staff

consisted of 232 full-time employees Our sales representatives have extensive experience selling

technology solutions into wide variety of industries including financial services insurance energy and

utilities and life sciences

In addition to our direct sales force we have established relationships with channel partners that promote

sell and support our services in specific geographies Our channel partners include among others systems

integrators resellers financial printers services partners and consultants that resell our services directly or

through referral business Our key channel partners are located in variety of countries including India Japan

Brazil and South Africa

Marketing

Marketing supports our sales efforts through thought leadership and brand awareness activities lead

generation programs and the unique positioning of our offerings On March 2012 we launched new

thought leadership platform called the Extended Enterprise which addresses enterprises growing need to

securely collaborate with customers and business partners without discarding the protection provided by their

own firewalls In conjunction with this thought leadership launch we have rebranded our solutions into two

distinctive offerings called IntraLinks Connect and IntraLinks Dealspace



IntraLinks Dealspace is an offering that includes our traditional solutions for securely facilitating mergers

and acquisitions syndicated loan transactions and other time limited transactions IntraLinks Connect is an

enterprise-grade offering that enables employees across all departments of an enterprise to share content and

collaborate beyond the firewall in way that ensures adherence to management-level control security

auditability and compliance requirements

In connection with the launch of the IntraLinks Connect and IniraLinks Dealspace offerings we have

engaged in new marketing initiatives These initiatives have included the launch of our new website with new

images and messaging around the concept
of the Extended Enterprise Additionally the use of print and online

advertising campaigns and the utilization of enhanced search engine marketing and search engine optimization

are enabling us to seek new business opportunities within the Enterprise markets We continue to maintain our

traditional marketing initiatives including the use of our website and blog to provide information about our

company and solutions Additionally we pursue the cooperative marketing efforts with our channel partners

and participate and sponsor user conferences trade shows and industry events Other traditional marketing

initiatives have included advertisements in newspapers trade magazines management journals and other

business related periodicals and the placement of customer success stories and other relevant content in

appropriate print and online media Our success in selling our solutions to customers across more than

30 different industries provides us with significant number of reference accounts enhancing our ability to

market and sell to new customers

Research and Development

Under our SaaS model we maintain and support only one version of our software Our use of

common multi-tenant application architecture enables us to provide all of our customers with solution based

on single instance of our application In addition we are able to simultaneously upgrade all of our

customers with each new software release This enables us to focus our research and development

expenditures on developing new features and functionality rather than implementation Our development

process follows our own iterative methodology that includes elements of the Agile and Waterfall

methodologies with multiple quality control cycles to ensure high quality and an on-going update capability

As of December 31 2011 our research and development group consisted of 125 employees based in

New York Boston and various other locations Our total product development cost which includes product

development expenses and capitalized software was approximately $24.5 million in 2009 $34.1 million in

2010 and $37.3 million in 2011

Competition

The market for our solutions is highly competitive fragmented and dynamic We compete with

multitude of service providers including both virtual data room providers and enterprise software providers

We expect to encounter increased competition both domestically and internationally from established

software companies as well as newer entrants to the market for online content-sharing services

We believe that the principal competitive factors in our market primarily include the ability to collaborate

inside and outside firewalls while maintaining security control auditability and compliance standards

Additionally our industry-specific expertise global customer support scalability and reliability to ensure

uninterrupted performance as well as price and functionality have allowed us to maintain the reputation of

trust with our customers

We believe we compete effectively based on our capabilities across all of these factors In particular our

solutions are specifically designed for inter-enterprise collaboration that allows content and information

sharing through the firewall We provide technology platform that offers enterprise class scalability and

reliability while enabling secure auditable and compliant information exchange via SariS delivery model

that lowers total cost of ownership



Intellectual Property

We rely on combination of patent trademark copyright and tra4e secret laws in the United States and

other jurisdictions as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect our proprietary

technology and our brand

We have registered our IntraLinks trademark with theU.S Patent and Trademark Office and in several

jurisdictions outside the United States We have registered other trademarks in the U.S

We hold seven issued United States patents patent numbers 6898636 7143175 6678698 7233992

7168094 7587504 and 7814537 These patents which are scheduled to expire on various dates

commencing on February 2019 cover among other things certain processes and systems for using

computer to upload documents to server permission any number of recipients to view or download

documents and send an automated alert and link to those recipients Our patents contemplate broad

applications of these processes including in the context of combination of such processes with single-sign-on

technology use of the process with handheld devices combination of the process with data encryption and

customized user interfaces for private labeling use of the processes for managing time-sensitive projects and

tasks and automatic updating of exchange contents at regular time intervals We have additional patents

pending with the U.S Patent and Trademark Office including one that relates to certain aspects of the

technology we developed to allow customers to filter access to documents based on users self-declared

attributes In one application of this technology investors in syndicated loans use it to facilitate compliance by

shielding certain of their personnel from access to material non-public information about corporate borrowers

We will continue to assess appropriate occasions for seeking patent and other intellectual property protections

for those aspects of our technology and service that we believe constitute innovations providing significant

competitive advantages

Employees

As of December 31 2011 we employed 601 full-time employees including 125 in research and

development 232 in sales and marketing 114 in general and administrative and 130 in operations and

support

Facffities

Our principal executive office located at 150 East 42nd Street New York New York occupies

approximately 66832 square
feet This space is comprised of 43304 square feet that are subject to lease

agreement that expires in July 2021 and 23528 square feet that are subject to sublease agreement that

expires in December 2013 In addition our research and development facilities in Charlestown Massachusetts

occupy 36557 square feet under lease that expires in December 2015

We also occupy space in London Chicago Sªo Paolo Hong Kong Frankfurt Sydney Melbourne Paris

and San Francisco for our sales services and certain corporate activities We believe that our facilities are

adequate for our current needs However we may obtain additional space as our business grows

Available Information

We maintain an internet website under the name wwwintralinks.com We make available free of charge

on our website our annual report on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current reports on

Form 8-K proxy statements other information and amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably

practicable after providing such reports to the SEC We also make available on our website the charters for

the committees of our Board of Directors including the Audit Committee Compensation Committee and

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and ii our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

governing our directors officers and employees We intend to disclose on our website any amendments to or

waivers from our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that are required to be disclosed pursuant to the rules

of the SEC Information contained on or connected to our website is not incorporated by reference into this

Form 10-K and should not be considered part of this report or any other filing that we make with the SEC



We file annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current reports on Form 8-K

proxy statements and other documents with the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act as amended The

public may read and copy any materials that we file with the SEC at the SECs Public Reference Room at

100 Street N.E Washington DC 20549 The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public

Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 Also the SEC maintains an internet website that

contains reports proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers including

IntraLinks Holdings Inc that file electronically with the SEC The public can obtain any document we file

with the SEC at wwwsec.gov



ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

The following risks and uncertainties together with all other information in this Annual Report including

our consolidated financial statements and related notes should be considered carefully Any of the risk factors

we describe below could adversely affect our business financial condition or results of operations and could

cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate or decline

Risks Related to Our Business and Our Industry

Our future profitability is uncertain

We have historically incurred significant net operating losses As result of these operating losses we

accumulated deficit of $80.1 million from June 15 2007 the date on which through series of transactions

all of the outstanding equity of IntraLinks Inc was acquired by newly formed entity TA Indigo Holding

Corporation which was owned by TA Associates Inc Rho Capital Partners Inc principal stockholder in

IntraLinks Inc since 2001 and other stockholders including former and current officers and employees of

IntraLinks Inc the Mergerthrough December 31 2011 Our future profitability depends on among other

things our ability to generate revenue in excess of our expenses However since our initial public offering in

August 2010 we have incurred and will continue to incur as public company significant additional legal

accounting and other expenses to which we were not subject as private company including expenses related

to our efforts in complying with the requirements of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and other public company

disclosure and corporate governance requirements responding to requests of government regulators and

defending the class action and stockholder derivative lawsuits filed against us At the same time we have

significant and continuing fixed costs relating to the maintenance of our assets and business including our

substantial debt service requirements which we may not be able to reduce adequately to sustain our

profitability if our revenue decreases Our profitability also may be impacted by non-cash charges such as

stock-based compensation charges and potential impairment of goodwill which will negatively affect our

reported financial results Even if we achieve our profitability on an annual basis we may not be able to

achieve profitability on quarterly basis You should not consider prior revenue growth as indicative of our

future performance In fact in future quarters we may not have any revenue growth and our revenue could

decline We may continue to incur significant losses in the future for number of reasons including the other

risks described in this Form 10-K and we may encounter unforeseen expenses difficulties complications

delays and other unknown events Our failure to achieve and maintain our profitability could negatively

impact the market price of our common stock

We may be unable to sustain positive cash flow

Our ability to continue to generate positive cash flow depends on our ability to generate collections from

sales in excess of our cash expenditures Our collections from sales can be negatively affected by many

factors including but not limited to

our inability to convince new customers to use our services or existing customers to renew their

contracts or use additional services

the lengthening of our sales cycle

changes in our customer mix

decision by any of our existing customers to cease or reduce using our services

failure of customers to pay our invoices on timely basis or at all

failure in the performance of our solutions or our internal controls that adversely affects our

reputation or results in loss of business

the loss of market share to existing or new competitors



regional or global economic conditions affecting the perceived need or value of our services and

our inability to develop new products or expand our offering on timely basis and thus potentially

not meeting evolving market needs

We anticipate that we will incur increased sales and marketing and general and administrative expenses

as we continue to diversify our business into new industries and geographic markets Our business will also

require significant amounts of working capital to support our growth In addition we face significant

expenditures in connection with our public company disclosure Sarbanes-Oxley and other corporate

governance requirements pending class action and stockholder derivative lawsuits and SEC investigation

involving us We may not achieve sufficient collections from sales to offset these anticipated expenditures to

maintain positive future cash flow In addition we may encounter unforeseen expenses difficulties

complications delays and other unknown events that cause our costs to exceed our expectations An inability

to generate positive cash flow may decrease our long-term viability

Our operating results are likely to fluctuate from quarter to quarter which may have an impact on our

stock price

Our operating results have varied significantly from quarter to quarter and may vary significantly from

quarter to quarter in the future As result we may not be able to accurately forecast our revenues or

operating results Our operating results may fall below market analysts expectations in some future quarters

which could lead to downturns in the market price of our common stock Quarterly fluctuations tuay result

from factors such as

changes in the markets that we serve

changes in demand for our services

rate of penetration within our existing customer base

loss of customers or business from one or more customers including from consolidations and

acquisitions of customers

increased competition

changes in the mix of customer types

changes in our standard service contracts that may affect when we recognize revenue

loss of key personnel

interruption in our service resulting in loss of revenue

changes in our pricing policies or the pricing policies of our competitors

write-offs affecting any of our material assets

changes in our operating expenses

customer credits issued in excess of established reserves

software bugs or other service quality problems

concerns relating to the security of our systems and

general economic conditions

We believe that our quarterly operating results may vary significantly in the future that period-to-period

comparisons of results of operations may not necessarily be meaningful and as result such comparisons

should not be relied upon as indications of future performance



We have substantial amount of debt that exposes us to risks that could adversely affect our business

operating results and financial condition

We had total indebtedness of $91.6 million outstanding as of December 31 2011 pursuant to our First

Lien Credit Agreement entered into on June 15 2007 as amended the First Lien Credit Facility which is

secured by liens on substantially all of oUr assets The level and nature of our indebtedness could among

other things

make it difficult for us to obtain any necessary financing in the future

limit our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our business

reduce funds available for use in our operations and corporate development initiatives

impair our ability to incur additional debt because of financial and other restrictive covenants or the

liens on our assets which secure our current debt

hinder our ability to raise equity capital because in the event of liquidation of our business debt

holders receive priority before equity holders

make us more vulnerable in the event of downturn in our business and

place us at possible competitive disadvantage relative to less leveraged competitors and

competitors that have better access to capital resources

In addition we may incur significantly more debt in the future which will ncrease each of the

risks described above related to our indebtedness As of December 31 2011 we had $12.9 million available

to us for additional borrowing under $15.0 million revolving credit facility If we increase our indebtedness

by borrowing under our credit facility or incur other new indebtedness each of the risks described above

would increase

Failure to maintain the security and integrity of our systems could seriously damage our reputation and

affect our ability to retain customers and attract new business

Maintaining the security and integrity of our systems is an issue of critical importance for our customers

and users because they use our systems to store and exchange large volumes of proprietary and confidential

information Individuals and groups may develop and deploy viruses worms and other malicious software

programs that attack or attempt to infiltrate our systems We may not be able to detect and prevent such

events from occurring Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage systems change

frequently and generally are not recognized until launched against target we may be unable to anticipate

these techniques or to implement adequate preventive measures If an actual or perceived breach of our

security occurs the market perception of the effectiveness of our security measures could be harmed and we

could lose sales and customers

In addition we rely upon our customers and users of our solutions to perform important activities

relating to the security of the data maintained on our IntraLinks Platform such as assignment of user access

rights and administration of document access controls Because we do not control the access provided by our

customers to third-parties with respect to the data on our systems we cannot ensure the complete integrity or

security of such data in our systems Errors or wrongdoing by users resulting in security breaches may be

attributed to us Because many of our engagements involve business-critical projects for financial institutions

and their customers and for other types of customers where confidentiality is of paramount importance

failure or inability to meet customers expectations with respect to security and confidentiality could seriously

damage our reputation and affect our ability to retain customers and attract new business

The security and integrity of our systems also may be jeopardized by breach of our internal controls

and policies by our employees consultants or subcontractors having access to such systems If our systems

fail or are breached as result of third-party attack or an error violation of internal controls or policies or

breach of contract by an employee consultant or subcontractor causing the unauthorized disclosure of

proprietary or confidential information or customer data we may lose business suffer irreparable damage to

our reputation and incur significant costs and expenses relating to the investigation and possible litigation of

claims relating to such event We may be liable in such event for damages penalties for violation of
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applicable laws or regulations and costs for remediation and efforts to prevent future occurrences any of

which liabilities could be significant There can be no assurance that the limitations of liability in our

contracts would be enforceable or adequate or would otherwise protect us from any such liabilities or damages

with respect to any particular claim We also cannot assure you that our existing general liability insurance

coverage and coverage for errors and omissions will continue to be available on acceptable terms or will be

available in sufficient amounts to cover one or more large claims or that the insurer will not deny coverage as

to any future claim The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceeds available

insurance coverage or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies including premium increases or the

imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements could have material adverse effect on

our business financial condition and results of operations Furthermore litigation regardless of its outcome

could result in substantial cost to us and divert managements attention from our operations Any significant

claim or litigation against us could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition and

results of operations

Our business depends substantially on customers renewing and expanding their subscriptions for our

services Any decline in our customer renewals and expansions would harm our future operating results

We enter into subscription agreements with certain of our customers that are generally one year in length

As result maintaining the renewal rate of our subscription agreements is critical to our future success

Contracts with annual commitment terms typically contain an automatic renewal clause however optional

notification of non-renewal is typically permitted to be given by customers within 30 90 days prior to the

end of the contract term Repeat customers who do not have automatic renewal terms typically negotiate

renewal terms at each annual tennination date Our customers have no obligation to renew their subscriptions

for our services after the expiration of the initial term of their agreements and some customers have elected

not to do so We cannot assure you that any of our customer agreements will be renewed The loss of any

customers that individually or collectively account for significant amount of our revenues would have

material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition

Our renewal rates may decline due to variety of factors including

the price performance and functionality of our solutions

the availability price performance and functionality of competing products and services

our ability to demonstrate to new customers the value of our solutions within the initial term

the relative ease and low cost of moving to competing product or service

consolidation in our customer base

the effects of economic downturns including the current global economic recession and global

economic conditions

reductions in our customers spending levels or

if any of our customers cease using or anticipate declining requirements for our services in

their operations

If our renewal rates are lower than anticipated or decline for any reason or if customers renew on terms

less favorable to us our revenue may decrease and our profitability and gross margin may be harmed which

would have material adverse effect on our business results of operations and financial cgndition

signficant part of our business is derived from the use of our solutions in connection with financial and

strategic business transactions If the volume of such transactions does not increase demand for our

services may not grow and could decline

significant portion of our revenue depends on the purchase of our services by parties involved in

financial and strategic business transactions such as mergers and acquisitions loan syndications and other debt

capital markets transactions During the fiscal years ended December 31 2009 2010 and 2011 revenues

generated from the mergers and acquisitions MA and debt capital markets DCM principal markets

constituted approximately 61% 55% and 55% respectively of our total revenues If the volume of such
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transactions does not increase demand for our services may not grow and could decline The credit crisis

deterioration of global economies rising unemployment and reduced equity valuations all create risks that

could harm our business If macroeconomic conditions worsen we are not able to predict the impact of such

worsening conditions on our results of operations The level of activity in the financial services industry

including the financial transactions our services are used to support is sensitive to many factors beyond our

control including interest rates regulatory policies general economic conditions our customers competitive

environments business trends terrorism and political change Unfavorable conditions or changes in any of

these factors could adversely affect our business operating results and financial condition

We face shareholder lawsuits and other potential liabilities that could materially adversely impact our

business financial condition and results of operations

We have been are currently and may in the future be the subject of various lawsuits proceedings and

investigations In December 2011 we and certain of our current and former officers and directors were named

as defendants in class action and stockholder derivative lawsuits In addition in August 2011 we received

subpoena from the SEC requesting certain documents related to our business from January 2011 through

August 2011 See Item 3-Legal Proceedings for more information about these matters Given the stage of

these lawsuits and the nature of the SEC investigation we are unable to assess or quantify with any certainty

their outcome timing or potential costs We may be required to pay substantial amounts divert managements

attention from the operation of our business or change our business practices in defending and ultimately

resolving these matters any of which could materially adversely affect our business financial condition

results of operations liquidity and consequently the trading price of our common stock

The outcome and amount of resources needed to defend or resolve lawsuits or regulatory actions and

respond to regulatory requests is unpredictable and may remain unknown for long periods of time The SEC

may choose to expand the scope of its investigation or initiate an enforcement action to bring charges against

us In addition the plaintiffs and SEC if an enforcement action is initiated may seek recovery of very large

damage awards substantial fines or significant restrictions on our business Our exposure under these matters

will also include our indemnification obligations to the extent we have any to current and former officers and

directors against losses incurred in connection these matters including reimbursement of legal fees Although

we maintain insurance for claims of this nature our insurance coverage does not apply in all such

circumstances and may be denied or insufficient to cover the costs related to the class action and stockholder

derivative lawsuits and SEC investigation In addition these matters or future lawsuits or investigations

involving us may increase our insurance premiums deductibles or co-insurance requirements or otherwise

make it more difficult for us to maintain or obtain adequate insurance coverage on acceptable terms if at all

Moreover adverse publicity associated with regulatory actions and investigations and negative developments

in pending legal proceedings could decrease customer demand for our services As result the pending

lawsuits and SEC investigation and any future lawsuits or investigations involving us or our officers or

directors could have material adverse effect on our business reputation financial condition results of

operations liquidity and the trading price of our common stock In addition to the extent that we have

recorded accruals for probable loss contingencies such accruals may not be sufficient to cover our ultimate

financial exposure associated with any settlements or judgments

Changes in laws regulations or governmental policy applicable to our customers or potential customers

may decrease the demand for our solutions

The level of our customers and potential customers activity in the business processes our services are

used to support is sensitive to many factors beyond our control including governmental regulation and

regulatory policies Many of our customers and potential customers in the life sciences energy utilities

insurance financial and other industries are subject to substantial regulation and may be the subject of further

regulation in the future Accordingly significant new laws or regulations or changes in or repeals of existing

laws regulations or governmental policy may change the way these customers do business and could cause

the demand for and sales of our solutions to decrease For example many products developed by our

customers in the life sciences industry require approval of the U.S Food and Drug Administration or FDA
and other similar foreign regulatory agencies before they can market their products The processes for filing

and obtaining FDA approval to market these products are guided by specific protocols that our services help
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support such as U.s 21 CFR Part 11 which provides the criteria for acceptance by the FDA of electronic

records If new government regulations from future legislation or administrative action or from changes in

FDA or foreign regulatory policies occur in the future the services we currently provide may no longer

support these life science processes and protocols and we may lose customers in the life sciences industry

Any change in the scope of applicable regulations that decreases the volume of transactions that our customers

or potential customers enter into or otherwise negatively impact their use of our solutions would have

material adverse effect on our revenues or gross margins Moreover complying with increased or changed

regulations could cause our operating expenses to increase We may have to reconfigure our existing services

or develop new services to adapt to new regulatory rules and policies which will require additional expense

and time Such changes could adversely affect our business results of operations and financial condition

If we are unable to increase our penetration in our existing principal markets and expand into additional

markets we will be unable to grow our business and increase revenue

We currently market our solutions for wide range of business processes These include clinical trial

management safety information exchange and drug development and licensing for the life sciences industry

private equity fundraising and investor reporting energy exploration and production ventures for the oil and

gas industry loan syndication and other debt capital markets transactions due diligence for mergers and

acquisitions public offerings and other strategic transactions contract and vendor management and board

reporting We intend to continue to focus our sales and marketing efforts in these markets to grow our

business In addition we believe our future growth depends not only on increasing our penetration into the

principal markets in which our services are currently used but also identifying and expanding the number of

industries communities and markets that use or could use our services Efforts to expand our service offerings

beyond the markets that we currently serve however may divert management resources from existing

operations and require us to commit significant financial resources to an unproven business either of which

could significantly impair our operating results Moreover efforts to expand beyond our existing markets may
never result in new services that achieve market acceptance create additional revenue or become profitable

Our inability to further penetrate our existing markets or our inability to identify additional markets and

achieve acceptance of our services in these additional markets could adverscly affect our business results of

operations and financial condition

If we are unable to maintain or expand our direct sales capabilities we may not be able to generate

anticipated revenues

We rely primarily on our direct sales force to sell our services Our services and solutions require

sophisticated sales effort targeted at the senior management of our prospective customers We must expand our

sales efforts to generate increased revenue from new customers Failure to hire or retain qualified sales

personnel will preclude us from expanding our business and generating anticipated revenue Competition for

such personnel is intense and there can be no assurance that we will be able to retain our existing sales

personnel or attract assimilate or retain enough highly qualified sales personnel Many of the companies with

which we compete for experienced personnel have greater resources than we have If any of our sales

representatives or sales management personnel were to leave us and join one of our competitors we may be

unable to prevent such sales representatives from helping competitors to solicit business from our existing

customers which could adversely affect our revenue In addition in making employment decisions

particularly in the software industry job candidates often consider the value of the stock options they are to

receive in connection with their employment We have experienced and may continue to experience

substantial decline in the trading price of our stock Accordingly if the price of our stock is subject to

lengthy period of continued decline or significant volatility our ability to attract or retain key employees could

be materially impaired In the past our sales force has experienced high turnover rates New hires

require training and take time to achieve full productivity If we experience high turnover in our sales force in

the future we cannot be certain that new hires will become as productive as necessary to maintain or increase

our revenue

Our performance depends on customer referrals fromfinancial institutions and other users of our services

We depend on end-users of our solutions to generate customer referrals for our services We depend in

part on the financial institutions legal providers and other third parties who use our services to recommend
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them to larger customer base than we can reach through our direct sales and internal marketing efforts For

instance significant portion of our revenues from the mergers and acquisitions sector business is derived

from referrals by investment banks financial advisors and law firms that have relied on our services in

connection with merger and acquisition transactions These referrals are an important source of new customers

for our services and generally are made without expectation of compensation We intend to continue to focus

our marketing efforts on these referral partners in order to expand our reach and improve the efficiency of our

sales efforts The willingness of these users to provide referrals depends on number of factors including the

performance ease of use reliability reputation and cost-effectiveness of our services as compared to those

offered by our competitors We may not be able to maintain strong relationships with these financial

institutions or professional advisors The loss of any of our significant referral sources or decline in the

number of referrals could require us to devote substantially more resources to the sales and marketing of our

services which would increase our costs and could lead to decline in our revenue slow our growth and

have material adverse effect on our business results of operations and financial condition In addition the

revenue we generate from our referral relationships may vary from period to period

We may lose sales opportunities if we do not successfully develop and maintain strategic relationships to

sell and deliver our solutions

In addition to generating customer referrals through third-party users of our solutions we intend to

pursue
additional relationships with other third parties such as technology and content providers and

implementation partners Identifying partners and negotiating and documenting relationships with them require

significant time and resources as does integrating third-party content and technology Some of these third

parties have entered and may continue to enter into strategic relationships with our competitors Further these

third parties may have multiple strategic relationships and may not regard us as significant for their

businesses They may terminate their respective relatiotiships with us pursue other partnerships or

relationships or attempt to develop or acquire services or solutions that compete with ours Our strategic

partners also may interfere with our ability to enter into other desirable strategic relationships If we are

unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our relationships with these third parties on favorable economic

terms our ability to compete in the marketplace or to grow our revenue could be impaired and our business

results of operations and financial condition would suffer Even if we are successful we cannot assure you

that these relationships will result in increased revenue or customer usage of our solutions or that the

economic terms of these relationships will not adversely affect our margins

The nature of our transactional con tracts such as those for merger and acquisition transactions require

frequent new contracts with customers

Many of our contracts with customers are entered into in connection with discrete one-time financial and

strategic business transactions and projects such as merger and acquisition transactions During the fiscal years

ended December 31 2009 2010 and 2011 revenues generated from transactional contracts constituted

approximately 53% 43% and 46% respectively of our total revenues These transactional agreements

typically have initial terms of six to twelve months depending on the purpose of the exchange Accordingly

our business depends on our ability to replace these transactional agreements as they expire Our inability to

enter into new contracts with existing customers or find new customers to replace these contracts could have

material adverse effect on our business results of operations and financial condition

Consolidation in the commercial and investment banking industries and other industries we serve could

adversely impact our business by eliminating number of our existing and potential customers

There has been and continues to be merger acquisition and consolidation activity among our customers

Mergers or consolidations of banks and financial institutions in particular have reduced and may continue to

reduce the number of our customers and potential customers for our solutions smaller market for our

services could have material adverse impact on our business and results of operations In addition it is

possible that the larger institutions which result from mergers or consolidations could perform themselves

some or all of the services that we currently provide or could provide merger of two of our existing

customers may also result in the merged entity deciding not to use our service or to purchase fewer of our

services than the companies did separately or may result in the merged entity seeking pricing advantages or
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discounts using the leverage of its increased size If that were to occur it could adversely impact our revenue

which in turn would adversely affect our business results operations and financial condition

If we do not maintain the compatibility of our services with third-party applications that our customers use

in their business processes demand for our services could decline

Our solutions can be used alongside wide range of other systems such as email and enterprise software

systems used by our customers in their businesses If we do not support the continued integration of our

services with third-party applications including through the provision of application programming interfaces

that enable data to be transferred readily between our services and third-party applications demand for our

services could decline and we could lose sales We will also be required to make our services compatible with

new or additional third-party applications that are introduced to the markets that we serve We may not be

successful in making our services compatible with these third-party applications which could reduce demand

for our services In addition prospective customers especially large enterprise customers may require heavily

customized features and functions unique to their business processes If prospective customers require

customized features or functions that we do not offer and that would be difficult for them to develop and

integrate within our services then the market for our services will be adversely affected

We operate in highly competitive markets which could make it more difficult for us to acquire and

retain customers

The market for online collaborative content workspaces is intensely competitive and rapidly changing

with relatively low barriers to entry We expect competition to increase from existing competitors as well as

new and emerging market entrants We compete primarily on product functionality service levels security and

compliance characteristics price and reputation Our competitors include companies that provide online

products that serve as document repositories or virtual data rooms together with other products or services

which may result in such companies effectively selling these services at lower prices and creating downward

pricing pressure for us Some of our competitors may have significantly greater financial resources They may
be able to devote greater resources to the development and improvement of their services than we can and as

result may be able to more quickly implement technological changes and respond to customers changing

needs In addition if our competitors consolidate or our smaller competitors are acquired by other larger

competitors they may be able to provide services comparable to ours at lower price due to their size Our

competitors may also develop services or products that are superior to ours and their products or services

may gain greater market acceptance than our services Furthennore our customers or their advisors including

investment banks and law firms may acquire or develop their own technologies such as client extranets that

could decrease the need for our services The arrival of new market entrants or the use of these internal

technologies could reduce the demand for our services or cause us to reduce our pricing resulting in loss of

revenue and adversely affecting our business results of operations and financial condition

The average saks price of our solutions may decrease which may reduce our profitability

The average sales price for our solutions may decline for variety of reasons including competitive

pricing pressures discounts we offer change in the mix of our solutions anticipation of the introduction of

new solutions or promotional programs Competition continues to increase in the market for online

collaborative content workspaces and we expect competition to further increase in the future thereby leading

to increased pricing pressures We cannot assure you that we will be successful maintaining our prices at

levels that will allow us to maintain profitability Failure to maintain our prices could have an adyerse effect

on our business results of operations and financial condition

If we fail to adapt our services to changes in technology or the marketplace we could lose existing

customers and be unabk to attract new business

Our customers and users regularly adopt new technologies and industry standards continue to evolve The

introduction of products or services and the emergence of new industry standards can render our existing

services obsolete and unmarketable in short periods of time We expect others to continue to develop and

introduce new products and services and enhancements to existing products and services which will compete

with our services Our future success will depend in part on our ability to enhance our current services and
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to develop and introduce new services that keep pace with technological developments emerging industry

standards and the needs of our customers We cannot assure you that we will be successful in cost effectively

developing marketing and selling new services or service enhancements that meet these changing demands

that we will not experience difficulties that could delay or prevent the successful development introduction

and marketing of these services or that our new service and service enhancements will adequately meet the

demands of the marketplace and achieve market acceptance

Our customers may adopt technologies that decrease the demand for our services which could reduce our

revenue and adversely affect our business

We target large institutions such as commercial banks investment banks and life sciences companies for

many of our services and we depend on their continued need for our services However over time our

customers or their advisors such as law firms may acquire adopt or develop their own technologies such as

client extranets that decrease the need for our solutions The use of such internal technologies could reduce

the demand for our services result in pricing prnssures or cause reduction in our revenue If we fail to

manage these challenges adequately our business results of operations and financial condition could be

adversely affected

Government regulation of the Internet and e-commerce and of the international exchange of certain

information is subject to possible unfavorable changes and our failure to comply with applicable

regulations could harm our business and operating results

As Internet commerce continues to evolve increasing regulation by federal state or foreign governments

becomes more likely For example we believe increased regulation is likely in the area of data privacy arid

laws and regulations applying to the solicitation collection processing or use of personal or consumer

information could affect our customers ability to use and share data potentially reducing demand for our

products and services In addition taxation of products and services provided over the Internet or other

charges imposed by government agencies or by private organizations for accessing the Internet may also be

imposed Any regulation imposing greater fees for Internet use or restricting the exchange of information over

the Internet could result in reduced growth or decline in the use of the Internet and could diminish the

viability of our Internet-based services which could harm our business and operating results

Interruptions or delays in our service due to problems with our third-party web hosting facilities or other

third-party service providers could adversely affect our business

We rely on SunGard Availability Services LP for the maintenance of the equipment running our solutions

and software at geographically dispersed hosting facilities Our agreement with SunGard Availability Services

LP expires on December 31 2013 If we are unable to renew extend or replace this contract we may be

unable to timely arrange for replacement services at similar cost which could cause an interruption in our

service We do not control the operation of these SunGard Availability Services LP facilities andeach may be

subject to damage or interruption from earthquakes floods fires power loss telecommunications failures or

similar events These facilities may also be subject to break-ins sabotage intentional acts of vandalism or

similar misconduct Despite precautions taken at these facilities the occurrence of natural disaster cessation

of operations by our third-party web hosting provider or its decision to close facility without adequate notice

or other unanticipated problems at either facility could result in lengthy interruptions in our service In

addition the failure by these facilities to provide our required data communications capacity could result in

interruptions in our service Further our services are highly dependent on our computer and

telecommunications equipment and software systems Disruptions in our service and related software systems

could be the result of errors or acts by our vendors customers users or other third parties or electronic or

physical attacks by persons seeking to disrupt our operations Any damage to or failure or capacity limitations

of our systems and our related network could result in interruptions in our service Interruptions in our

service may cause us to lose revenue cause us to issue credits or refunds cause customers to terminate their

subscriptions and adversely affect our renewal rates Our business and reputation will be adversely affected if

our customers and potential customers believe our service is unreliable
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Our business may not generate sufficient cash flow from operations or future borrowings under our credit

facility or from other sources may not be available to us in amounts sufficient to enable us to repay our

indebtedness or to fund our other liquidity needs including capital expenditure requirements

We cannot guarantee that we will be able to generate or obtain enough capital to service our debt and

fund our planned capital expenditures and business plan We may be more vulnerable to adverse economic

conditions than less leveraged competitors and thus less able to withstand competitive pressures Any of these

events could reduce our ability to generate cash available for investment or debt repayment or to make

improvements or respond to events that would enhance profitability If we are unable to service or repay our

debt when it becomes due our lenders could seek to accelerate payment of all unpaid principal and foreclose

on our assets and we may have to take actions such as selling assets seeking additional equity investments or

reducing or delaying capital expenditures strategic acquisitions investments and alliances Additionally we

may not be able to effect such actions if necessary on commercially reasonable terms or at all Any such

event would have material adverse effect on our business results of operations and financial condition

Our loan agreement contains operating and financial covenants that may restrict our business and

financing activities

We had approximately $91.6 million of debt outstanding under our First Lien Credit Facility as of

December 31 2011 These borrowings are secured by substantially all of our assets including our intellectual

property Our loan agreement restricts among other things our ability to

incur additional indebtedness other than in the normal course of business

create liens

make capital expenditures investments and acquisitions

sell assets

pay dividends or make distributions on and in certain cases repurchase our stock or

consolidate or merge with other entities

In addition our loan agreement has change in control provision that may accelerate the maturity date of

our loan Upon the occurrence of change in control all credit facility commitments shall terminate and all

loans shall become due and payable Furthermore our loan agreement requires us to meet specified minimum

financial measurements The operating and financial restrictions and covenants in our loan agreement as well

as any future financing agreements that we may enter into may restrict our ability to finance our operations

engage in business activities or expand or fully pursue our business strategies Our ability to comply with

these covenants may be affected by events beyond our control and we may not be able to meet those

covenants breach of any of these covenants could result in default under our loan agreement which could

cause all of the outstanding indebtedness under our loan agreement to become immediately due and payable

and terminate all commitments to extend further credit

We might require additional capital to support business growth and this capital might not be available

We intend to continue to make investments to support our business growth and may require additional

funds to respond to business challenges including the need to develop new services or enhance our existing

services enhance our operating infrastructure and acquire complementary businesses and technologies

Accordingly we may need to engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds If we raise

additional funds through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities our existing stockholders

could suffer significant dilution and any new equity securities we issue could have rights preferences and

privileges superior to those of holders of our common stock Any debt financing secured by us in the future

could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and operational

matters which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business

opportunities including potential acquisitions In addition we may not be able to obtain additional financing

on terms favorable to us if at all If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms

satisfactory to us when we require it our ability to continue to support our business growth and to respond to

business challenges could be significantly limited
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Our growth may strain our management information systems and resources

Our business has expanded rapidly in recent years This rapid growth has placed and may continue to

place significant strain on our managerial administrative operational financial and other resources We

intend to further expand our overall business customer base headcount and operations both domestically and

internationally Growing global organization and managing geographically dispersed workforce will require

substantial management effort and significant additional investment in our infrastructure We will be required

to continue to improve our information technology infrastructure reporting systems and procedures

operational and financial controls including the remediation of the material weakness identified in our internal

control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 as well as manage expanded operations in

geographically distributed locations Our expected additional growth will increase our costs which will make

it more difficult for us to offset any future revenue shortfalls by offsetting expense reductions in the short

term If we fail to successfully manage our growth we will be unable to successfully execute our business

plan which could have negative impact on our business financial condition and results of operations

Expansion of our business internationally will subject us to additional economic and operational risks that

could increase our costs and make it difficult for us to operate profitably

One of our key growth strategies is to pursue international expansion International revenue accounted for

approximately 40% and 35% of our revenue in 2011 and 2010 respectively The continued expansion of our

international operations may require significant expenditure of financial and management resources and result

in increased administrative and compliance costs In addition such expansion will increasingly subject us to

the risks inherent in conducting business internationally including

foreign currency fluctuations which could result in reduced revenue and increased

operating expenses

localization of our services including translation into foreign languages and adaptation for local

practices and regulatory requirements

longer accounts receivable payment cycles and increased difficulty in collecting accounts receivable

the effect of applicable foreign tax structures including tax rates that may be higher than tax rates in

the United States or taxes that may be duplicative of those imposed in the United States

tariffs and trade barriers

difficulties in managing and staffing international operations

general economic and political conditions in each country

inadequate intellectual property protection in foreign countries

Increased insurance and employee costs associated with operating in foreign jurisdictions

dependence on certain third parties including channel partners with whom we may not have

extensive experience

the difficulties and increased expenses in complying with variety of foreign laws regulations and

trade standards including data protection and privacy laws and labor laws which may or may not be

in conflict with U.S law and

international regulatory environments

Because we recognize revenue for our services ratably over the term of our customer agreements

downturns or upturns in the value of signed contracts will not be fully and immediately reflected in our

operating results

We offer our services primarily through fixed commitment contracts and recognize revenue ratably over

the related service period which typically range from six to twelve months As result some portion .of the

revenue we report in each quarter is revenue from contracts entered into during prior quarters Consequently

decline in signed contracts in any quarter will not be fully and immediately reflected in the revenue of that
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quarter and will negatively affect our revenue in future quarters In addition we may be unable to adjust our

cost structure to offset this reduced revenue Similarly revenue attributable to an increase in contracts signed

in particular quarter will not be fully and immediately recognized in the quarter that the contract is signed

as revenue from new or renewed contracts is recognized ratably over the applicable service period Because

we incur sales commissions at the time of sale we may not recognize revenues from some customers despite

incurring considerable expense related to our sales processes Timing differences of this nature could cause

our margins and profitability to fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter

Our offerings of new services or products may be subject to complex revenue recognition standards which

could materially affect our financial results

As we introduce new services or products revenue recognition could become increasingly complex and

require additional analysis and judgment Additionally we may negotiate and revise terms and conditions of

our contracts with customers and channel partners which may also cause us to revise our revenue recognition

policies As our arrangements with customers evolve we may be required to defer greater portion of

revenue into future periods which could materially and adversely affect our financial results

The sales cycles for enterprise customers can be long and unpredictable and require considerable time and

expense which may cause our operating results to fluctuate

The timing of our revenue from sales to enterprise customers is difficult to predict These efforts require

us to educate our customers about the use and benefit of our services including the technical capabilities and

potential cost savings to an organization Enterprise customers typically undertake significant evaluation

process that has in the past resulted in lengthy sales cycle typically several months We spend substantial

time effort and money on our enterprise sales efforts without any assurance that our efforts will produce any

sales If sales expected from specific customer for particular quarter are not realized in that quarter or at

all our results could fall short of public expectations and our business operating results and financial

condition could be adversely affected

We have identified material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting related to our

review of the calculation of allowable capital expenditures under financial covenant in our First Lien

Credit Facility If we are unable to adequately remediate this material weakness our ability to prevent an

unidentified breach and resulting default under our First Lien Credit Facility would be diminished and we

could be required to restate our consolidated financial statements to reclassify the long-term indebtedness

thereunder as current liability

In connection with managements assessment on internal control over financial reporting for the year

ended December 31 2011 we identified material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting

related to the calculation of our maximum capital expenditures allowed under our First Lien Credit Facility

Specifically we failed to accurately calculate the maximum annual capital expenditure limit for the year ended

December 31 2011 under financial covenant set forth in our First Lien Credit Facility and did not design

effective controls to ensure an adequate reviewof the schedule used for such calculation Although this

material weakness did not result in any non-compliance with the covenant set forth in our First Lien Credit

Facility and did not affect our consolidated fiiancial statements for any of the periods presented within this

Annual Report on Form 10-K management determined that our internal control over financial reporting and

our disclosure control and procedures were not effective as of December 31 2011 We are in the process of

remediating this material weakness as more fully described under Item 9A Controls and Procedures and

may identify areas for further attention and improvement In addition we cannot be certain that any remedial

measures we have begun to take or intend to take will adequately remediate the weakness Our failure to

prevent or timely detect an error of this nature in the future could create the potential for an inadvertent

breach of this financial covenant that if not waived by the lenders could result in default under the loan

facility causing all outstanding indebtedness thereunder to become immediately due which could have

material adverse effect on our liquidity and financial condition and ability to access third party sources of

capital See Risk Factors Risks Related to Our Business and Industry Our loan agreement contains

operating and financial covenants that may restrict our business and financing activities and Item

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Liquidity and
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Capital Resources Covenants In addition any such default could require us to restate the long-term

indebtedness reflected in our consolidated financial statements as current liability which could materially

adversely affect investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and in turn

materially harm the market price of our common stock our business reputation financial position and results

of operations

If we are unable to maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over

financial reporting in the future our ability to produce accurate and timely financial statements could be

materially impaired which could harm our operating results investors views of us and as result the

value of our common stock

Upon registration of our shares of common stock with the Securities Exchange Commission SEC we

became required to maintain the effectiveness of both disclosure controls and procedures and internal control

over financial reporting Effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial

reporting are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and effectively prevent fraud and to operate

successfully as public company If we cannot provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud our

reputation and operating results would be hanned In addition beginning with this Annual Report on Form

10-K for the year ended December 31 2011 we became subject to the requirement to perform an annual

management assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting and obtain

report from our independent registered public accounting firm addressing the effectiveness of our internal

controls over financial reporting In connection with this assessment management determined that our

disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting were not effective as of

December 31 2011 as result of the material weakness described above and in Item 9A Controls and

Procedures We may not be able to maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control

over financial reporting in the future If we are not able to maintain adequate compliance with these

requirements in future years we may be unable to report our financial information on timely basis or our

independent registered public accounting firm may be unable to express an opinion on the effectiveness of our

internal control over financial reporting which could subject us to SEC or other regulatory investigations or

proceedings violations of New York Stock Exchange listing rules and loss of investor confidence in the

reliability of our financial statements and in turn materially adversely affect our business reputation

financial position results of operations and the market price of our common stock In addition we could be

required to incur substantial accounting and auditing expense and significant management time in complying

with these requirements or remediating any material weaknesses that may be identified in the future or in

responding to any regulatory investigations or proceedings

We rely on third-party software and hardware to support our system and services and our business and

reputation could suffer if our services fail to perform properly

We rely on hardware purchased or leased and software licensed from third parties to offer our service

This hardware and software may not continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all Any
loss of the right to use any of this hardware or software could result in delays in the provisioning of our

services which could negatively affect our business until equivalent technology is either developed by us or if

available is identified obtained and integrated The software underlying our services can contain undetected

errors or bugs We may be forced to delay commercial release of our services until such problems are

corrected and in some cases may need to implement enhancements to correct errors that we do not detect

until after deployment of our services In addition problems with the software underlying our services could

result in

damage to our reputation

loss of or delayed revenue

loss of customers

warranty claims or litigation

loss of or delayed market acceptance of our services and

unexpected expenses and diversion of resources to remedy errors

20



Our use of open source software could negatively affect our ability to sell our services and subject us to

possible litigation

portion of the technologies licensed by us incorporates open source software and we may

incorporate open source software in the future Such open source software is generally licensed by its authors

or other third parties under open source licenses If we fail to comply with these licenses we may be subject

to certain conditions including requirements that we offer our services that incorporate the open source

software for no cost that we make available source code for modifications or derivative works we create

based upon incorporating or using the open source software and that we license such modifications or

alterations under the terms of the particular open source license If an author or other third party that

distributes such open source software were to allege that we had not complied with the conditions of one or

more of these licenses we could be required to incur significant legal expenses defending against such

allegations and could be subject to significant damages enjoined from the sale of our services that contained

the open source software and required to comply with the foregoing conditions which could disrupt the

distribution and sale of some of our services

if we are found to infringe on the proprietary rights of others we could be required to redesign our

services pay significant royalties or enter into license agreements with third parties This may significantly

increase our costs or adversely affect our results of operations and stock price

third-party may assert that our technology or services violates its intellectual property rights In

particular as the number of products and services offered in our markets as well as the number of related

patents issued in the United States and elsewhere increase and the functionality of these products and

services further overlap we believe that infringement claims may arise Any claims regardless of their

merit could

be expensive and time-consuming to defend

force us to stop providing services that incorporate the challenged intellectual property

require us to redesign our technology and services

divert managements attention and other company resources and

require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements in order to obtain the right to use necessary

technologies which may not be available on terms acceptable to us if at all

if we are unable to protect our proprietary technology and other rights the value of our business and our

competitive position may be impaired

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property our competitors could use our intellectual property to

market products and services similar to ours which could decrease demand for our services We rely on

combination of copyright patent trademark and trade secret laws as well as third-party nondisclosure

agreements and other contractual provisions and technical measures to protect our intellectual property rights

These protections may not be adequate to prevent our competitors from copying or reverse-engineering our

technology and services to create similar offerings The scope of patent protection if any we may obtain from

our patent applications is difficult to predict and our patents may be found invalid unenforceable or of

insufficient
scope to prevent competitors from offering similar services Our competitors may independently

develop technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our technology To protect our trade

secrets and other proprietary information we require employees consultants advisors subcontractors and

collaborators to enter into confidentiality agreements and maintain policies and procedures to limit access to

our trade secrets and proprietary information These agreements and the other actions taken by us may not

provide meaningful protection for our trade secrets know-how or other proprietary information from

unauthorized use misappropriation or disclosure Existing copyright and patent laws may not provide

adequate or meaningful protection in the event competitors independently develop technology products

or services similar to ours Even if such laws provide protection we may have insufficient resources to

take the legal actions necessary to protect our interests In addition our intellectual property rights and

interests may not be afforded the same protection under the laws of foreign countries as they are under the

laws of the United States
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Our success depends on our customers continued high-speed access to the Internet and the continued

reliability of the Internet infrastructure

Our future sales growth depends on our customers high-speed access to the Internet as well as the

continued maintenance and development of the Internet infrastructure The future delivery of our services will

depend on third-party Internet service providers to expand high-speed Internet access to maintain reliable

network with the necessary speed data capacity and security and to develop complementary products and

services including high-speed modems for providing reliable and timely Internet access and services The

success of our business depends directly on the continued accessibility maintenance and improvement of the

Internet as convenient means of customer interaction as well as an efficient medium for the delivery and

distribution of information among businesses and by businesses to their employees All of these factors are out

of our control If for any reason the Internet does not remain widespread communications medium and

commercial platform the demand for our services would be significantly reduced which would harm our

business results of operations and financial condition

To the extent that the Internet continues to experience increased numbers of users frequency of use or

bandwidth requirements the Internet may become congested and be unable to support the demands placed on

it and its performance or reliability may decline Any future Internet outages or delays could adversely affect

our ability to provide services to our customers which could adversely affect our business

We may not successfully develop or introduce new services or enhancements to our IntraLinks Platform

and as result we may lose existing customers or fail to attract new customers and our revenues

may suffer

Our ability to attract new customers and increase revenue from existing customers will depend in large

part on our ability to enhance and improve our existing IntraLinks Platform and to introduce new functionality

either by acquisition or internal development Our operating results would suffer if our innovations are not

responsive to the needs of our customers are not appropriately timed with market opportunity or are not

effectively brought to market We have in the past experienced delays in the planned release dates of new

features and upgrades and have discovered defects in new services after their introduction There can be no

assurance that new services or upgrades will be released according to schedule or that when released they

will not contain defects Either of these situations could result in adverse publicity loss of revenues delay in

market acceptance or claims by customers brought against us all of which could have material adverse

effect on our business results of operations and financial condition Moreover upgrades and enhancements to

our service offerings may require substantial investment and we have no assurance that such investments will

be successful If new innovations to our solutions do not become widely adopted by customers we may not

be able to justify the investments we have made If we are unable to develop license or acquire new products

or enhancements to existing services on timely and cost-effective basis or if such new products or

enhancements do not achieve market acceptance our business results of operations and financial condition

will be materially adversely affected

If we fail to develop our brand cost-effectively our business may suffer

We believe that developing and maintaining awareness of the IntraLinks brand in cost-effective manner

is critical to achieving widespread acceptance of our existing and future services and is an important element

in attracting new customers Furthermore we believe that the importance of brand recognition will increase as

competition in our market develops Successful promotion of our brand will depend largely on the

effectiveness of our marketing efforts and on our ability to provide reliable and useful services at competitive

prices Brand promotion and protection will also require protection and defense of our trademarks service

marks and trade dress which may not be adequate to protect our investment in our brand or prevent

competitors use of similar brands In the past our efforts to build our brand have involved significant

expense Brand promotion activities may not yield increased revenue and even if they do any increased

revenue may not offset the expenses we incur in building our brand If we fail to successfully promote and

maintain our brand or incur substantial expenses in an unsuccessful attempt to promote and maintain our

brand we may fail to attract enough new customers or retain our existing customers to the extent necessary to

realize sufficient return on our brand-building efforts and our business could suffer
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If we are unable to retain our key executives we may not be able to implement our business strategy

We rely on the expertise and experience of our senior management especially our President and

Chief Executive Officer Ronald Hovsepian as well as the other executive officers and key employees

referenced in Item 10 of this Form 10-K Although we have employment agreements with certain of our

executive officers none of them or any of our other management personnel is obligated to continue his or her

employment with us We have no key-man insurance on any members of our management team The loss of

services of any key management personnel could make it more difficult to successfully pursue our business

goals Furthermore recruiting and retaining qualified management personnel are critical to our growth plans

We may be unable to attract and retain such personnel on acceptable terms given the competition among

technology companies for experienced management personnel

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards may be limited or disallowed by the Internal

Revenue Service

As of December 31 2011 we had net operating loss carryforwards of $61.6 million including

$8.3 million of windfall tax benefits attributable to equity compensation to offset future taxable income

which expire in various
years beginning in 2020 through 2030 if not utilized If we were not to generate

sufficient future taxable income this would adversely affect our ability to utilize these net operating loss

carryforwards In addition under the Internal Revenue Code substantial changes in our ownership could limit

the amount of net operating loss carryforwards that can be utilized annually in the future to offset taxable

income Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code imposes limitations on companys ability to use net

operating loss carryforwards if company experiences more-than-50-percent ownership change over

three-year period We believe that as result of our initial and follow-on public offerings or as result of

prior or future issuances of our capital stock it is possible that such change in our ownership could be

deemed to occur If such change in our ownership occurs our ability to use our net operating loss

carryforwards in any future periods may be limited on an annual basis In addition due to an administrative

omission from certain prior year tax filings losses generated by IntraLinks Ltd our U.K subsidiary could be

disallowed by the Internal Revenue Service However we proactively sought relief from the possible

disallowance or restriction of these net operating loss carryforwards from the internal Revenue Service

During 2011 the Internal Revenue Service commenced review of our net operating losses arising from

IntraLinks Ltd As of December 31 2011 this review is ongoing In the event relief is not granted as result

of this review and administrative appeals are not successful our ability to use certain net operating loss

carryforwards may be limited and in the current year and in future years in which we have taxable income

we would have to pay more taxes than if we were able to fully utilize our net operating loss carryforwards

This occurrence could adversely affect the market price of our common stock

If we undertake business combinations and acquisitions they may be difficult to integrate disrupt our

business dilute stockholder value or divert managements attention

We may support our growth through acquisitions of complementary businesses services or technologies

Future acquisitions involve risks such as

challenges associated with integrating acquired technologies and operations of acquired companies

exposure to unforeseen liabilities

diversion of managerial resources from day-to-day operations

possible loss of key employees customers and suppliers

misjudgment with respect to the value return on investment or strategic fit of any acquired

operations or assets

higher than expected transaction costs and

additional dilution to our existing stockholders if we use our common stock as consideration for

such acquisitions

As result of these risks we may not be able to achieve the expected benefits of any acquisition If we
are unsuccessful in completing or integrating acquisitions we may be required to reevaluate our growth
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strategy and we may have incurred substantial expenses and devoted significant management time and

resources in seeking to complete and integrate the acquisitions

Future business combinations could involve the acquisition of significant intangible assets We may need

to record write-downs from future impairments of identified intangible assets and goodwill These accounting

charges would reduce any future reported earnings or increase reported loss In addition we could use

substantial portions of our available cash to pay the purchase price for acquisitions Subject to the provisions

of our existing indebtedness it is possible that we could incur additional debt or issue additional equity

securities as consideration for these acquisitions which could cause our stockholders to suffer

significant dilution

We will incur increased costs and demands upon management as result of complying with the laws and

regulations affecting public companies which could harm our operating results

Since our initial public offering in August 2010 we have incurred and will continue to incur as public

company significant additional legal accounting and other costs to which we were not subject as private

company including expenses related to our efforts in complying with the requirements of Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002 and other public company disclosure and corporate governance requirements responding to requests

of government regulators and defending the class action and stockholder derivative lawsuits filed against us

Our management and other personnel will need to devote substantial amount of time to these compliance

initiatives We expect that these rules regulations and proceedings may make it more difficult and more

expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance and we may be required to accept reduced

policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage

previously available As result it may be more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified individuals to

serve on our board of directors or as our executive officers

If we are required to collect sales and use taxes on the services we sell we may be subject to liability for

past sales and our future sales may decrease

We may lose sales or incur significant expenses should tax authorities anywhere we do business be

successful in imposing sales and use taxes value added taxes or similar taxes on the services we provide

successful assertion by one or more tax authorities that we should collect sales or other taxes on the sale of

our services could result in substantial tax liabilities for past sales and otherwise harm our business States and

certain municipalities in the United States as well as countries outside the United States have different rules

and regulations governing sales and use taxes and these rules and regulations are subject to varying

interpretations that may change over time Certain of these rules and regulations may be interpreted to apply

to us depending on the characterization of our services We currently do not collect sales or use tax on our

services in any state in the United States other than Ohio and Texas We have not historically charged or

collected value added tax on our services anywhere in the world

It is not clear that our services are subject to sales tax in certain jurisdictions If one or more taxing

authorities determine that sales taxes should have but have not been paid with respect to our services we

may be liable for past taxes in addition to taxes going forward Liability for past taxes may also include very

substantial interest and penalty charges Although our customer contracts typically provide that our customers

are responsible for the payment of all taxes associated with the provision and use of our services customers

may decline to pay back taxes and may refuse responsibility for interest or penalties associated with those

taxes In certain cases we may elect not to request customers to pay back taxes If we are required to collect

and pay back taxes and the associated interest and penalties and if our customers fail or refuse to reimburse

us for all or portion of these amounts or if we elect not to seek payment of these amounts we will incur

unplanned expenses
that may be substantial Moreover imposition of such taxes on our services going

forward will effectively increase the cost of such services to our customers and may adversely affect our

ability to retain existing customers or to gain new customers in the areas in which such taxes are imposed

Any of the foregoing could have material adverse effect on our business results of operation or

financial condition
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Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our stock price may fluctuate signflcantly

The stock market particularly in recent years has experienced significant volatility particularly with

respect to technology stocks The volatility of technology stocks often does not relate to the operating

performance of the companies represented by the stock Factors that could cause volatility in the market price

of our common stock include

market conditions affecting our customers businesses including the level of activity in the mergers

and acquisitions and syndicated loan markets

the loss of any major customers or the acquisition of new customers for our services

announcements of new services or functions by us or our competitors

developments concerning intellectual property rights

comments by securities analysts including the publication of their estimates of our operating results

actual and anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly operating results

rumors relating to us or our competitors

developments relating to lawsuits and investigations involving us

actions of stockholders including sales of shares by our directors and executive officers

additions or departures of key personnel and

developments concerning current or future strategic alliances or acquisitions

These and other factors may cause the market price and demand for our common stock to fluctuate

substantially which may limit or prevent investors from readily selling their shares of common stock and may

otherwise negatively affect the liquidity of our common stock In addition volatility in the market price of our

stock could subject us to securities class action litigation We are currently and may in the future be the

subject of class action and stockholder derivative lawsuits which could require us to incur substantial costs

defending such lawsuits and divert the time and attention of our management

Our principal stockholders could exercise signficant control over our company

As of December 31 2011 our two largest stockholders beneficially owned in the aggregate shares

representing approximately 32% of our outstanding capital stock Although we are not aware of any voting

arrangements in place among these stockholders if these stockholders were to choose to act together as

result of their stock ownership they would likely be able to influence our management and affairs This

concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying or preventing change in control of our company

and might affect the market price of our common stock

Future sales of shares by existing stockholders could cause our stock price to decline

If our existing stockholders sell or indicate an intent to sell substantial amounts of our common stock in

the public market the trading price of our common stock could decline significantly As of December 31

2011 we had 52248178 shares of common stock outstanding assuming no exercise of outstanding options

relatively small number of our shareholders own large blocks of shares We cannot predict the effect if any

that public sales of these shares will have on the market price of our common stock

In addition shares subject to outstanding options under our equity incentive plans and shares reserved for

future issuance under our equity incentive plans will become eligible for sale in the public market in the

future subject to certain legal and contractual limitations Moreover holders of approximately 17266846

shares of our common stock have the right to require us to register these shares under the Securities Act of

1933 as amended pursuant to registration rights agreement If our existing stockholders sell substantial

amounts of our common stock in the public market or if the public perceives that such sales could occur this

could have an adverse impact on the market price of our common stock even if there is no relationship

between such sales and the performance of our business
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Provisions of Delaware law our charter documents and our loan agreement could delay or prevent an

acquisition of our company even if the acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholders and could make

it more difficult for stockholders to change management

Provisions of Delaware law our arnnded and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and

restated by-laws and our loan agreement may discourage delay or prevent merger acquisition or other

change in control that stockholders may consider favorable including transactions in which stockholders

might otherwise receive premium for their shares These provisions may also prevent or delay attempts by

stockholders to replace or remove our current management or members of our board of directors These

provisions include

classified board of directors

limitations on the removal of directors

advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and nominations

the inability of stockholders to act by written consent or to call special meetings

the ability of our board of directors to make alter or repeal our amended and restated by-laws

the authority of our board of directors to issue preferred stock with such terms as our board of

directors may determine and

provisions in our loan agreement that may accelerate payment of our debt in change in control

The affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of our shares of capital stock entitled to vote and not

less than 75% of the outstanding shares of each class entitled to vote thereon as class is generally necessary to

amend or repeal the above prcvisions that are contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation

Also absent approval of our board of directors our amended and restated by-laws may only be amended or

repealed by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of our shares of capital stock entitled to vote

In addition we are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law
which limits business combination transactions with stockholders of 15% or more of our outstanding voting

stock that our board of directors has not approved These provisions and other similar provisions make it more

difficult for stockholders or potential acquirers to acquire us without negotiation These provisiOns may apply

even if some stockholders may consider the transaction beneficial to them

As result these provisions could limit the price that investors are willing to pay in the future for shares

of our common stock These provisions might also discourage potential acquisition proposal or tender offer

even if the acquisition proposal or tender offer is at premium over the then current market price for our

common stock

We have never paid dividends on our capital stock and we do not anticipate paying any dividends in the

foreseeable future Consequently any gains from an investment in our common stock will likely depend on

whether the price of our common stock increases

We have not paid dividends on any of our classes of capital stock to date and we currently intend to retain

our future earnings if any to fund the development and growth of our business In addition the terms of our

outstanding indebtedness restrict our ability to pay dividends and any future indebtedness that we may incur

could preclude us from paying dividends As result capital appreciation if any of our common stock will be

your sole source of gain for the foreseeable future Consequently in the foreseeable future you will likely only

experience gain from your investment in our common stock if the price of our common stock increases

If equity research analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they issue

unfavorable commentary or downgrade our common stock the price of our common stock could decline

The trading market for our common stock relies in part on the research and reports that equity research

analysts publish about us and our business We do not control these analysts We have been and may in the

future be the subject of unfavorable commentary or termination of coverage by equity analysts The price of

our common stock could decline as result of any such negative commentary or termination of coverage
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ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM PROPERTIES

Our principal executive office in New York New York occupies approximately 66832 square feet This

space is comprised of 43304 square feet that are subject to lease agreement that expires in July 2021 and

23528 square feet that are subject to sublease agreement that expires in December 2013 In addition our

research and development facilities in Charlestown Massachusetts occupy 36557 square feet under lease

that expires in December 2015

We also occupy space
in London Chicago Sâo Paolo Hong Kong Frankfurt Sydney Melbourne Paris

and San Francisco for our sales services and certain corporate activities We believe that our facilities are

adequate for our current needs However we may require additional office
space as our business grows

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the ordinary course of business we and our subsidiaries are subject to various claims charges

disputes litigation and regulatory inquiries and investigations These matters if resolved adversely against us

may result in monetary damages fines and penalties or require changes in our business practices We are not

currently aware of any pending or threatened material claims charges disputes litigation and regulatory

inquiries and investigations except as follows

Securities Class Action On December 2011 we became aware of purported class action lawsuit

filed in the U.S District Court for the South District of New York the SDNY or the Court against the

Company and certain of its current and former executive officers The complaint the Wallace Complaint

alleges that the defendants made false and misleading statements or omissions in violation of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 The plaintiff seeks unspecified compensatory damages for the purported class of

purchasers of our common stock during the period from February 17 2011 through November 10 2011

the Allegation Period On December 27 2011 second purported class action complaint the

Thaler Complaint which makes substantially the same claims as and is related to the Wallace Complaint

was filed in the SDNY against us and certain of our current and former executive officers seeking similar

unspecified compensatory damages for the Allegation Period On February 2012 four different shareholders

filed motions to be appointed lead plaintiff pursuant to the provisions of the Private Securities Litigation

Reform Act of 1995 and the Court has not yet decided these motions We anticipate that the lead plaintiff will

then file consolidated and amended class action complaint We believe these claims are without merit and

intend to defend these lawsuits vigorously

Shareholder Derivative Action On December 28 2011 shareholder derivative complaint was filed in

the SDNY against us and certain of our current and former directors The complaint alleges that the

defendants breached their fiduciary duties by causing the Company to issue materially false and misleading

statements about the Companys business prospects financial condition and performance during the same

Allegation Period alleged in the Wallace Complaint and the Thaler Complaint On January 17 2012 we and

the plaintiff stipulated to toll our time to move answer or otherwise respond to the lawsuit until lead

plaintiff is selected in the related class action lawsuits We believe these claims are without merit and intend

to defend this lawsuit vigorously

SEC investigation On August 2011 we received subpoena from the United States Securities and

Exchange Commission the SEC requesting certain documents related to our business from January

2011 through August 2011 We have produced number of documents to the SEC and continue to

cooperate with the SEC

ITEM MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED TO STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock commenced trading under the symbol IL on the New York Stock Exchange on

August 2010 Prior to that date there was no public trading market for our common stock The initial

public offering was priced at $13.00 per share on August 2010 We sold an additional 2000000 shares of

common stock at an offering price of $20.00 per share in follow-on public offering that closed on

December 10 2010 and an additional 1437500 shares of common stock at an offering price of $25.50 per

share in subsequent follow-on public offering that closed on April 12 2011 The following table sets forth

for the indicated periods the high and low closing sales prices of our common stock as reported by the

New York Stock Exchange for the fiscal year ended December 31 2011 and for the portion of the fiscal year

ended December 31 2010 in which we were public company

high Low

Fiscal year ending December 31 2010

Third quarter $17.03 $11.44

Fourth quarter $22.94 $14.53

Fiscal year ending December 31 2011

First quarter $30.31 $18.71

Second quarter $32.25 $16.62

Third quarter $18.17 6.00

Fourth quarter 9.44 4.74

On March 19 2012 the last reported sales price of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange

was $5.72 and as of March 19 2012 there were approximately 25 holders of record of our common stock

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid dividends on our capital stock We do not anticipate paying any

dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeable future We currently intend to retain all available funds and

any future earnings to fund the development and growth of our business Any future determination to declare

dividends will be subject to the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on various factors

including applicable laws our results of operations financial condition future prospects and any other factors

deemed relevant by our board of directors In addition the terms of our outstanding indebtedness restrict our

ability to pay dividends and any future indebtedness that we may incur could preclude us from paying

dividends

Equity Compensation Plan Information

For the information concerning securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans

see Part III Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related

Stockholder Matters of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

None

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None
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ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

You should read the selected consolidated financial data presented below in conjunction with the section

entitled Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial condition and Results of Operations in this

Form 10-K and consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere In this Form 10-K

The selected consolidated financial data presented below under the heading Consolidated Statement of

Operations Data for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 and the selected consolidated

financial data presented below under the heading Consolidated Balance Sheet Data as of December 31

2011 and 2010 have been derived from the Companys audited consolidated financial statements included

elsewhere in this Form 10-K

Separate presentation of the Predecessor period and Successor period within an annual period is required under U.S GAAP when

change in accounting basis occurs Under the provisions of the FASBs Business Combination standard the historical carrying

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31 2007 is

presented giving effect to the Merger as if it had occurred on January 2007 The unaudited pro forma

consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31 2007 is based on the Companys
historical audited consolidated statements of operations not included in this Form 10-K adjusted to give pro

forma effect to the Merger Management believes this presentation provides meaningful comparison of

operating results enabling twelve months of 2007 to be compared with 2008 through 2011 adjusting for the

impact of the Merger The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of operations is for informational

purposes only and does not purport to represent what the Companys actual results of operations would have

been if the Merger had been completed as of January 2007

The selected consolidated financial data presented below under the headings Consolidated Statement of

Operations Data for the years ended for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2008 and under

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data as of December 31 2007 2008 and 2009 have been derived from

consolidated financial statements not included in this Form 10-K Our historical results are not necessarily

indicative of the results of operations to be expected for future periods

Predecessor Successor Pro Forma Successor

January June 15
2007 through 2007 through

In Thousands Except Share June 14 December 31
and per Share Amounts 2007 2007

Year Ended Year Ended
Pro Fornia December 31 December 31

Adjustments 2007 2008

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31

2009 2010 2011

Consolidated Statement of

Operations Data

Total revenue

Cost of revenue2

Gross profit

Operating expenses

Product development2

Sales and marketing2

General and administrative2

Costs related to the Merger

Restructuring costs

Total operating expenses

Loss income from operations

Interest income expense net

Amortization of debt issuance costs

Loss on extinguishment of debt

Other income expense net

Net income loss before income tax

Income tax provision benefit

Net income loss

Net loss per common share

Basic

Diluted

Weighted average number of shares

used in calculating net loss per share

Basic

Diluted

$51928

12801

39127

6046

18418

5868

8948

39280

153
562

418

237

181

10516

10516

12201

666

12867

23383
12840

770

36993
15352

$21641

$122714

54035

68679

12995

66151

15493

8948

103587

34908
26996

1680

264
63320
24852
38468

70786

30718

40068

6949

35532

8959

51440

11372
14718

910

255

26745
9737

17008

22.33

22.33

761554

761554

$143401 140699 184332

56161 48721 47496

87240 91978 136836

14847 14222 17953

61556 59058 79251

19209 20556 28435

1316 1494

96928 95330 125639

9688 3352 11197

28234 28935 24724

1803 1872 3084

4974

271 9027 2722
39996 43186 18863
15398 18415 6427

$24598 24771 12436

213504

56385

157119

18579

88872

40808

148259

8860

10645

1369

3123
31

1212

1243

50.51 25.54 15.38 0.58 0.02

50.51 25.54 15.38 0.58 0.02

761554

761554

963019

963019

1611090 21310284 53381655

1611090 21310284 53381655
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values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are adjusted to fair value resulting in higher cost basis associated with the

allocation of the purchase price which affects post-acquisition period results and period-to-period comparisons The Company
believes presenting only the separate Predecessor period and Successor period within the year ended December 31 2007 may

impede understanding of the Companys operating performance Therefore the Company has also presented the

unaudited pro forma consolidated results of operations for the year ended December 31 2007 assuming the Merger occurred on

January 2007 The unaudited pro forma consolidated results of operations include pro- fonna adjustments to give effect to the

Merger See Consolidated Statement of Operations for the Year Ended December 31 2007Pro Forma Presentation within this

section for additional details regarding the nature of the pro forma adjustments

Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows

Included in Working capital above

Cost of revenue

Product development

Sales and marketing

General and administrative

Total

In Thousands

Years Ended December 31

Pro Forms Successor

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

307 173 63 105 310

656 519 483 755 1329

1339 855 529 1638 2353

2031 2245 863 1717 4716

$4333 $3792 $1938 $4215 $8708

As of December 31

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents 17671 24671 30481 50467 46694

Short-term investments 4500 3414 36120

Working capital 622 9821 15591 49563 78136

Total assets 551583 532852 509341 526355 530341

Deferred revenue 23777 24938 26795 38043 40309

Long-term debt net of current portion 275233 284164 290513 125886 91164

Series preferred stock 173751 175991 176478

Accumulated deficit 17008 41606 66377 78813 80056
Total stockholders deficit equity 20002 44611 62032 $287444 $331830
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Consolidated Statement of Operations for the Year Ended December 31 2007 Pro Forma Presentation

Presentation of the results of operations for the year ended December 31 2007 above reflects the pro

forma consolidated results giving effect to the Merger as if it had occurred on January 2007 The unaudited

pro forma consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31 2007 is based on the

Companys historical audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report

adjusted to give pro forma effect to the Merger Management believes this presentation provides meaningful

comparison of operating results enabling twelve months of 2007 to be compared with 2008 and 2009

adjusting for the impact of the Merger The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of operations is for

informational purposes only and does not purport to represent what the Companys actual results of operations

would have been if the Merger had been completed as of January 2007

The following table presents the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the period of January 2007

through June 14 2007 Predecessor Company and June 15 2007 through December 31 2007 Successor

Company as well as the unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of operations for the year ended

December 31 2007 which reflects the pro forma adjustments to give effect to the Merger assuming it

occurred on January 2007

Predecessor

January
2007 through
June 14 2007

$51928

12801

39127

Revenue

Cost of Revenue

Gross profit

Operating expenses

Product development

Sales and marketing

General and administrative

Cost related to the Merger

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Interest income expense net

6046

18418

5868

8948

39280

153

562

Successor Pro Forma

June 15 2007

through Year Ended

December 31 Pro Forma December 31
2007 Adjustments 2007

70786 $122714

30718 1051612 54035

40068 10516 68679

6949 12995

35532 122011 66151

8959 666 15493

8948

51440 12867 103587

11372 23383 34908

14718 12840 26996

910 770 1680

255 264

26745 36993 63320

9737 15352 24852

$17008 $2164l 38468

Amortization of debt issuance costs

Other income

Net income loss before income tax

Income tax provision benefit

Net income loss

418

237

181
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The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31 2007

reflects the following

An adjustment to increase amortization expense related to intangible assets recorded as result of the

transaction by $24.9 million $12.1 million to cost of revenue $12.2 million to sales and marketing and

$0.7 million to general and administrative to reflect the additional five and one-half months of

amortization expense
that would have been recorded had the Merger occurred on January 2007 The

following table is summary of the fair values assigned to each of the definite-lived intangible assets at

the time of the Merger and their respective estimated useful lives

Acquired
Value at Estimated

Intangible Asset 1ipe Merger Date Useful Life

Developed technology $132369 10 Years

Customer relationships 141747 10 Years

Contractual backlog 9219 1.5 Years

Tradename 14618 12 Years

Non-compete agreement 728 Years

Total $298681

Developed technology and contractual backlog are amortized on an accelerated basis over their estimated

useful lives at rates consistent with the expected future cash flows to be generated by the assets All other

definite-lived intangible assets are amortized on straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives

An adjustment to decrease amortization of capitalized software recorded in cost of revenue prior to the

Merger of $1.6 million At the time of the Merger the existing capitalized software was valued as an

intangible asset subsequently referred to as the technology intangible asset Assuming the Merger took

place on January the capitalized software in question would have ceased to exist at that date and no

further amortization other than that related to the technology intangible see Note above would be

recorded

An adjustment to increase interest expense to reflect an additional five and one-half months of interest

assuming the Company would have incurred long-term debt of $275.0 million on January 2007 to

finance the Merger Principal amounts for each loan as incurred at the Merger date and the respective

interest rates at the inception of the loans were as follows

Principal at

in thousands Merger Date Interest Rate

First Lien Credit Facility $135000 Variable 8.07%

Second Lien Credit Facility

Tranche 30000 Fixed 11.0%

Tranche 35000 Variable 11.07%

P1K Loan 75000 Fixed 12.0%

Total Principal at Merger Date $275000

The variable rates shown in the table above are based on the Eurodollar rate as defined in the

applicable credit agreement at the inception of the loans and include spreads of 2.75% and 5.75% for

the First Lien Credit Facility and Tranche of the Second Lien Credit Facility respectively For

purposes
of the pro forma adjustments

the Company assumed no change in the variable interest rates

An adjustment to reflect an additional five and one-half months of amortization of debt issuance

costs and

For purposes of determining the estimated income tax expense for adjustments reflected in the

unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of operations combined U.S federal and state statutory

rate of 41.5% was utilized
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ITIM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results operations should be read

together with our consolidated financial statements and related notes to consolidated financial statements

included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K Dollars in tabular fonnat are presented in

thousands except share and per share data or otherwise indicated

Overview

IntraLinks is leading global provider of Software-as-a-Service SaaS solutions for securely

managing content exchanging critical business information and collaborating within and among organizations

Our cloud-based solutions enable organizations to control track search and exchange time-sensitive

information inside and outside the firewall all within secure and easy-to-use environment Our customers

rely on our cost-effective solutions to manage large amounts of electronic information accelerate information

intensive business
processes

reduce time to market optimize critical information workflow meet regulatory

and risk management requirements and collaborate with business counterparties in secure auditable and

compliant manner We help our customers eliminate many of the inherent risks and inefficiencies of using

email fax courier services and other existing solutions to collaborate and exchange information

At our founding in 1996 we introduced cloud-based collaboration for the debt capital markets industry

and shortly thereafter extended our solutions to merger and acquisition transactions Today we service

enterprise and governmental agencies in over 63 countries across variety of industries including financial

services pharmaceutical biotechnology consumer energy industrial legal insurance real estate and

technology which use our solutions for the secure management and online exchange of information within

and among organizations Across all of our principal markets we help transform wide range of slow

expensive and information-intensive tasks into streamlined efficient and real-time business processes

We deliver our solutions entirely through multi-tenant SaaS architecture in which single instance of

our software serves all of our customers We sell our solutions directly through an internal sales team with

industry-specific expertise and indirectly through customer referral network and channel partners During

the year ended December 31 2011 we generated $213.5 million in revenue of which approximately 40% was

derived from international sales across 63 countries

Key Metrics

We evaluate our operating and financial performance using various performance indicators as well as the

macroeconomic trends affecting the demand for our solutions in our principal markets We also monitor

relevant industry performance including transactional activity in the debt capital markets and MA market

globally to provide insight into the success of our sales activities as compared to our peers and to estimate

our market share in each of our principal markets
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Our management relies on the key performance indicators set forth below to help us evaluate growth

trends establish budgets measure the effectiveness of our sales and marketing efforts and assess operational

efficiencies We discuss revenue under Results of Operations and cash flow provided by operating

activities including deferred revenue under Liquidity and Capital Resources Other measures of our

performance including adjusted gross margin adjusted operating income adjusted net income adjusted

EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin and free cash flow are defined and discussed under Non-GAAP

Financial Measures below

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Results of Operations Data

Total Revenue $213504 $184332 $140699

Non-GAAP Gross margin 79.9% 81.5% 79.1%

Non-GAAP adjusted operating income 46255 45569 33525

Non-GAAP adjusted net income loss 23539 13737 3848
Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA 66254 62551 45092

Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA margin 31.0% 33.9% 32.0%

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Deferred revenue at December 31 40309 38043 26795

Cash Flows Data

Cash flows provided by operations 54726 35564 25072

Free cash flow 30893 12573 9038

In addition to the metrics listed in the table above our management regularly analyzes customer contract

data including aggregate contract values contract durations and payment terms Management also monitors

sales and marketing activity customer renewal rates the mix of subscription and transaction business and

international revenue growth to evaluate various aspects of our operating and financial performance These

items are discussed elsewhere in this Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and

Results of Operations

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

This Form 10-K includes information about certain financial measures that are not prepared in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States GAAP or U.S GAAP including

non-GAAP gross margin non-GAAP adjusted operating income non-GAAP adjusted net income non-GAAP

adjusted EBITDA and EBITDA margin and free cash flow These non-GAAP measures are not based on any

standardized methodology prescribed by GAAP and are not necessarily comparable to similar measures

presented by other companies reconciliation of non-GAAP measures is included below

Management defines its non-GAAP financial measures as follows

Non-GAAP gross margin represents the corresponding GAAP measure adjusted to exclude

stock-based compensation expense and amortization of intangible assets

Non-GAAP adjusted operating income represents the corresponding GAAP measure adjusted to

exclude stock-based compensation expense amortization of intangible assets and costs

related to public stock offerings

Non-GAAP adjusted net income represents the corresponding GAAP measure adjusted to exclude

stock-based compensation expense amortization of intangible assets costs related to

public stock offerings and costs related to debt repayments Non-GAAP adjusted net income is

calculated using an estimated long-term effective tax rate
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Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA
represents

net income loss adjusted to exclude interest expense

net of interest income income tax provision benefit depreciation and amortization

amortization of intangible assets stock-based compensation expense amortization of debt

issuance costs loss on extinguishment of our debt other income expense net and costs

related to public stock offerings

Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA margin represents adjusted EBITDA as percentage of revenue

Free cash flow represents cash flow from operations less capital expenditures

Management believes that these non-GAAP financial measures when viewed With our results under

U.S GAAP and the accompanying reconciliations provide useful information about our period-over-period

growth as well as additional information that is useful for evaluating our operating performance Additionally

management believes that these non-GAAP financial measures provide more meaningful comparison of our

operating results against those of other companies in our industry as well as on period-to-period basis

because these measures exclude items that are not representative of our operating performance such as

amortization of intangible assets interest expense and fair value adjustments to the interest rate swap

Management believes that including these costs in our results of operations causes lack of comparability

between our operating results and those of our peers
in the industry the majority of which are not highly

leveraged and do not have comparable amortization costs related to intangible assets However non-GAAP

gross margin non-GAAP adjusted operating income non-GAAP adjusted net income non-GAAP adjusted

EB1TDA and EBITDA margin and free cash flow are not measures of financial performance under

U.S GAAP and accordingly should not be considered as alternatives to gross margin operating income net

income loss and cash flows provided by operations as indicators of operating performance
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The table below provides reconciliations between the non-GAAP financial measures discussed above to

the comparable U.S GAAP measures

For the Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Gross profit $157119 $136836 91978

Gross margin 73.6% 74.2% 65.4%

Cost of revenue stock-based compensation expense 310 105 63

Cost of revenue amortization of intangible assets 13237 13237 19304

Non-GAAP Gross profit $170666 $150178 $111345

Non-GAAP Gross margin 79.9% 85.1% 79.1%

Income loss from operations 8860 11197 3352
Stock-based compensation expense 8708 4215 1938

Amortization of intangible assets 28630 28741 34939

Costs related to public stock offerings 57 1416

Non-GAAP adjusted operating income 46255 45569 33525

Net loss before income tax 31 18863 $43186
Stock-based compensation expense 8708 4215 1938

Amortization of intangible assets 28630 28741 34939

Costs related to public stock offerings 57 1416

Costs related to debt repayments 7011

Non-GAAP adjusted net income loss before income tax 37364 22520 6309
Non-GAAP Income tax provision benefit 13825 8783 2461
Non-GAAP adjusted net income loss 23539 13737 3848

Net loss 1243 $12436 $24771

Interest expense net 10645 24724 28935

Income tax provision benefit 1212 6427 18415

Depreciation and amortization 19999 16982 11567

Amortization of intangible assets 28630 28741 34939

Stock-based compensation 8708 4215 1938

Amortization of debt issuance costs 1369 3084 1872

Loss on extinguishment of debt 4974

Other income expense net 3123 2722 9027

Costs related to public stock offerings 57 1416

Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA 66254 62551 45092

Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA margin 31.0% 33.9% 32.0%

Cash flow from provided from operations 54726 35564 25072

Capital expenditures 23833 22991 16034

Free cash flow 30893 12573 9038

Other income expense net primarily includes foreign currency transaction gains and losses and beginning in the second quarter

of 2009 fair value adjustments resulting in gains and losses on our interest rate swap Other income expense net for the year

ended December 31 2009 includes $10.7 million loss representing accumulated fair value adjustments to our interest rate swap
due to the de-designation of this derivative instrument in the first quarter of 2009 Prior to the first quarter of 2009 the fair value

adjustments to the interest rate swap were recorded to Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income Loss on the Consolidated

Balance Sheets in accordance with the FASBs authoritative guidance on hedge accounting
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Components of Operating Results

Sources of Revenue

We derive revenue principally through fixed commitment contracts under which we provide customers

with various services including access to our cloud-based IntraLinks Platform access to one or more of our

IntraLinks Exchanges the related customer support and other services Our management operates the business

in one reportable segment assessing performance and making operating decisions based on one single

operating unit However to date we have monitored certain revenue metrics and trends by principal markets

as defined below We also monitor the mix of subscription and transaction customers within these

markets as well as revenue growth in international locations

The following represent our principal markets

Enterprise comprises customers spanning variety of industries including financial services

pharmaceutical biotechnology consumer energy industrial legal insurance real estate and

technology who use our services for wide range
of corporate purposes primarily under

subscription arrangements

Mergers Acquisitions MA comprises customers across the same variety of industries

described above who use our exchanges for project-based transactions such as mergers acquisitions

and dispositions These customers are referred to us typically by financial or legal advisors involved

in the respective transactions This principal market is generally characterized by the use of our

IntraLinks Platform under transaction arrangements

Debt Capital Markets DCM primarily comprises customers within the financial services industry

who use our exchanges for loan syndication and administration and is generally characterized by the

use of our IntraLinks Platform under subscription arrangements

We believe our revenue growth will be driven by the following key trends expanded geographic focus to

establish wider distribution of our services ongoing investment in our platform to continue to meet customer

needs and increased focus on providing the types of services that generate repeat business and expand our

subscription base Our revenue growth will also be driven by our ability to increase our market share by

winning business from our competition and by adding new clients that are not yet taking advantage of

services such as ours We believe that the continued investments in our platform and operational infrastructure

will allow us to service more clients including those with larger-scale requirements

Additionally during the year ended December 31 2011 we received insurance proceeds totaling

$0.6 million as result of one of our primary facilities sustaining water damage from fire on floor above

which resulted in an interruption in our operations We filed claim under our business interruption insurance

policy for lost revenue caused by the down-time experienced subsequent to the loss event The business

interruption insurance proceeds are classified as Other revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue primarily consists of personnel-related costs including non-cash stock-based

compensation ii expenses
for third-party contractors providing customer support and project management

services iii expenses related to hosting our service including Internet connectivity co-location management

and data storage fees iv depreciation expenses for hardware amortization expenses associated with

capitalized software and definite-lived intangible assets and vi allocated overhead Our hosting provider

charges us monthly fee based on the number of servers the amount of storage and the levels of network

connectivity required We allocate overhead such as facilities and telecommunication charges to all

departments based on headcount which we consider to be fair and representative means of allocation As

such general overhead expenses are reflected in our cost of revenue and operating expenses categories

We will continue to make investments in our platform and services which may include direct

investments in our technology customer services group and our hosting infrastructure The level and timing of

investments in these areas could affect our cost of revenue both in terms of absolute dollars and as

percentage of revenue
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Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Our
gross profit and margin are driven by our ability to manage the costs of providing our service as

revenue increases or decreases As noted under Cost of Revenue above we intend to continue making

investments in personnel including our customer service group and other initiatives directly related to the

development of our technology

Operating Expenses

Product Development Product development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs

including non-cash stock-based compensation and consulting expenses associated with the design

development and testing of our systems We capitalize direct costs of services used in developing internal-use

software including both internal and external direct labor costs Costs incurred during the preliminary project

stage as well as maintenance and training costs are expensed as incurred

We expect that product development expenses will increase in absolute dollars as we extend our service

offerings and develop new technologies to ensure our service integrates and performs well with existing and

future leading databases applications operating systems and other platforms and keeps pace
with

technological change in our industry Depending on the nature and levels of work undertaken the amount of

product development costs that are capitalized may fluctuate from period to period which may affect

operating expenses both in terms of absolute dollars and as percentage of revenue

Sales and Marketing Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs

including commissions paid to our sales representatives and non-cash stock-based compensation for equity

granted to our sales and marketing staff Sales and marketing expenses also include payments to channel

partners costs of marketing programs and amortization expense for certain definite-lived intangible assets Our

marketing programs include advertising events and conferences corporate communications public relations

and other brand building and product marketing expenses

We expect that sales and marketing expenses will increase in absolute dollars as we invest in additional

direct sales personnel in order to add new customers in our existing markets and geographical locations as

well as in emerging global markets Additionally we intend to focus on expanding our partnering efforts and

allocating more resources to marketing activities including building greater brand awareness and sponsoring

additional marketing events

General and Administrative General and administrative
expenses

consist primarily of personnel-related

costs including non-cash stock-based compensation for our finance and accounting legal human resources

administrative and internal business systems personnel as well as non-personnel costs such as professional

fees and other corporate and public company expenses

We expect that general and administrative expenses will increase in absolute dollars in connection with

our continued efforts to add personnel lease additional office space and incur additional professional and legal

fees insurance costs and other expenses in connection with our growth and international expansion our

growing compliance requirements as public company and our ongoing legal proceedings and regulatory

investigations

Restructuring Costs

Restructuring costs incurred during 2009 included employee severance and other employee-related

termination costs The 2009 plan primarily involved reorganization of our sales and sales supporting

operation functions and was designed to enable us to operate more efficiently in still uncertain economic

environment and for continued expansion of our services into broader markets

Non-Operating Expenses

Non-operating expenses consist of interest expense related to our long-term debt net of interest

income generated from our short-term investments ii amortization of debt issuance costs which are being

amortized over the remaining life of loan iii foreign currency transactions gains and losses primarily driven

by fluctuations between the U.S Dollar Pound Sterling and Euro and iv fair value adjustments to our

interest rate swap
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In addition during the
year

ended December 31 2010 non-operating expenses included

loss on extinguishment of debt related to the repayment of our Holdings Senior P1K Credit Agreement

the P1K Loan and the accelerated recognition of deferred debt issuance costs due to the repayment of

outstanding amounts under our P1K Loan and Second Lien Credit Facility in 2010 using the net proceeds

from our August 2010 initial and our December 2010 and April 2011 follow-on public offerings See Note

to our Consolidated Financial Statements contained elsewhere in this Form 10-K for additional details

regarding the extinguishment of the P1K Loan and accelerated recognition of deferred debt issuance costs

Income Tax Provision Benefit

We are subject to income tax in the United States as well as other countries in which we conduct

business Earnings from our non-U.S activities are subject to local country income tax and may also be

subject to current U.S income tax Our effective tax rate differs from the statutory rate primarily as result of

stock-based compensation other non-deductible expenses research and development tax credits and foreign

operations

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our

consolidated financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with U.S GAAR The preparation

of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of

assets liabilities revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities on an

ongoing basis We evaluate these estimates including those related to the determination of the fair value of

stock options and estimated forfeitures of equity-based awards the fair value of our reporting unit valuation

of intangible assets and their related useful lives fair value of financial instruments certain components of

the income tax provisions including valuation allowances on the Companys deferred tax assets accruals for

certain compensation expenses allowances for doubtful accounts and reserves for customer credits We base

estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe to be

reasonable under the circumstances We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis Actual

results may differ from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions

We believe the following critical accounting policies among others affect our more significant judgments

and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements For further information on our critical and

other significant accounting policies see Note Summary of Significant Accounting Policies of our

consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K

Revenue Recognition We derive revenue principally through fixed commitment contracts under which

we provide customers various services including access to our cloud-based IntraLinks Platform including our

IntraLinks Exchanges as well as the related customer support and other services

We sell our services under service contracts that we consider either subscription or transaction

arrangements as follows

Subscription arrangements include those customer contracts with an initial term of 12 months or

more that automatically renew for successive terms of at least 12 months Because some long-term

customers will not accept automatic renewal terms we also consider among our subscription

customers those whose contracts have been extended upon mutual agreement for at least one

renewal term of at least 12 months We believe subscription arrangements appeal mainly to

customers that have integrated our service into their business processes and plan to use our

exchanges for series of expected projects Subscription arrangements afford customers several

benefits including the ability to manage the creation opening and closing of any number of

exchanges at their convenience during the commitment period and potentially lower pricing than

they would generally be charged under single-event contract

Transaction arrangements include those customer contracts having an initial term of less than

12 months We also consider transaction customers to be those first time customers whose contracts

do not have an automatic renewal clause and who have not yet renewed their contracts by mutual

agreement We believe these
types

of arrangements appeal mainly to customers who have single

discrete project Unlike subscription contracts which generally renew for at least one year at time
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transaction contracts continue in effect after their initial term on month to month basis until the

customer terminates often by closing the relevant exchange

Revenue from both subscription and transaction contracts is recognized ratably ovei the contracted

service period provided that there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement the service has been provided to

the customer collection is reasonably assured the amount of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed or

determinable and we have no significant remaining obligation at the completion of the contracted term In

circumstances where we have signilicant remaining obligation after completion of the initial contract term

revenue is recognized ratably over the extended service period Our contracts do not contain general rights of

return Certain of our contracts contain customer acceptance clauses for which revenue is deferred until

acceptance occurs

Under most subscription arrangements an annual fixed commitment fee is determined based on the

aggregate value of the expected number of exchanges required over the term the type of exchanges expected

to be opened the number of users that are expected to access each exchange and the volume of data expected

to be managed in the exchanges We bill customers with annual commitment fees in advance generally in

four equal quarterly installments Similarly transaction contract for single project will have fee covering

services for the expected duration of the project for which we generally bill customers in full in advance

upon the commencement of the contract Subscription and transaction fees payable in advance are recorded

initially in accounts receivable or cash upon their collection and deferred revenue until such time that the

relevant revenue recognition criteria have been met for such amounts to be included in revenue

Annual subscription fees as well as the fixed fees payable upfront under transaction contracts are

payable in full and are non-refundable regardless of actual usage
of services Similarly while customers may

close exchanges and cease using services our contracts generally do not allow for cancellation or termination

for convenience during the contract term We reserve the right under subscription and transaction contracts to

charge customers for loading data or adding users to exchanges in excess of their original usage estimates

Incremental fees for overages are billed monthly or quarterly in arrears and the related revenue is recognized

ratably from the point that the overage is measured through the remaining contract term or the remaining

contract quarter depending on the usage terms within the customer contract

Our customers do not have cotitractual right or the ability to take possession of the IntEaLinks

software at any time during the hosting period or to contract with an unrelated third party to host the

IntraLinks software Therefore revenue recognition for our services is not accounted for under the FASBs

specific guidance on software revenue recognition We recognize revenue for our services ratably over the

related service period as described above

We offer our services to customers through single-element and multiple-element arrangements some of

which contain offerings for optional services including document scanning data archiving and other

professional services In accordance with the FASBs guidance on multiple-deliverable arrangements we have

evaluated the deliverables in our arrangements to determine whether they represent separate units of

accounting specifically whether the deliverables have value to our customers on standalone basis We have

determined that the services delivered to customers under our existing arrangements generally represent

single unit of accounting Revenue for optional services is recognized as delivered or as completed provided

that the general revenue recognition criteria described above are met We will continue to evaluate the nature

of the services offered to customers under our fixed commitment contracts as well as our pricing practices to

determine if ôhange in policy regarding multiple-element arrangements and related disclosures is warranted

in future periods

Additionally certain contracts contain provisions for set-up and implementation services relating to the

customers use of our platform We believe that these set-up and implementation services provide value to the

customer over the entire period that the exchange is active including renewal periods and therefore the

revenue related to these services is recognized over the longer of the contract term or the estimated

relationship life which as of December 31 2011 generally ranged from two to four years We continue to

evaluate the length of the amortization period of the revenue related to set up and implementation fees as we

gain more experience with customer contract renewals
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From time to time we agree to sales concessions with our customers reserve for which is estimated

based on historical patterns of actual credits issued Expenses associated with maintaining this reserve are

recorded as reduction to revenue

Deferred revenue represents the billed but unearned portion of existing contracts for services to be

provided Deferred revenue does not include the unbilled portion of existing contractual commitments of our

customers Accordingly the deferred revenue balance does not represent the total contract value of outstanding

arrangements Amounts that have been invoiced but not yet collected are recorded as revenue or deferred

revenue as appropriate and are included in our accounts receivable balances Deferred revenue that will be

recognized during the subsequent 12-month period is classified as Deferred revenue with the remaining

portion as non-current deferred revenue as component of Other long-term liabilities on the Consolidated

Balance Sheets included elsewhere in this Form 10-K

Stock-Based Compensation We use the Black-S choles option pricing model to determine the fair value

of options granted under our 2007 Stock Option and Grant Plan and 2010 Equity Incentive Plan as well as

the rights awarded under our 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan ESPP Using this model fair value is

calculated based on assumptions with respect to expected volatility of the our Common Stock price ii the

expected life of the award which for options is the period of time over which employees and board directors

are expected to hold their options prior to exercise and for ESPP rights is the period of time between the

offering date and the exercise date as defined in Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements

iii expected dividend yield on our Common Stock and iv risk-free interest rate which is based on

quoted U.S Treasury rates for securities with maturities approximating the expected term The use of different

assumptions in the Black-Scholes pricing model would result in different amounts of stock-based

compensation expense Furthermore if different assumptions are used in future periods stock-based

compensation expense could be materially impacted in the future

The fair value of restricted shares of Common Stock RSA5 awarded under our 2007 Restricted

Preferred Stock Plan and the 2007 Stock Option and Grant Plan and restricted stock units RSUs awarded

under the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan is determined using the intrinsic value of the common stock at the time

of grant

The following table summarizes the weighted-average assumptions used to estimate the fair value of

options and ESPP rights granted during the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

ESPP Options ESPP Options Options

Expected volatility 49.7% 57.7% 43.1% 61.7% 77.0%

Expected life 0.24 Years 6.06 Years 0.25 Years 6.17 Years 5.94 Years

Risk free interest rate 0.06% 1.6% 02% 2.4% 2.6%

Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

We do not have significant history of market prices and as such we estimate volatility in accordance

with Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No 107 Share-Based Payment

SAB 107 using historical volatilities of similar public companies We based our analysis of expected

volatility on reported data for peer group of companies within our industry using an average of the

historical volatility measures of this peer group of companies We intend to continue to consistently apply this

process using the same or similar entities until sufficient amount of historical information regarding the

volatility of our own stock price becomes available or unless circumstances change such that the identified

entities are no longer similar to us In this latter case more suitable entities whose share prices are publicly

available would be utilized in the calculation Once sufficient amount of historical information regarding the

volatility of our share price becomes available we will utilize the closing prices of our publicly-traded stock

to determine our volatility The expected life of options has been determined using the simplified method as

prescribed by SAB 110 an amendment to SAB 107 which uses the midpoint between the vesting date and

the end of the contractual term We utilize the simplified method of determining the expected life of options

due to the limited period of time our common stock has been publicly traded thus resulting in lack of

sufficient historical exercise data in publicly traded environment to provide reasonable basis upon which to
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estimate expected term We intend to continue to consistently apply the simplified method until sufficient

amount of historical information regarding exercise data in publicly traded environment becomes available

The risk-free interest rate is based on quoted U.S Treasury rates for securities with maturities approximating

the awards expected term The expected dividend yield is zero as we never paid dividends and do not

currently anticipate paying any in the foreseeable future

Compensation expense for stock options is recorded over the requisite service period less estimated

forfeitures For grants of RSAs and RSUs we record compensation expense
based on the fair value of the

shares on the grant date over the requisite service period less estimated forfeitures Compensation expense for

ESPP rights is recorded in line with each respective offering period

We utilize an estimated forfeiture rate when calculating expense for the period We consider several

factors when estimating future forfeitures including types of awards employee level and historical experience

If this estimated rate changes in future periods due to different actual forfeitures our stock compensation

expense may increase or decrease significantly If there are any modifications or cancellations of the

underlying unvested securities or the terms of the awards we may be required to accelerate increase or cancel

any remaining unamortized share-based compensation

Income Taxes We account for income taxes on the asset and liability method Under this method
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences of net operating losses and

tax credit carryforwards and temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of

existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases Deferred taxes are measured using enacted tax

rates applicable to taxable income in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse The

effect on deferred taxes of change in tax rates is recognized in our results of operations in the period that

includes the enactment date

We assess whether it is necessary to establish valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets if

we conclude that it is more likely than not that some portion or all of our deferred tax assets will not be

realized Our evaluation includes assessing both positive e.g sources of taxable income and negative

e.g recent historical losses evidence potentially impacting their realizability

We recognize the impact of an uncertain tax position in our financial statements if based on the technical

merits of the position we believe it is more-likely-than-not sustainable upon audit This involves the

identification of potential uncertain tax positions the evaluation of tax law and an assessment of whether

liability for each uncertain tax position is necessary We operate and are subject to audit in multiple taxing

jurisdictions We record interest expense and penalties on uncertain tax positions as part of income tax

expense

Investments Our investment portfolio may at any time contain investments in U.S Treasury obligations

securities guaranteed by the U.S government certificates of deposit corporate notes and bonds medium-term

notes commercial paper and money market mutual funds each with original maturities less than one year

Our investments with original maturity dates in excess of three months are classified as short-term

investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets contained elsewhere in this Form 10-K Short-term

investments classified as trading securities are recorded at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recorded

to Other income expense net during each respective reporting period Short-term investments classified as

held-to-maturity are recorded at amortized cost Interest earned on short-term investments is recorded to

Interest income which is presented net of Interest expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations

included elsewhere in this Form 10-K

In periods prior to December 31 2010 our investment portfolio contained investments in auction rate

securities ARS with UBS which contained interest rate resets every 90 days or less but maturity dates in

excess of 90 days In November 2008 we entered into an agreement with UBS AG UBS providing us

with rights related to our investments in ARS the Rights The Rights permitted us to require UBS to

redeem the ARS at par value at any time during the period of June 30 2010 through July 2012 The

enforceability of the Rights resulted in separate freestanding instrument that was accounted for separately

from the ARS portfolio We elected to measure this instrument at fair value and also to classify the ARS as

trading securities in order to match the respective fluctuations in fair value recorded in the Consolidated
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Statement of Operations contained elsewhere in this Form 10-K The ARS were measured at fair value using

discounted cash flow approach The assumptions used in the discounted cash flow approach were based on

data available to us at each respective measurement date and included estimates of interest rates timing and

amount of cash flows credit and liquidity premiums and expected holding periods of the ARS We also valued

the Rights using discounted cash flow approach based on data available at each reporting date which

includes estimates of interest rates timing and amount of cash flows and an adjustment for any bearer risk

associated with UBSs financial ability to repurchase the ARS beginning June 30 2010 On July 2010 at

our request under the agreement TJBS redeemed the remaining ARS at par value Realized gains or losses on

ARS securities redeemed during the period were calculated based on the specific identification method

Fair Value of Financial Instruments The carrying amounts of our cash and cash equivalents

short-term investments classified as held-to-maturity accounts receivable accounts payable and other accrued

expenses approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments Short-term investments

classified as trading as well as our prior year
investments in auction rate securities were measured and

recorded at their respective fair values as described in Investments above See Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities below for discussion of our accounting policy for our interest rate swap

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts We evaluate the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts on

quarterly basis The evaluation includes historical loss experience length of time receivables are past due

adverse situations that may affect customers ability to repay and prevailing market conditions This

evaluation is inherently subjective and estimates may be revised as more information becomes available

Software Development Costs We account for the cost of computer software developed or obtained for

internal use of our application service by capitalizing qualifying costs which are incurred during the

application development stage and amortizing them over the expected period of benefit which we have

determined to be three years for most internally developed software beginning when the software is ready for

its intended use Costs incurred in the preliminary and post-implementation stages of our products are

expensed as incurred The amounts capitalized include external direct costs of services used in developing

internal-use software and for payroll and payroll-related costs of employees directly associated with the

development activities

Goodwill At December 31 2011 we had $215.5 million of goodwill recorded as result of the

Merger that occurred on June 15 2007 Goodwill is evaluated for impainnent on an annual basis or more

frequently if events or circumstances indicate that an impairment loss may have been incurred We have one

reporting unit that is evaluated in the annual impairment test which is performed annually each October

On September 15 2011 the FASB issued authoritative guidance which gives entities the option of

performing qualitative assessment of goodwill prior to calculating the fair value of reporting unit in step

of the goodwill impairment test If entities determine on the basis of qualitative factors that the fair value

of reporting unit is more likely than not less than the carrying amount the two-step impairment test is

required to be performed We adopted this newly issued authoritative guidance effective October 2011

We completed our most recent impairment analysis as of October 2011 Among the factors included in

our qualitative assessment were general economic conditions and the competitive environment ii actual

and expected financial performance including consideration of our revenue growth and improved operating

results year-over-year iii forward-looking business measurements iv external market conditions our

stock-price performance compared to overall market and industry peers vi our market capitalization and

vii other relevant entity-specific events Based on the results of the qualitative assessment we concluded that

it is more likely than not that the fair value of our reporting unit is more than its carrying amount and

therefore performance of the two-step quantitative impairment test was not necessary There were no

impairments of goodwill in any of the periods presented in the consolidated financial statements included

elsewhere within this Form 10-K
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The process of evaluating the potential impairment of goodwill is highly subjective and requires

significant judgment When performing the quantitative analysis we have utilized valuation techniques

consistent with the income approach and market approach to measure fair value for purposes of impairment

testing An estimate of fair value can be affected by many assumptions requiring that management make

significant judgments in arriving at these estimates including the expected operational performance of our

businesses in the future market conditions and other factors Although there are inherent uncertainties in this

assessment process the estimates and assumptions we use to estimate future cash flows including sales

growth pricing of our services market penetration competition technological obsolescence fair value of net

operating loss carryforwards and discount rates are consistent with our internal planning Significant

changes in these estimates and the related assumptions or changes in qualitative factors affecting us in the

future could result in an impairment charge related to our goodwill

Other Intangible and Long-Lived Assets Our definite-lived intangible assets include developed

technology customer relationships contractual backlog trade names and non-compete agreements Developed

technology and contractual backlog are being amortized over their estimated useful lives at accelerated rates

consistent with the expected future cash flows to be generated by the assets All other intangible assets are

amortized on straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives which we believe is consistent with the

expected future cash flows to be generated by the respective assets

Other long-lived assets primarily consist of computer and office equipment and software furniture and

fixtures and leasehold improvements which are subject to depreciation over the useful life of the asset The

useful lives of our definite-lived intangible and other long-lived assets are determined based on our estimate of

the period over which the asset will be utilized such periods are periodically reviewed for reasonableness We

may be required to change these estimates based on changes in our industry or other changing circumstances

If these estimates change in the future we may be required to recognize increased or decreased depreciation

expense for these assets

Other intangible and long-lived assets are evaluated for recoverability whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable In evaluating an asset for

recoverability we estimate the future cash flow expected to result from the use of the asset and eventual

disposition If the expected future undiscounted cash flow is less than the carrying amount of the asset an

impairment loss equal to the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of the asset is recognized No

impairments were recorded on long-lived assets for the periods presented in the consolidated financial

statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K

The process
of assessing potential impairment of our definite-lived intangible and long-lived assets is

highly subjective and requires significant judgment An estimate of future undiscounted cash flow can be

affected by many assumptions requiring that management make significant judgments in arriving at these

estimates which include sales growth pricing of our services market penetration competition and

technological obsolescence In each of the years presented we did not identify any indicators of impairment

related to our definite-lived intangible and long-lived assets and therefore were not required to assess

impairment utilizing an undiscounted cash flow model However significant future changes in these estimates

or their related assumptions could result in an impairment charge related to individual or groups of these

assets

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities We maintain an interest rate swap agreement to

economically hedge our exposure to changes in the amounts of future cash flows driven by the variable rates

associated with our long-term debt Our interest rate swap is recorded on the balance sheet at fair value The

fair value of the interest rate swap is measured each reporting period and includes credit valuation

adjustment that reflects consideration of our own credit risk since the interest rate swap is in liability

position Valuations may fluctuate considerably from period-to-period due to volatility in underlying interest

rates which is driven by market conditions and the duration of the derivative instrument We do not hold any

other derivatives and do not use financial instruments for any trading or other speculative purposes
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From the inception of the interest rate swap agreement through March 2009 the interest rate swap was

designated as cash flow hedge During this time hedge effectiveness was measured by comparing the

change in fair value of the hedged item with the change in fair value of the derivative instrument The

effective portion of the gain or loss of the hedge was recorded under the caption Accumulated other

comprehensive loss income on the Consolidated Balance Sheets included elsewhere in this Form 10-K In

March 2009 we amended certain provisions of the interest rate swap agreement which caused the instrument

to no longer qualify for hedge accounting Therefore as of the second quarter of 2009 all fair value

adjustments including the credit valuation adjustments are recorded under the caption Other income

expense net on the Consolidated Statements of Operations included elsewhere in this Form 10-K We

currently have no plans to re-designate the interest rate swap agreement as cash flow hedge and therefore

we expect all future fair value adjustments to be recorded in Other income expense net through the end

of the swap agreement in 2012

Warranties and lndemnfication Our revenue contracts generally provide for indemnification of

customers against liabilities arising from third party claims that are attributable to the breach of warranties or

infringement of third party intellectual property rights subject to contractual limitations of liability To date

we have not incurred any material costs as result of such indemnifications and have not accrued any

liabilities related to such obligations in the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this

Form 10-K as we currently have no infringement or warranty related disputes with customers or third parties

We have entered into service level agreements with minority of our customers warranting certain levels

of uptime reliability and permitting those customers to receive credits or terminate their arrangement in the

event that we fail to meet those levels To date we have not provided credits nor had any agreement cancelled

based on these service level agreements

We warrant that our service is provided in manner reasonably designed for the secure transmission of

customer data We do not monitor our exposure to customer contracts in terms of maximum payout In the

event of an infringement claim giving rise to indemnification liability we have the right to satisfy such

obligations by providing workaround or may suspend or terminate service to mitigate any liability We rely

on risk framework to define risk tolerances and establish limits to ensure that certain risk-related losses

occur within acceptable predefined limits Factors that we consider in determining exposure include the fact

that we disclaim liability for consequential and indirect damages including for loss of data resulting from any

breach of contract and that we to date have not had to do any make-good rework or been impacted by any

payout in connection with any of these guarantees Thus the potential for us to be required to make payments

under these arrangements is remote and accordingly no contingent liability is carried on the Consolidated

Balance Sheet included elsewhere in this Form 10-K for these transactions
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Results of Operations

Years Ended December 31

2011 2009

The following table sets forth consolidated statements of operations data for each of the periods indicated

as percentage of total revenues

2010

Revenue

Enterprise 44.3% 44.9% 39.3%

MA 39.2% 37.2% 36.1%

DCM 16.2% 17.9% 24.6%

Other revenue 0.3% 0.0% 0.0%

Total revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Cost of revenue 26.4% 25.8% 34.6%

Gross profit 73.6% 74.2% 65.4%

Operating expenses

Product development 8.7% 9.7% 10.1%

Sales and marketing 41.6% 43.0% 42.0%

General and administrative 19.1% 15.4% 14.6%

Restructuring costs L0% 00% 1.1%

Total operating expenses 694% 68.2% 67.8%

Income loss from operations 4.1% 6.1% 2.4%
Interest expense net 5.0% 13.4% 20.6%

Amortization of debt issuance costs 06% 1.7% 1.3%

Loss on extinguishment of debt 0.0% 2.7% 0.0%

Other income expense net 1.5% 1.5% 6.4%

Net loss before income tax 0.0% 10.2% 30.7%

Income tax provision benefit 0.6% 3.5% 13.1%

Net loss 6% 7% 17.6%

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31 2011 and 2010

Revenue

Total revenue increased to $213.5 million for the
year ended December 31 2011 from $184.3 million for

the year ended December 31 2010 The following table sets forth revenues by principal market for the year

ended December 31 2011 compared to the year ended December 31 2010 the percentage increase or

decrease between those periods and the percentage of total revenue that each principal market represented for

those periods

Revenue

Years Ended December 31 Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 Increase Increase 2011 2010

Enterprise 94588 82767 $11821 14.3% 44.3% 44.9%

MA 83763 68604 15159 22.1% 39.2% 37.2%

DCM 34539 32961 1578 4.8% 16.2% 17.9%

Other revenue 614 614 100.0% 0.3% 0.0%

Total revenue $213504 $184332 $29172 15.8% 100.0% 100.0%
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Enterprise The results for the year ended December 31 2011 reflect an increase in Enterprise principal

market revenue of $11.8 million or 14.3% as compared to the year ended December 31 2010 The increase

in Enterprise revenue in 2011 as compared to the prior year was driven by an increased customer base larger

contract values for new customers as well as higher exchange utilization This activity reflects the wider

adoption of our services across customers organizations We attribute this growth to our increased investment

in Enterprise-related product development initiatives additional sales head count and marketing resources

dedicated to this market

MA The results for the
year

ended December 31 2011 reflect an increase in MA principal market

revenue of $15.2 million or 22.1% as compared to the
year

ended December 31 2010 The increase in

MA revenue in 2011 as compared to the prior year reflects higher volume of business transactions during

year
ended December 31 2011 compared to the prior period as well as our believed capture of market share

from our competition and wider geographic focus through new markets

DCM The results for the year ended December 31 2011 reflect an increase in DCM principal market

revenue of $1.6 million or 4.8% as compared to the
year

ended December 31 2010 The increase in

DCM revenue was primarily driven by the improved overall market conditions specific to DCM and as

result we experienced greater service utilization and higher subscription overages

Other Revenue The results for the year ended December 31 2011 included $0.6 million of business

interruption insurance proceeds received during the period as result of claim filed for lost revenue from an

interruption to our operations caused by water damage to one of our primary facilities from fire on floor

above There were no comparable amounts received or recorded during the prior year comparable period

As percentage of total revenue revenue from subscription arrangements decreased to approximately

54% in 2011 from 59% in 2010 as result of the increased contribution of revenue from the MA principal

market which is primarily transaction-based During the year ended December 31 2011 our renewal rate

with respect to our subscription customers on per-customer absolute dollar commitment basis decreased to

89% from 104% in 2010 primarily due to reductions in our customers spending levels combined with the

availability and functionality of competing products and services in the DCM market

For the year ended December 31 2011 approximately 24% of the contracts we entered into with our

customers were based in foreign currency Comparatiyely during the year ended December 31 2010

approximately 17% of the contracts we entered into with our customers were based in foreign currency

Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are recorded in Other income expense net on the

Consolidated Statement of Operations See Non-Operating Expenses below for comparative discussion

regarding foreign currency transaction gains and losses See also Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative

Disclosures about Market Risk within this Form 10-K for additional details regarding our foreign currency

exchange risk

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

The following table presents cost of revenue gross profit and gross margin for the year ended

December 31 2011 compared to the year ended December 31 2010

Years Ended December 31
Increase

2011 2010 Decrease Increase

Cost of revenue 56385 47496 8889 18.7%

Gross profit $157119 $136836 $20283 14.8%

Gross margin 73.6% 74.2% 0.6%

The results for the year ended December 31 2011 reflect an increase in cost of revenue of $8.9 million

or 18.7% as compared to the year ended December 31 2010 The increase in cost of revenue in 2011 as

compared to the prior year was attributed primarily to an increase of $2.7 million in amortization of

capitalized software costs reflecting an expanded product portfolio ii an increase of $2.0 million in

headcount-related expenses primarily salaries required to support our revenue growth iii an increase of

$0.9 million in hosting costs to support revenue growth continued data capacity needs and the establishment

of new hosting location in the United Kingdom iv $0.7 million increase in rent costs primarily due to
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the expansions of our research and development headquarters in Charlestown Massachusetts to support our

growing employee base and an increase of $0.3 million in recruitment charges to support growth plans

Cost of revenue as percentage of revenue was 26.4% for the year ended December 31 2011 compared to

25.8% for the year ended December 31 2010 driving decrease in gross margin of 0.6 percentage points for

the year ended December 31 2011

Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses for the year ended December 31 2011 increased by approximately

$22.6 million or 18.0% as compared to the year ended December 31 2010

The following table presents the components of operating expenses for the year ended December 31

2011 compared to the year ended December 31 2010

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 Increase Increase

Product development 18579 17953 626 3.5%

Sales and marketing 88872 79251 9621 12.1%

General and administrative 40808 28435 12373 43.5%

Total operating expenses $148259 $125639 $22620 18.0%

Product Development The results for year ended December 31 2011 reflect 3.5% increase in product

development expense of $0.6 million as compared to the year ended December 31 2010 The increase in

product development expense in 2011 as compared to prior year was primarily driven by an increase of

$2.0 million in headcount-related expenses in line with our plan to continue to invest in our expanded product

portfolio and an increase of $0.8 million in rent costs primarily due to the expansions of our office locations

to support our growing employee base This increase was partially offset by $2.3 million of additional

development expense on launched platforms and commencement of various development initiatives that were

capitalized in accordance with our accounting policies Product development expense as percentage of

revenue was 8.7% and 9.7% for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

Total product development costs comprise both capitalized software and product development expense

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 Increase Increase

Capitalized software $18718 $16128 $2590 16.1%

Product development expense 18579 17953 626 3.5%

Total product development costs $37297 $34081 $3216 9.4%

For the year ended December 31 2011 product development costs totaled $37.3 million comprised of

$18.7 million of capitalized software related to product development enhancements and $18.6 million in

product development expense For the year ended December 31 2010 product development costs totaled

$34.1 million comprised of $16.1 million of capitalized software related to product development

enhancements and $18.0 million of product development expense The increase in total product development

costs of $3.2 million or 9.4% reflects additional development expense on launched platforms and

commencement of various development initiatives as well as expansions of our office locations to support our

growing employee base Total product development cost as percentage of revenue was 17.5% for the
year

ended December 31 2011 compared to 18.5% for the year ended December 31 2010

Sales and Marketing The results for the year ended December 31 2011 reflect an increase in sales and

marketing expense of $9.6 million or 12.1% as compared to the year ended December 31 2010 The

increase in sales and marketing expense in 2011 as compared to the prior year was primarily driven by an

increase of $5.1 million in headcount-related expenses primarily salaries bonus and benefits which is

partially offset by decrease in recruiting costs of $0.4 million as result of timing of new-hires within the

sales organization and less reliance on outside recruiting consultants ii an increase of $1.8 million related to

marketing programs and initiatives tied to specific initiatives and brand awareness and iii an increase of

$3.4 million in sales commission expense which reflects both the higher level of sales achieved during the
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period by our internal sales representatives and our channel partners as well as the impact of the revised 2011

commission plan for our internal sales representatives as compared to the 2010 plan Sales and marketing

expense as percentage of revenue was 41.6% for the year ended December 31 2011 compared to 43.0% for

the year ended December 31 2010

General and Administrative The results of the
year

ended December 31 2011 reflect an increase in

general and administrative expense of $12.4 million or 43.5% as compared to the year ended December 31

2010 The increase in general and administrative expense in 2011 as compared to the prior year was

primarily driven by an increase of $2.8 million in headcount-related expenses primarily salaries reflecting

additional headcount necessary to support the growth strategy of our business and our public company status

ii an increase of $3.0 million in stock-based compensation costs iii an increase of $2.2 million in

professional services to support international expansion and improvements in business systems iv an

increase of $0.7 million in insurance costs primarily for directors and officers insurance coverage and an

increase of $1.2 million in companywide internal software license and maintenance costs driven by system

improvements and additional licenses to accommodate increased headcount General and administrative

expense as percentage of revenue was 19.1% for the year ended December 31 2011 compared to 15.4% for

the
year ended December 31 2010

Non-Operating Expenses

The following table presents the components of non-operating expenses for the year ended December 31

2011 compared to the year ended December 31 2010

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 Decrease Decrease

Interest expense net $10645 $24724 $14079 56.9%
Amortization of debt issuance costs 1369 3084 1715 55.6%
Loss on extinguishment of debt 4974 4974 100.0%
Other income expense net 3123 2722 401 14.7%

Interest Expense Net

Interest expense net for the year ended December 31 2011 decreased by $14.1 million or 56.9% as

compared to the
year ended December 31 2010 The decrease was primarily driven by the use of net

proceeds from our initial public stock offering in August 2010 and follow-on public stock offerings in

December 2010 and April 2011 to repay total of $206.1 million of our outstanding debt Interest expense

net represented 5.0% and 13.4% of total revenue for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010

respectively In our Consolidated Statements of Operations interest expense is shown net of interest income

Interest income for the years ended December 31 2Olland 2010 was not material

Amortization of Debt Issuance Costs

Amortization of debt issuance costs for the
year ended December 31 2011 decreased by $1.7 million or

55.6% as compared to the year ended December 31 2010 primarily due to acceleration of amortization of

$0.7 million in 2010 representing the
pro rata share of the original debt issuance costs incurred during the

2007 merger transaction as it relates to the portion of debt that was paid down during year ended

December 31 2010 In addition to the acceleration of the original debt issuance costs we also incurred

$0.5 million in issuance costs during the year ended December 31 2010 related to the amendment of the

First and Second Lien Credit Facilities which allowed us to change the priority of repayment and use the net

proceeds from our initial public offering to first reduce outstanding indebtedness under the P1K Loan with

portion of the remaining proceeds applied to Tranche and of the Second Lien Credit Facility on pro

rata basis Amortization of debt issuance costs for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 was

approximately 0.6% and 1.7% of total revenue respectively
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Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

During the
year

ended December 31 2010 we recorded $5.0 million as loss on extinguishment of

debt which included 4% prepayment penalty on the P1K Loan totaling $4.1 million $0.7 million in

accelerated recognition of original issuance costs and $0.2 million in issuance costs related to the amendment

of the First and Second Lien Credit Facilities No comparable costs were incurred during the year ended

December 31 2011

Other Income Expense Net

The major component of Other income expense net is the fair value adjustment to our interest rate

swap Other income net for the year ended December 31 2011 was $3.1 million primarily driven by

decrease of $4.2 million in the fair value of our interest rate swap liability partially offset by $0.9 million in

foreign currency transaction losses Other income net for the year ended December 31 2010 was

$2.7 million primarily consisted of $2.8 million gain on our interest rate swap

Income Tax Provision Benefit

For the year ended December 31 2011 our income tax expense totaled $1.2 million representing an

effective tax rate of 3970.2% The 2011 effective tax rate resulted from the magnitude of our pre-tax loss

relative to non-deductible
expenses for tax purposes Our 2011 pre-tax loss was $31 thousand while taxable

income was approximately $20.0 million Comparatively for the year ended December 31 2010 our income

tax benefit totaled $6.4 million representing an effective tax rate of 34.1% Our 2010 pre-tax book loss was

$18.8 million and we reported taxable loss of $6.4 million The differences between our effective tax rates

and the U.S statutory income tax rate of 35% resulted primarily from stock-based compensation expense

other non-deductible expenses state income taxes foreign taxes and research and development tax credits

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31 2010 and 2009

Revenue

Years Ended December 31
Increase Increase

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 Decrease Decrease 2010 2009

Enterprise 82767 55353 $27414 49.5% 44.9% 39.3%

MA 68604 50741 17863 35.2% 37.2% 36.1%

DCM 32961 34605 1644 -4.8% 17.9% 24.6%

Total Revenue $184332 $140699 $43633 31.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Enterprise The results for the year ended December 31 2010 reflect an increase in Enterprise principal

market revenue of $27.4 million or 49.5% as compared to the year ended December 31 2009 The

year-over-year increase in Enterprise principal market revenue was primarily driven by an increased customer

base increased average contract values compared to historic levels as well as higher renewal levels on an

absolute dollar basis for existing customers This activity reflects both wider adoption of our services across

customers organizations and greater utilization of our services than customers initially expected thus resulting

in increased overage fees and higher renewal levels

MA The results for the
year

ended December 31 2010 reflect an increase in MA principal market

revenue of $17.9 million or 35.2% as compared to the year ended December 31 2009 The
year-over-year

increase in MA principal market revenue was primarily driven by improved global economic conditions

resulting in increased volume of transactions in the overall market and also reflects the capture of market

share from our competition and increased average contract values over the prior year

DCM The results for the year ended December 31 2010 reflect decrease in DCM principal market

revenue of $1.6 million or 4.8% as compared to the year ended December 31 2009 The year-over-year

decrease reflected the impact of marginally lower average contract values In light of the slower recovery of

the loan credit markets throughout most of 2010 our experience indicated that clients were adopting

cautious stance regarding upfront annual commitment levels
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As percentage of total revenue revenue from subscription arrangements grew from approximately 57%

in 2009 to 59% in 2010 During the year ended December 31 2010 our renewal rate with respect to these

subscription customers on per-customer absolute dollar commitment basis increased to 104%

For the year ended December 31 2010 approximately 17% of the contracts we entered into with our

customers were based in foreign currency Comparatively during the year ended December 31 2009

approximately 8% of the contracts we entered into with our customers were based in foreign currency

Foreign exchange transaction gains and losses are recorded in Other income expense net on the

Consolidated Statement of Operations

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Years Ended December 31 Inc Increase

2010 2009 Decrease Decrease

Cost of revenue 47496 $48721 $1225 2.5%

Gross profit $136836 $91978 $44858 48.8%

Gross margin 74.2% 65.4% 8.9%

The results for the year ended December 31 2010 reflect decrease in cost of revenue of $1.2 million

or 2.5% as compared to the year ended December 31 2009 The
year-over-year decrease in cost of revenue

was attributed primarily to $6.2 million scheduled decrease in amortization of definite-lived intangible

assets This decrease in cost of revenue was partially offset by $2.8 million increase in amortization of

capitalized software costs an increase of $1.1 million in costs associated with our client service centers and

$0.8 million increase in software maintenance and license fees all reflecting the growth of and Costs to

support the business This decrease in cost of revenue coupled with the increase in total revenue described

above drove improvements in gross margin of 8.9 percentage points from 65.4% to 74.2% for the year ended

December 31 2010 on year-over-year basis

Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses for the year ended December 31 2010 increased by approximately

$30.3 million or 31.8% as compared to the
year

ended December 31 2009

The following table sets forth the components of operating expenses for the year ended December 31

2010 compared to the year ended December 31 2009

Years Ended December 31
Increase Increase

2010 2009 Decrease Decrease

Product development 17953 $14222 3731 26.2%

Sales and marketing 79251 59058 20193 34.2%

General and administrative 28435 20556 7879 38.3%

Restructuring costs 1494 1494 100.0%

Total operating expenses $125639 $95330 $30309 31.8%

Product Development Results for the
year

ended December 31 2010 reflect an increase in product

development expense of $3.7 million or 26.2% as compared to the year ended December 31 2009 The

year-over-year increase in product development expense was primarily driven by increased support and

maintenance costs largely headcount-related reflecting an expanded product portfolio Product development

expense as percentage of revenue was 9.7% for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to 10.1% for

the year ended December 31 2009
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Total product development costs comprise both capitalized software and product development expense

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 Increase Increase

Capitalized software $16128 $10279 $5849 56.9%

Product development expense 17953 14222 3731 26.2%

Total product development costs $34081 $24501 $9580 39.1%

For the year ended December 31 2010 total product development costs were $34.1 million and included

$16.1 million of capitalized software related to product development enhancements and $18.0 million in

product development expense For the year ended December 31 2009 total product development costs were

$24.5 million and included $10.3 million of capitalized software related to product development

enhancements and $14.2 million of product development expense The increase in total product development

costs of $9.6 million or 39.1% reflects higher level of spending to support our expanded focus on

Enterprise-related and geography-related initiatives as well as increased support and maintenance costs

reflecting an expanded product portfolio Total product development costs as percentage of revenue was

18.5% for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to 17.5% for the year ended December 31 2009

Sales and Marketing The results for the year ended December 31 2010 reflect an increase in sales and

marketing expense of $20.2 million or 34.2% as compared to the ydar ended December 31 2009 The

year-over-year increase in sales and marketing expense was primarily driven by $9.4 million increase in

headcount related expenses including recruitment which reflects the expansion of the sales function in line

with growth plans particularly around the Enterprise principal market ii $4.7 million increase in travel

and entertainment expenses driven by increased headcount wider geographic focus and the costs of our

worldwide annual sales conference which was reinstated for 2010 iii $2.9 million in additional

expenditures on marketing programs and initiatives as well as consulting and marketing research projects and

iv $1.0 million in additional non-cash stock compensation charges as result of the year ended

December 31 2010 representing full
year of expense as compared to the year

ended December 31 2009

due to awards being granted to sales executives during the third quarter of 2009 therefore resulting in less

than full year of expense Sales and marketing expense as percentage of revenue was 42.7% for the year

ended December 31 2010 compared to 42.0% for the year ended December 31 2009

General and Administrative The results of the year ended December 31 2010 reflect an increase in

general and administrative
expense

of $7.9 million or 8.3% as compared to the year ended December 31

2009 The
year-over-year increase in general and administrative costs was primarily driven by our overall

growth strategy and our transition from privately held to public company specifically $1.4 million in

increased professional and advisory fees incurred in setting up our new global entity organization

structure ii $1.3 million increase in costs for temporary services and consultants iii $1.0 million in

additional software maintenance and licensing costs to upgrade our various back-office support systems and

iv $0.6 million increase in depreciation expense as result of capital expenditures made during 2009 and

2010 Additionally we incurred $1.4 million of expenses related to our third quarter initial public offering and

fourth quarter follow-on offering as well as $1.0 million of ongoing public company operating costs not

incurred in the prior year including headcount-related and professional fees We also recorded an increase of

$0.8 million in non-cash stock-based compensation expenses related to additional awards granted throughout

2010 These increases were partially offset by credit of $0.9 million recorded to general and administrative

expenses during the first quarter of 2010 representing reversal of an accrual for corporate non-income

taxes for which we had no liability as of March 31 2010 General and administrative expense as percentage

of revenue was 15.4% for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to 14.6% for the year ended

December 31 2009

Restructuring Costs Restructuring costs of $1.5 million incurred during the year ended December 31

2009 included employee severance and other employee related termination costs for which we have no

comparable costs during the current year period The 2009 restructuring plan primarily involved

reorganization of our sales and sales supporting operation functions and was designed to enable us to operate

more efficiently in still uncertain economic environment and for continued expansion of our services into

broader markets

52



Non-Operating Expenses

The following table presents the components of non-operating expenses for the year ended December 31

2010 compared to the year ended December 31 2009

Years Ended December 31
Increase Increase

2010 2009 Decrease Decrease

Interest expense net $24724 $28935 4211 146%
Amortization of debt issuance costs 3084 1872 1212 64.7%

Loss on extinguishment of debt 4974 4974 100.0%

Other income expense net 2722 9027 $1 1749 130.2%

Interest Expense Net

Interest expense net for the
year ended December 31 2010 decreased by $4.2 million or 14.6% as

compared to the
year

ended December 31 2009 The decrease was primarily driven by the use of the initial

public offering and follow-on offering net proceeds to repay $171.5 million of our debt during the year ended

December 31 2010 Interest expense net represented 13.4% and 20.6% of revenue for the years ended

December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively In our consolidated statement of operations interest expense is

shown net of interest income Interest income for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 was

not material

Amortization of Debt Issuance Costs

Amortization of debt issuance costs for the year ended December 31 2010 increased by $1.2 million or

64.7% as compared to the year ended December 31 2009 primarily due to the accelerated recognition of

approximately $0.7 million in deferred debt issuance costs incurred during the 2007 merger transaction The

recognition of these costs was accelerated during 2010 due to the repayment of the P1K Loan and Second

Lien Credit Facility using the net proceeds from the initial public and follow-on offerings During the year

ended December 31 2010 we also recognized approximately $0.5 million in arrangement fees related to the

amendments of the First and Second Lien Credit Facilities during 2010 which allowed us to change the

priority of repayment and use the net proceeds from the initial public offering and follow-on offering to first

reduce outstanding indebtedness under the P1K Loan then Tranches and of the Second Lien Credit

Facility The balance of the deferred debt issuance costs will be amortized over the term of the remaining

loan using the effective interest rate method Amortization of debt issuance costs for the years ended

December 31 2010 and 2009 was approximately 1.7% and 1.3% of total revenue respectively

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

During the
year ended December 31 2010 we recorded $5.0 million as loss on extinguishment of debt

which included 4% prepayment penalty on the P1K Loan totaling $4.1 million $0.7 million in accelerated

recognition of original issuance costs and $0.2 million in issuance costs related to the amendment of the

First and Second Lien Credit Facilities which allowed us to change the priority of repayment and use the net

proceeds from the initial public offering to repay the outstanding indebtedness under the P1K Loan No

comparable costs were incurred during the year ended December 31 2009

Other Income Expense Net

The major component of Other income expense net is the fair value adjustment to our interest rate

swap Other income for the year ended December 31 2010 was $2.7 million compared to other expense of

$9.0 million for the year ended December 31 2009 Other income for the year ended December 31 2010

primarily consisted of $2.8 million gain on the interest rate swap Other expense for the year ended

December 31 2009 included reclassification of $10.7 million from accumulated other comprehensive income

within the consolidated balance sheet due to the determination that our interest rate swap no longer qualified

for hedge accounting under the FASBs standards see Note to our consolidated financial statements in

Item of this Form 10-K for additional details regarding the accounting treatment of the interest rate swap

prior to March 31 2009 The $10.7 million recorded to other expense during the year ended December 31
2009 represents cumulative fair value adjustments that were made through accumulated other comprehensive

income during the period that the hedge was determined to be effective for accounting purposes The $10.7
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million
expense recorded in the first quarter of 2009 was partially offset by gains of approximately

$2.3 million on the interest rate swap recognized during the remainder of 2009

Income Twc Provision Benefit

For the years ended December 31 2010 and December 31 2009 our income tax benefit totaled $6.4

million and $18.4 million respectively representing effective tax rates of 34.1% and 42.6% respectively The

2010 effective tax rate was reduced primarily by $2.2 million benefit related to change in the

apportionment methodology used to determine our state tax liability For the
year

ended December 31 2009
the Company recorded pre-tax book loss of $43.1 million and reported taxable income of $14.2 million

The differences between our effective tax rates and the U.S statutory income tax rate of 35% resulted

primarily from stock-based compensation expense other non-deductible expenses state income taxes foreign

taxes and research and development tax credits
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Quarterly Results of Operations

The following tables set forth selected unaudited quarterly statements of operations data for the eight

quarters ended December 31 2011 The information for each of these quarters has been prepared on the same

basis as the audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K and in the

opinion of management includes all adjustments necessary for the fair presentation of the results of operations

for these periods This data should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements

and related notes included elsewhere in this Form 10-K These quarterly operating results are not necessarily

indicative of our operating results for any future period

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011

Consolidated

Statement of

Operations Data

Enterprise $18017 $19717 $22082 $22951 $24044 $22583 $24502 $23459

MA 14201 16224 18153 20026 20276 20990 21548 20949

DCM 7713 8468 7639 9141 7980 9763 8269 8527

Other revenue 107 507

Total Revenue 39931 44409 47874 52118 52407 53336 54826 52935

Costofrevenue 11476 11555 11916 12549 13616 14137 14439 14193

Gross profit 28455 32854 35958 39569 38791 39199 40387 38742

Gross margin 71.3% 74.0% 75.1% 75.9% 74.0% 73.5% 73.7% 73.2%

Operating expenses

Product development 4283 4461 5030 4179 6068 5036 3587 3888

Sales and marketing 19020 19106 20130 20995 21243 22484 23734 21411

General and

administrative 5510 7595 7234 8096 9826 9617 10292 11073

Total operating

expenses 28813 31162 32394 33270 37137 37137 37613 36372

Loss income from

operations 358 1692 3564 6299 1654 2062 2774 2370

Interest expense net 7028 7109 5862 4725 2993 2602 2552 2498

Amortization of debt

issuance costs 457 457 1111 1059 367 574 214 214

Loss on

extinguishment

of debt 4974

Other expense

income net 73 361 919 1515 1928 1134 515 576
Net loss income

before

income tax 7916 5513 7464 2030 222 20 507 234

Income tax
çbenefit

provision 2438 1568 3433 1012 261 13 1271 2731

Net loss incomet $5478 $3945 $4031 1018 483 764 $2497

Adjusted EBITDA2 $11829 $14189 $16668 $19865 $15783 $16379 $18022 $16070

Adjusted EBITDA

margin 29.6% 32.0% 34.8% 38.1% 30.1% 30.7% 32.9% 30.4%

During the financial close process for the year ended December 31 2010 we identified an error totaling approximately

$1.5 million representing reduction of the income tax benefit recorded as discrete item during the three months ended

September 30 2010 related to change in the apportionment methodology used to determine our state tax liability The results of

operations for the three months ended September 30 2010 as presented in the table above have been revised to reflect the

correction of this error in the proper period We believe that the adjustment noted above was not material to the consolidated

financial statements for the period in which the error originated and therefore we have not restated our historical consolidated

interim financial statements for this period These revisions will be presented prospectively in future
filings
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Net loss income

Interest expense net

Income tax benefit

provision

Depreciation and

amortization

Amortization of

intangible assets

Stock-based

compensation

expense

Amortization of debt

issuance Costs

Loss on

extinguishment of

debt

Other expense

income net

Costs related to initial

public and follow-on

offerings

Adjusted EBITDA
______ ______

$18022 $16070

See footnote above

Seasonality

Renewal dates for our subscription contracts are typically spread over the course of the year We

generally experience greater concentration of renewals in the second and fourth fiscal quarters However

since our revenues are recognized ratably over the related service period and contracts are generally invoiced

in advance either annually or on quarterly basis over the contract period the impact on our revenue is not

material We typically experience seasonality in our cash flows used in operating activities in the first quarter

of each year which is described in more detail in Liquidity and Capital Resources below

Geographical Concentrations

We operate globally with approximately 60% of total revenues derived from customers located within the

United States and the remaining 40% derived from customers located internationally Revenue derived from

customers located in the United Kingdom during the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 was

$27.7 million $19.2 million and $15.6 million or 13.0% 10.4% and 11.1% of total revenue respectively No

other individual foreign country accounted for more than 10% of our revenue during these periods We hold

fixed assets in four locations the United States United Kingdom Germany and Brazil No country outside of

the United States holds greater than 10% of our total fixed assets

Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

54726 35564 25072

59953 19541 15984

1455 3961 3235
43

3773 19986 5810

The table below provides reconciliation between the non-U.S GAAP financial measure of Adjusted EB1TDA discussed above to the

comparable U.S GAAP measure of net loss income For additional details regarding non-GAAP disclosures refer to Non-GAAP
Financial Measures contained elsewhere within this Item 7Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and

Results of Operations

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011

$5478 $3945 $403l 1018 483 764 $2497

7028 7109 5862 4725 2992 2602 2552 2499

7218 7208 7157

2438 1568 3433 1012 261 13 1271 2731

3345 4262 4531 4844 4948 5256 5197 4598

7158 7156 7159 7157 7158

753 991 1102 1369 1972 1899 2894 1943

457 457 1111 1059 367 574 214 214

4974

73 361 919 1515 1928 1134

871 36 314 195 54

$11829 $14189 $16668 $19865 $15783 $16379

515 576

Cash provided by operating activities

Cash used in investing activities

Cash provided by used in financing activities

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents

Net decrease increase in cash and cash equivalents
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Operating Activities

Cash flows provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31 2011 were

$54.7 million primarily as result of $53.0 million in cash generated by operations and net increase in our

operating assets and liabilities of $1.7 million This net increase in operating assets and liabilities primarily

consisted of $2.7 million increase in accounts receivable offset by $2.4 million increase in deferred

revenue primarily driven by an increase in business activity for the period resulting in higher invoicing and

ii an increase of $1.9 million of accrued expenses
and other liabilities primarily driven by timing of

payments Additionally cash flows provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31 2011

consisted of net loss of $1.2 million plus the impact of non-cash items including amortization of intangible

assets of $28.6 million depreciation and amortization of $20.0 million non-cash stock-based compensation of

$8.7 million and an unrealized gain on the interest rate swap of $4.2 million

Cash flows provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31 2010 were

$35.6 million primarily driven by $40.8 million in cash generated by operations partially offset by net

decrease in our operating assets and liabilities of $5.2 million This net decrease in operating assets and

liabilities primarily consisted of an $11.7 million increase in accounts receivable partially offset

by $11.4 million increase in deferred revenue driven by an increase in business activity during the period

ii $4.7 million decrease in accounts payable due to timing of payments iii $3.1 million increase in

prepaid expenses and other assets primarily related to the timing of contractual and statutory obligations

offset by iv an increase of $2.7 million of accrued expenses and other liabilities driven by timing of

payments Cash flows provided by operating activities of $35.6 million were inclusive of net loss of

$12.4 million offset by total non-cash charges of $53.2 million Significant non-cash adjustments to net loss

included amortization of intangible assets of $28.7 million ii depreciation and amortization of

$17.0 million iii non-cash interest expense totaling $5.6 million iv $5.0 million loss on extinguishment

of debt $4.2 million of stock-based compensation expense vi $3.0 million in amortization of debt

issuance costs offset by vii change in deferred taxes of $7.9 million and viii an increase in the fair value

of our interest rate swap of $2.8 million

Cash flows provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31 2009 were

$25.1 million primarily driven by $24.1 million in cash generated by operations as well as contribution of

$1.0 million from operating assets and liabilities consisting of $4.7 million increase in accounts payable

related to invoices received late in the year but not yet paid at December 31 2009 and ii $1.7 million

increase in deferred revenue driven by the growth of the business partially offset by iii $3.5 million

increase in accounts receivable due to increased invoicing and iv $2.4 million increase in prepaid expenses

and other assets due to increased deposits and prepayments on future business commitments Cash flows

provided by operating activities of $25.1 million were inclusive of net loss of $24.8 million offset by total

non-cash charges of $48.9 million Significant non-cash adjustments to net loss included amortization of

intangible assets of $34.9 million ii depreciation and amortization of $11.6 million iii non-cash interest

expense of $8.7 million iv decrease in the fair value of our interest rate swap of $8.4 million offset by

change in deferred taxes of $19.3 million

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 were $60.0

million $19.5 million and $16.0 million respectively Cash used in investing activities included purchases of

investments during years
ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 which totaled $40.1 million $4.3 million

and nil respectively and consisted primarily of commercial
paper

and
corporate bonds in 2011 and bank time

deposits with maturities greater than three months in 2010 Sales and maturities of investments during the

years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 totaled $4.0 million and $7.8 million respectively Maturities of

investments in 2011 were for our investments in commercial paper Sale of investments in 2010 consisted

primarily of redemptions of our auction rate securities and maturities of our bank time deposits purchased

during the year Cash used in investing activities related to capital expenditures for infrastructure during the

years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 were $5.1 million $6.9 million and $5.8 million

respectively Investments in capitalized software development costs for the years ended December 31 2011

2010 and 2009 were $18.7 million $16.1 million and $10.3 million respectively Capital expenditures

inclusive of capitalized software development costs are limited to $21.0 million
per year

based on the terms
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of our First Lien Credit Facility This limit is increased or decreased by the under or over spend respectively

compared to the base amount from the prior year The annual maximum capital expenditure limit may be

further increased at our option by borrowing 25% from the succeeding year For the year
ended

December 31 2011 our maximum capital expenditures limit after considering the adjustments described

above was $24.5 million of which $24.4 million was utilized

Financing Activilies

Cash flows provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31 2011 was $1.5 million

primarily consisting of $2.6 million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock pursuant to exercises of

stock options and our ESPP as well as $35.0 million received in connection with our successful follow-on

public stock offering which closed in April 2011 The cash received was partially offset by $35.7 million of

debt repayments made during the year ended December 31 2011 including our mandatory quarterly debt

repayments and the voluntary prepayment on our First Lien Credit Facility using the net proceeds from our

April 2011 follow-on public stock offering Additionally during the
year ended December 31 2011 we

incurred $0.5 million of costs associated with our public offerings

Cash flows provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31 2010 were $3.8 million

primarily consisting of $182.8 million in net proceeds from our initial public offering and follow-on offering

including the underwriters exercise of their over-allotment option partially offset by $171.5 million in

payments made on our outstanding long-term debt including the repayment of all outstanding indebtedness

under the P1K Loan and Second Lien Credit Facility as well as $4.1 million prepayment penalty on the

P1K Loan during the year ended December 31 2010 Additionally in the year ended December 31 2010 we

paid $1.7 million in arrangement and amendment fees relating to debt financing costs Cash flows used in

financing activities for the year ended December 31 2009 were $3.2 million primarily consisting of

$3.2 million of principal payments on our outstanding long-term debt

The First Lien Credit Facility provided for term loans in the aggregate principal amount of

$135.0 million Prior to June 30 2011 each quarterly installment payment was equal to $0.3 million The

terms of our First Lien Credit Agreement require any voluntary prepayment of our term loans to be applied on

pro rata basis to each scheduled installment of principal As of June 30 2011 the quarterly installment

payments decreased to $0.2 million as result of the voluntary prepayment made in April 2011 Each principal

payment is due on the last day of each quarter which commenced on September 30 2007 and continues for

27 installments with the balance due in final installment on June 15 2014 Additionally the First Lien

Credit Facility includes requirement for mandatory prepayments of 50% of our excess free cash flow as

measured on an annual basis Excess free cash flow is generally defined as our adjusted EB1TDA less debt

service costs capital expenditures current income taxes paid and any cash security deposits made in respect

of leases for office space as adjusted for changes in our working capital As result of our fiscal 2009 excess

free cash flow we made mandatory prepayment on April 2010 of approximately $1.2 million In line with

the terms of the First Lien Credit Facility excess cash flow mandatory payments were not required for fiscal

years 2010 and 2011 due to our Consolidated Leverage Ratio as defined in the credit agreement being less

than 3.25 at December 31 2010 and 2011

The term loans under the First Lien Credit Facility as amended bear interest at the higher of the

Eurodollar Rate as defined in the First Lien Credit Facility or 1.50% plus 4.25% per annum which was

5.75% at December 31 2011 Interest payments on the First Lien Credit Facility are due on the last business

day of each month The First Lien Credit Facility also provides for $15.0 million revolving line of credit of

which $12.9 million was unused as of December 31 2011 As of December 31 2011 $1.3 million of the

revolving line of credit was reserved for standby letters of credit for several of our operating lease agreements

related to our various office locations Additionally $0.8 million of the revolving line of credit was reserved

for standby letter of credit related to our corporate charge card utilized by executives and certain

other employees

The First Lien Credit Facility is secured by security interests and liens against all of our assets including

pledge of 100% of the equity interests in our domestic subsidiaries and an obligation to pledge 65% of the

equity interests in our direct foreign subsidiaries
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All obligations under the First Lien Credit Facility are unconditionally guaranteed by our direct and

indirect domestic subsidiaries These guarantees are secured by substantially all the present and future property

of the guarantors

Additionally in July 2007 we entered into an interest rate swap agreement to fix the interest rate on our

variable rate debt at 5.43% on beginning notional amount of $170.0 million The notional amount amortizes

over period ending June 30 2012 and was $90.0 million at December 31 2011 In March 2009 in

conjunction with the elections made on the First and Second Lien Credit Facilities variable rate bases from

three-month LIBOR to one-month LIBOR and quarterly interest payments to monthly we amended the

interest rate swap agreement to mirror the terms of the First and Second Lien Credit Facilities The fixed rate

payable on the interest rate swap was also revised from 5.43% to 5.25% which was the rate in effect at

December 31 2011 and 2010 The variable rate receivable is based on one-month LIBOR

Prior to the repayment of our Second Lien Credit Facility during the year ended December 31 2010 the

Second Lien Credit Facility provided for two tranches of term loans Tranche in the amount of

$30.0 million and Tranche in the amount of $35.0 million Tranche bore interest at the rate of 11.0% per

annum and Tranche bore interest at the Eurodollar Rate plus 5.75% The Second Lien Credit Facility was

paid in full at December 31 2010

Prior to the repayment of our P1K Loan during the year ended December 31 2010 the P1K Loan

provided for loans in the amount of $75.0 million and bore interest at rate of 13.0% During the

three months ended March 31 2010 we elected to pay the quarterly interest of $3.2 million in cash The

P1K Loan was paid in full at December 31 2010

Cash paid for interest on the loans described above during the years ended December 31 2011 2010

and 2009 was $10.7 million $19.9 million and $20.1 million respectively

Covenants

The borrowings under the First Lien Credit Facility are subject to certain affirmative and negative

covenants both financial and non-financial These covenants include the timely submission of unqualified

audited financial statements to the lender as well as customary restrictions on certain activities including the

following which are subject to lender approval with certain exceptions

incurring additional indebtedness other than in the normal course of business

creating liens or other encumbrances on our assets

engaging in merger or acquisition transactions

capital expenditures

making investments and

entering into asset sale agreements or paying dividends or making distributions on and in certain

cases repurchasing our stock

As it relates to capital expenditures the terms of our First Lien Credit Facility limit us to consolidated

capital expenditures including amounts related to capitalized software of $21.0 million per year which is

increased or decreased by the under or over spend respectively compared to the base amount from the prior

year The annual maximum capital expenditure limit may be further increased at our option by borrowing

25% from the succeeding year For the year ended December 31 2011 our maximum capital expenditures

limit after considering the adjustments described above was $24.5 million of which $24.4 million was

utilized

Additionally in order to borrow against the revolving line of credit under the First Lien Credit Facility

our senior secured debt to Consolidated EB1TDA ratio as defined under the First Lien Credit Facility for the

trailing four quarters must be less than 6.5 to 1.0 as of the last day of each fiscal quarter through the maturity

date Our senior secured debt to Consolidated EBITDA ratio at December 31 2011 was 1.40

We were in compliance with all of our financial and non-financial covenants as of December 31 2011

These agreements also contain customary events of default including but not limited to cross-defaults among

59



these agreements Although we currently expect to remain in compliance with these existing covenants any

breach of these covenants or change in control could result in default and subsequent cross-defaults under

the credit agreements which could cause all of the outstanding indebtedness to become immediately due and

payable and terminate all commitments to extend further credit

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We currently use the net cash generated from operations to fund our working capital needs as well as our

capital expenditure and debt service requirements Our available financing arrangements include $15.0

million revolving line of credit of which $12.9 million is available to us as of December 31 2011 At

December 31 2011 we had approximately $46.7 million in cash and cash equivalents $36.1 million in

short-term investments and $38.9 million in accounts receivable net of allowances for doubtful accounts and

credit reserves We believe that barring unforeseen circumstances we have sufficient cash resources to

continue operations for at least the next 12 to 24 months

In connection with our initial public stock offering in August 2010 and the exercise by the underwriters

of the related over-allotment option shortly thereafter we received total net proceeds of approximately

$144.8 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions In December 2010 in connection

with our follow-on public stock offering we received net proceeds of $38.0 million after deducting

underwriting discounts and commissions Tn April 2011 in connection with our follow-on public stock

offering we received net proceeds of $34.6 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions

We used substantially all of the net proceeds from our public stock offerings to repay indebtedness We used

the net proceeds from our initial public stock offering to first reduce our outstanding indebtedness under the

P1K Loan with portion of the remaining proceeds as well as the proceeds from the underwriters exercise

of their over-allotment option to repay Tranche and Tranche of the Second Lien Credit Facility on pro

rate basis The net proceeds from the December follow-on public stock offering were used to pay the

remaining outstanding balance of the Second Lien Credit Facility The net proceeds from the April follow-on

public stock offering were used to prepay portion of the amount outstanding under our First Lien Credit

Facility This overall reduction of our outstanding indebtedness has significantly reduced the total interest

expense we expect to pay in future periods

The credit markets have experienced disruption that reached unprecedented levels during late 2008 and

2009 and more recently in 2011 The disruption in the financial markets has affected some of the financial

institutions with which we do business continued sustained decline in the stability of these financial

institutions could adversely affect our access to financing as well as our revenue growth due to our customer

base in the MA DCM principal markets Additionally if the national or global economy or credit market

conditions in general were to deteriorate further it is possible that such changes could adversely affect our

credit ratings among other things including our ability to obtain external financing or to refinance our

existing indebtedness

There has been no change in our credit rating since Standard Poors lifted our corporate credit rating

from to BB- with stable outlook on June 30 2011 Additionally there has been no change in our

issue-level rating on our First Lien Credit Facility since the rating was raised to BB from BB on June 30

2011 in conjunction with the corporate credit rating change

Our corporate credit ratings and outlooks as of December 31 2011 are summarized in the table below

Rating Agency Rating Outlook

Moodys Bi Stable

Standard Poors BB- Stable

Credit rating agencies review their ratings periodically and therefore the credit rating assigned to us by

each agency may be subject to revision at any time Factors that can affect our credit ratings include changes

in our operating performance economic environment our financial position conditions in any of our principal

markets and changes in our business
strategy If weak financial market conditions or competitive dynamics

cause any of these factors to deteriorate we could see reduction in our corporate credit rating

60



Changes in our credit rating could adversely impact the interest rates on our First Lien Credit Facility

Provided that at any time our corporate credit rating is stable from Moodys and at least stable from

Standard Poors our Eurodollar rate margin will be 4.25% If our credit rating were to decline our

Eurodollar rate margin would increase to 4.50%

Contractual Obligations and Coimnitments

The following table sets forth as of December 31 2011 certain significant cash obligations that will

affect our future liquidity

Less than 35 More than

Total year Years Years years

Long-term debt including current

portion 92355 1191 91049 115

Interest on long-term debt 15063 6985 8069

Operating leases 26741 3067 7219 5680 10775

Third-party hosting commitments 6574 3207 3367

Other contractual commitments

including interest 564 150 301 113

Total $141297 $14600 $110005 $5917 $10775

Long-Term Debt and Interest on Long-Term Debt

Cash obligations on long-term debt presented in the table above represent scheduled principal payments

due in each respective period

Interest on long-term debt consists of expected interest payments on the First Lien Credit Facility through

its maturity date based on the assumptions regarding the amount of debt outstanding and assumed interest

rates The assumed interest rate on the First Lien Credit Facility was 5.75% representing 1.5% LIBOR floor

plus 4.25% spread In addition this amount reflects the impact of the interest rate swap on the variable rate

debt for which we expect to pay fixed rate of 5.25% through June 2012

In June 2011 we entered into financing arrangement in the amount of $1.2 million for third party

software including financing costs of $0.1 million to be repaid over term of 49 months In December 2011

we entered into second financing arrangement in the amount of $0.2 million to be repaid over term of 25

months for licensing and support of internal systems

Operating Leases and Third-party Hosting Commitments

Our principal executive office in New York New York occupies approximately 66832 square feet This

space is comprised of 43304 square feet that are subject to lease agreement that expires in July 2021 and

23528 square feet that are subject to sublease agreement that expires in December 2013 In addition our

research and development facilities in Charlestown Massachusetts occupy 36557 square feet under lease

that expires in December 2015

We also occupy space in London Chicago Sªo Paolo Hong Kong Frankfurt Sydney Melbourne Paris

and San Francisco for our sales and services activities We believe that our facilities are adequate for our

current needs However we may obtain additional office space to house additional services personnel in the

near future and we may require other additional office
space as our business grows The future minimum

lease payments of the new lease are included in the above table

Our commitments to our third-party hosting provider expire in December 2013 Our hosting obligations

are largely impacted by service expansion requirements in line with the growth of our business

Uncertain Tax Positions

Tax reserves for uncertain tax positions excluding interest and penalties totaling $3.2 million and

$2.6 million at December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively are included in Other long term liabilities on the

consolidated balance sheet The net increase of $0.6 million in 2011 resulted from $0.5 million related to

current-year tax positions and $0.2 million for prior year tax positions offset by $0.1 million release of
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reserves due to expirations of the Statute of Limitations in certain jurisdictions We do not expect the balance

of unrecognized tax benefits to significantly increase or decrease over the next twelve months We are not able

to reasonably estimate when we would make cash payments required to settle these liabilities beyond the

next twelve months but we do not believe that the ultimate settlement of our obligations will materially

affect our liquidity

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not currently have and did not have during the periods presented any off-balance sheet

arrangements as defined under SEC rules such as relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial

partnerships which are often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities established for the

purpose of facilitating financing transactions that are not required to be reflected on our consolidated

balance sheets

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

We refer to Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion regarding the expected impact

of the adoption of certain accounting pronouncements on future period consolidated financial statements
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ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The following discussion should be read together with our consolidated financial statements and related

notes to consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Interest Rate Sensitivity

Term loans under the First Lien Credit Agreement as amended bear interest at the higher of the

Eurodollar Rate or 1.5% plus 4.25% per annum Although the interest on our First Lien Credit Facility is

defined as variable the existence of the Eurodollar Rate floor of 1.5% has caused us in recent years to not be

subject to market risks related to fluctuations in interest rates because the Eurodollar Rate has been

considerably lower than 1.5% If the Eurodollar Rate were to rise above 1.5% our results of operations

specifically interest expense on the First Lien Credit Facility would be subject to market risk

The fair value of the interest rate swap is measured each reporting period and includes credit valuation

adjustment that reflects consideration of our credit risk since the interest rate swap is in liability position

The fair value measurement of the swap may fluctuate considerably from period-to-period due to volatility in

underlying interest rates which is driven by market conditions and the duration of the swap In both of the

years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 10% increase or decrease in interest rates would have resulted in

an increase or decrease of $0.1 million to Other income expense net within our consolidated statement

of operations

The primary objectives of our investment activities are to preserve principal provide liquidity and

maximize income without significantly increasing risk Some of the securities we invest in are subject to

market risk This means that change in prevailing interest rates may cause value of the investment to

fluctuate To minimize this risk we maintain our portfolio of cash and cash equivalents and short-term

investments in variety of securities including money market funds certificates of deposit U.S treasuries

commercial paper and corporate debt securities 10% decrease in interest rates in the year ended

December 31 2011 or the year ended December 31 2010 would not have had material impact on total

dollar basis on our interest income during those periods respectively due to the immateriality of the interest

income generated by our investments during those periods

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

During the year ended December 31 2011 approximately 40% of our revenues were generated from

sales across 63 countries outside of the United States Our results of operations and cash flows are subject to

fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates particularly between the U.S Dollar Pound Sterling and Euro

During the year ended December 31 2011 the currency markets experienced significant fluctuations which

caused us to incur foreign currency transaction losses of $0.9 million in those respective periods During the

year ended December 31 2010 we incurred foreign currency transaction losses of $0.4 million

The debt crisis in Europe has resulted in uncertainty with the stability of the Euro Efforts to prevent the

collapse of Euro member economies have proven effective and continued progress is prevalent in early 2012

With significant portion of our revenue being generated in Europe our European operations are subject to

risk if the Euro were to be devalued For example the effect of 10% devaluation in the Euro on our revenue

generating activities in Europe would have resulted in an additional $0.4 million recorded as loss to our

Other income expense net within our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended

December 31 2011 Comparatively an appreciation in the Euro of 10% on our revenue generating activities

in Europe would have resulted in an additional $0.4 million recorded as gain to our Other income

expense net within our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31 2011

In addition significant portion of our revenue generating activities are in the United Kingdom For

example the effect of 10% devaluation in the Pound Sterling on our revenue generating activities in the

United Kingdom would have resulted in an additional $0.3 million recorded as gain to our Other income

expense net within our consolidated statement of operations for the
year ended December 31 2011

Comparatively an appreciation in the Pound Sterling of 10% on our revenue generating activities in the

United Kingdom would have resulted in an additional $0.3 million recorded as loss to our Other income

expense net within our consolidated statement of operations for the
year ended December 31 2011

63



Inflation Risk

Our monetary assets consisting primarily of cash cash equivalents and investments are not affected

significantly by inflation because they are short-term We believe the impact of inflation on replacement costs

of equipment furniture and leasehold improvements will not materially affect our operations The rate of

inflation however affects our cost of revenue and expenses such as those for employee compensation which

may not be readily recoverable in the price of the services offered by us
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of IntraLinks Holdings Inc

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly in all

material respects the financial position of IntraLinks Holdings Inc and its subsidiaries at December 31 2011

and December 31 2010 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in

the period ended December 31 2011 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America In addition in our opinion the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying

index presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with

the related consolidated financial statements Also in our opinion the Company did not maintain in all material

respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 based on criteria

established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Conmiittee of Sponsoring Organizations

of the Treadway Commission COSO because material weakness in internal control over financial reporting

related to the review of the calculation of the Companys maximum annual capital expenditures allowed under

related covenant set forth in the Companys First Lien Credit Facility existed as of that date material

weakness is deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting such that

there is reasonable possibility that material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will

not be prevented or detected on timely basis The material weakness referred to above is described in

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A We considered

this material weakness in determining the nature timing and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the

2011 consolidated financial statements and our opinion regarding the effectiveness of the Companys internal

control over financial reporting does not affect our opinion on those consolidated financial statements The

Companys management is responsible for these financial statements and financial statement schedule for

maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of

internal control over financial reporting included in managements report referred to above Our responsibility

is to express opinions on these financial statements on the financial statement schedule and on the Companys
internal control over financial reporting based on our audits which was an integrated audit in 2011 We
conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control

over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audits of the financial statements included

examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management and evaluating the

overall financial statement presentation Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining

an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists

and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk

Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances

We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinions

companys internal control over financial reporting is
process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes

in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company ii provide

reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are

being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and iii

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

/slPricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

New York New York

March 20 2012

66



INTRALINKS HOLDINGS INC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

In Thousands Except Share and per Share Data

December 31

2011 2010

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 46694 50467

Accounts receivable net of allowances of $2149 and $2418 respectively 38895 37137

Investments 36120

Deferred taxes 12711 18264

Prepaid expenses 4238 5916

Other current assets 4567 2457

Total current assets 143225 114241

Fixed assets net 7635 8075

Capitalized software net 30287 25676

Goodwill 215478 215478

Other intangibles net 132233 160863

Other assets 1483 2022

Total assets $530341 $526355

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 4934 4191

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 19846 22444

Deferred revenue 40309 38043

Total current liabilities 65089 64678

Long term debt 91164 125886

Deferred taxes 39384 46103

Other long term liabilities 2874 2244

Total liabilities 198511 238911

Commitments and contingencies Note 16

Stockholders equity

Undesignated Preferred Stock $0.00 par value 10000000 shares

authorized shares issued and outstanding as of December 31 2011 and

December 31 2010

Common stock $0.00 par value 300000000 shares authorized 54248178
and 52387374 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31 2011

and December 31 2010 respectively 54 52

Additional paid-in capital 411781 365962

Accumulated deficit 80056 78813
Accumulated other comprehensive income 51 243

Total stockholders equity 331830 287444

Total liabilities and stockholders equity $530341 $526355

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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INTRALINKS HOLDINGS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

In Thousands Except Share and per Share Data

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Revenue 212890 184332 140699

Other revenue 614

Total revenue 213504 184332 140699

Cost of revenue 56385 47496 48721

Gross profit 157119 136836 91978

Operating expenses

Product development 18579 17953 14222

Sales and marketing 88872 79251 59058

General and administrative 40808 28435 20556

Restructuring costs 1494

Total operating expenses 148259 125639 95330

Income loss from operations 8860 11197 3352
Interest expense net 10645 24724 28935

Amortization of debt issuance costs 1369 3084 1872

Loss on extinguishment of debt 4974

Other income expense net 3123 2722 9027

Net loss before income tax 31 18863 43186

Income tax provision benefit 1212 6427 18415

Net loss 1243 12436 24771

Net loss per common share

Basic 0.02 0.58 15.38

Diluted 0.02 0.58 15.38

Weighted average number of shares used in calculating net

loss per share

Basic 53381655 21310284 1611090

Diluted 53381655 21310284 1611090

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Balance at January 2009

Foreign currency translation

adjustment net of tax

Recognized loss on derivatives

net of tax

Net loss

Total comprehensive loss for

2009

Forfeiture of Restricted

Unvested Stock

Exercise of stock options for

Common Stock

Issuance of Restricted Common

Stock

Stock-based compensation

expense

Balance at December 31
2009

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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INTRALINKS HOLDINGS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PRE1JRRED STOCK
AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY AND COMPREHJNSiVE LOSS INCOME

In Thousands Except Share and per Share Data

Shares Amount

Series

Redeemable

Convertible

Preferred Common
Stock Stock

35893705 2855161

28818 18125

59383

256250

35864887 3152669

Series

Redeemable Accumulated

Convertible Additional Other

Preferred Common Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive
Stock Stock Capital Deficit Loss Income Total

$36 $178712 41606 $5765 $131380

214 214

6019 6019

24771 4771

---- 18966

142 142

94 94

2080 2080

$36 $3 $180744 66377 40 $114446



INTRALINKS HOLDINGS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PREPERRED STOCK
AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS INCOME

In Thousands Except Share and per Share Data

Shares Amount

Series Series Accumulated

Redeemable Redeemable Additional Other

Preferred Common Preferred Common Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive
Stock Stock Stock Stock Capital Deficit Loss Income Total

Balance at January 2010 35864887 3152669 36 $180744 66377 40 $114446

Foreign currency translation

adjustment net of tax 203 203

Net loss 12436 12436

Total comprehensive loss for

2010 12233

Proceeds from initial public

and follow-on offerings

including underwriters

overallotment shares net of

offering costs 13980000 14 180276 180290

Conversion of Preferred Stock

to Common Stock 35863269 35101716 36 35

Forfeiture of Restricted

Unvested Common Stock 1618 122143

Exercise of stock options for

Common Stock 256136 516 516

Issuance of common stock in

connection with employee

stock purchase plan 18996 210 210

Stock-based compensation

expense 4223 4223

Balance at December 31
2010 52387374 $52 $365962 78813 $243 $287444

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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INTRALINKS HOLDINGS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PREFERRED STOCK
AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS INCOME

In Thousands Except Share and per Share Data

Shares Amount

Series Series

Redeemable Redeemable Accumulated

Convertible Convertible Additional Other

Preferred Common Preferred Common Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive
Stock Stock Stock Stock Capital Deficit Income Total

Balance at January 2011 52387374 $52 $365962 $78813 243 $287444

Foreign currency
translation

adjustment net of tax 192 192
Net loss 1243 1243
Total comprehensive loss for

2011 1435
Proceeds from follow-on

offering including

underwriters overallotment

shares net of offering costs 1437500 34486 34487

Forfeiture of Restricted

Unvested Common Stock 187679

Exercise of stock options for

Common Stock 412050 1374 1374

Issuance of Common Stock in

connection with employee

stock purchase plan 127876 1251 1251

Issuance of Restricted Common

Stock 71057

Stock-based compensation

expense 8708 8708

Balance at December 31
20111 54248178 $54 $411781 $80056 51 $331830

Amounts may not add due to rounding

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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INTRALINKS HOLDINGS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
In Thousands

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Net loss 1243 12436 $24771
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating

activities

Depreciation and amortization 19999 16982 11567

Stock-based compensation expense 8708 4223 2080

Forfeiture of restricted common stock 142
Amortization of intangible assets 28630 28741 34939

Amortization of deferred costs 1472 3084 1872

Provision for bad debts and customer credits 931 508 539

Loss gain on disposal of fixed assets 228 224 75

Change in deferred taxes 1166 7901 19341
Gain loss on interest rate swap 4193 2778 8427

Currency remeasurement gain 318
Loss on extinguishment of debt 4974

Non-cash interest expense 5648 8878

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable 2692 11662 3479
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1804 2479 2418
Other assets 1092 558 598

Accounts payable 765 4673 4685

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 1928 2728 132
Deferred revenue 2389 11395 1695

Net cash provided by operating activities 54726 35564 25072

Cash flows from investing activities

Capital expenditures 5115 6863 5755
Capitalized software development costs 18718 16128 10279
Purchase of short-term investments 40120 4320
Sale and maturity of short-term investments 4000 7770 50

Net cash used in investing activities 59953 19541 15984
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 1374 516 94

Proceeds from issuance of common stock 1251 210

Offering costs paid in connection with initial public offering and

follow-on offerings 516 2365
Capital lease payments 27 119

Payment of financing costs 1663
Proceeds from follow-on offering net of underwriting discounts

and commissions 35003 182838

Repayments of outstanding principal on long-term debt 35657 171456 3210

Prepayment penalty on P1K loan 4092
Net cash provided by used in financing activities 1455 3961 3235
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash

equivalents 43
Net decrease increase in cash and cash equivalents 3773 19986 5810

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 50467 30481 24671

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 46694 50467 30481

Supplemental Schedule of Cash Flow Information

Cash paid during the period for

Interest 10666 19881 20121

Income tax 3181 1358 498

Non-cash transactions during the period for

Fair value of assets acquired 1325

Liabilities assumed 1325

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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INTRALINKS HOLDINGS INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In Thousands Except Share and per Share Data

Organization and Description of Business

IntraLinks Holdings Inc IntraLinks Holdings and its subsidiaries collectively the Company is

leading global provider of Software-as-a-Service SanS solutions for securely managing content

exchanging critical business information and collaborating within and among organizations The Companys

cloud-based solutions enable organizations to control track search and exchange time-sensitive information

inside and outside of the firewall all within secure and easy-to-use environment The Companys customers

rely on its cost-effective solutions to manage large amounts of electronic information accelerate

information-intensive business processes reduce time to market optimize critical information workfiow meet

regulatory and risk management requirements and collaborate with business counterparties in secure

auditable and compliant manner The Company helps its customers eliminate the inherent risks and

inefficiencies of using email fax courier services and other existing solutions to collaborate and

exchange information

The Company was incorporated in Delaware as IntraLinks Inc in June 1996 In June 2007 the

Company completed merger the Merger pursuant to which IntraLinks Inc became wholly-owned

subsidiary of TA Indigo Holding Corporation Delaware corporation formed by an investor group led by

TA Associates Inc prominent growth private equity firm and Rho Capital Partners Inc an investment and

venture capital management company and one of the principal investors in IntraLinks Inc since 2001 In

2010 the Company changed the name of TA Indigo Holding Corporation to IntraLinks Holdings Inc and

on August 2010 the Securities and Exchange Commission declared effective the Companys registration

statement on Form S-i in connection with its initial public offering of 11000000 shares of common stock

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts

of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries prepared in conformity with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States of America U.S GAAP All intercompany balances and

transactions have been eliminated in consolidation

Use of Estimates The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S GAAP

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and

liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial

statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting period

Significant estimates and assumptions made by management include the determination of the fair value of

stock options and estimated forfeitures of equity-based awards fair value of the Companys reporting unit

valuation of intangible assets and their related useful lives fair value of financial instruments certain

components of the income tax provisions including valuation allowances on the Companys deferred tax

assets accruals for certain compensation expenses allowances for doubtful accounts and reserves for customer

credits The Company bases estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on various other factors

that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances The Company evaluates its estimates and

assumptions on an ongoing basis Actual results could differ from those estimates

Comparative Data Certain prior year financial statement line items and disclosures have been

reclassified to conform to the current years presentation

Out-of-period Adjustments During the financial statement close process for the three months ended

March 31 2010 the Company identified prior period errors totaling approximately $850 which were

corrected and recorded as credit to general and administrative expense during the three months ended

March 31 2010 The adjustment totaling approximately $850 represents the cumulative effect of prior

period over-accruals related to the Companys corporate non-income tax liabilities principally originating in

the years ended December 31 2005 and 2006 as well as an escrow receivable balance that was received

during the year ended December 31 2009 and recorded as reduction to expense during that period The
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Company does not believe that the adjustments noted above were material to the consolidated financial

statements for the periods in which the errors originated and in which they were corrected and thus has not

resiated its consolidated financial statements for these periods

During the financial statement close process for the period ended December 31 2010 the Company
identified an error totaling approximately $1518 representing reduction of the income tax benefit recorded

as discrete item during the three months ended September 30 2010 related to change in the Companys

apportionment methodology used to determine its state tax liability as presented in the Quarterly Results of

Operations table in item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations within this Form 10-K The results of operations for the three months ended September 30 2010

have been revised to reflect the correction of this error The Company believes that the adjustment was not

material to the consolidated financial statements for the period ended September 30 2010 and therefore has

not restated its consolidated financial statements for the period ended September 30 2010 These revisions had

no impact on the annual results of operations for the year ended December 31 2010

Revenue Recognition The Company derives revenue principally through fixed commitment contracts

under which the Company provides customers various services including access to the cloud-based IntràLinks

Platform including IntraLinks Exchanges as well as the related customer support and other services The

Companys customers do not have coniractual right or the ability to take possession of the IntraLinks

software at any time during the hosting period or contract with an unrelated third party to host the IntraLinks

software Therefore revenue recognition for the Companys services is not accounted for under the Financial

Accounting Standards Boards FASB specific guidance on software revenue recognition The Company

recognizes revenue for its services ratably over the related service period provided that there is persuasive

evidence of an arrangement the service has been provided to the customer collection is reasonably assured

the amount of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed or determinable and the Company has no significant

remaining obligation at the completion of the contracted term In circumstances where the Company has

significant remaining obligation after completion of the initial contract term revenue is recognized ratably

over the extended service period The Companys contracts do not contain general rights of return Certain of

the Companys contracts contain customer acceptance clauses for which revenue is deferred until

acceptance occurs

From time to time the Company agrees to sales concessions with its customers reserve for which is

estimated based on historical patterns of actual credits issued Expenses associated with maintaining this

reserve are recorded as reduction to revenue which the Company believes represents an accurate reflection

of the underlying business activity for each reporting period and is in line with the requirement that all

revenue recognized during the period is earned and çealizable

The Company offers services to customers through single-element and multiple-element arrangements

some of which contain offerings for optional services including document scanning data archiving and other

professional services In accordance with the FASBs guidance on multiple-deliverable arrangements the

Company has evaluated the deliverables in its arrangements to determine whether they represent separate units

of accounting specifically whether the deliverables have value to the Companys customers on standalone

basis The Company has determined that the services delivered to customers under its existing arrangements

generally represent single unit of accounting Revenue for optional services is recognized as delivered or as

completed provided that the general revenue recognition criteria described above are met The Company
continues to evaluate the nature of the services offered to customers under its fixed commitment contracts as

well as its pricing practices to determine if change in policy regarding multiple-element arrangements and

related disclosures is warranted in future periods

Additionally certain contracts contain provisions for set-up and implementation services relating to the

customers use of the IntraLinks Platform The Company believes that these set-up and implementation
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services provide value to the customer over the entire period that the exchange is active including renewal

periods and therefore the revenue related to these set-up types of services are recognized over the longer

the contract term or the estimated relationship life which as of December 31 2011 generally ranged from

two to four years The Company will continue to evaluate the length of the amortization period of the revenue

related to set up and implementation fees to determine if change in policy is warranted in futureperiods

The Company operates in one reportable segment its management assessing financial performance and

making operating decisions based on one single operating unit However the Company monitors certain

revenue metrics and trends by principal markets as defined below

Enterprise comprises customers spanning variety of industries including financial services

pharmaceutical biotechnology consumer energy industrial legal insurance real estate and

technology who use the Companys services for wide range of corporate purposes primarily under

subscription arrangements

Mergers Acquisitions MA comprises customers across the same variety of industries

described above who use IntraLinks exchanges for project-based transactions such as mergers

acquisitions and dispositions These customers are referred to the Company typically by financial or

legal advisors involved in the respective transactions This principal market is generally

characterized by the use of the IntraLinks Platform under transaction arrangements

Debt Capital Markets DCM primarily comprises customers within the financial services industry

who use IntraLinks exchanges for loan syndication and administration and is generally characterized

by the use of the IntraLinks Platform under subscription arrangements

The following table sets forth the Companys revenue by principle market

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Enterprise 94588 82767 55353

MA 83763 68604 50741

DCM 34539 32961 34605

Other revenue 614

Total revenue $213504 $184332 $140699

Other Revenues On November 25 2008 one of the Companys primary facilities sustained water

damage from fire on floor above resulting in an interruption to the Companys operations The Company

filed claim under its business interruption insurance policy for lost revenue caused by the down-time

experienced subsequent to the loss event The Company received insurance proceeds totaling $614 during the

year ended December 31 2011 in response to its business interruption claim Business interruption insurance

proceeds are classified as Other revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended

December 31 2011

Deferred Revenue Deferred revenue represents the billed but unearned portion of existing contracts for

services to be provided Deferred revenue does not include future potential revenue represented by the

unbilled portion of existing contractual commitments of the Companys customers Accordingly the deferred

revenue balance does not represent the total contract value of outstanding arrangements However amounts

that have been invoiced are recorded as revenue or deferred revenue as appropriate and are included in the

Companys accounts receivable balances Deferred revenue that will be recognized during the subsequent

12-month period is classified as Deferred revenue with the remaining portion as non-current deferred

revenue as component of Other long-term liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets
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Stock-Based Compensation The fair value of each option granted from the Companys 2007 Stock

Option and Grant Plan and 2010 Equity Incentive Plan and the fair value of the Employee Stock Purchase

Plan ESPP nghts granted from the 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan was esUmated on the date of

grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model see Note 12 for further details Using this model fair

value is calculated based on assumptions with respect to expected volatility of the Companys Common

Stock price ii the expected life of the award which for options is the period of time over which employees

and board directors are expected to hold their options prior to exercise and for ESPP rights is the period of

time between the offering date and the exercise date as defined in Note 12 in expected dividend yield on

the Companys Common Stock and iv risk-free interest rate which is based on quoted U.S Treasury rates

for securities with maturities approximating the expected term Expected volatility is estimated based on the

Companys public peer group The expected life of options has been determined using the simplified

method as prescribed by SAB 110 an amendment to SAB 107 which uses the midpoint between the vesting

date and the end of the contractual term The expected dividend yield is zero as the Company has never paid

dividends and does not currently anticipate paying any in the foreseeable future

Compensation expense for stock options is recorded over the requisite service period less estimated

forfeitures For grants of restricted Common Stock awards RSAs and restricted stock units RSUs the

Company records compensation expense based on the fair value of the shares on the grant date over the

requisite service period less estimated forfeitures Compensation expense
for ESPP rights is recorded in line

with each respective offering period

Forfeitures of options RSAs and RSUs are estimated at the grant date and reduce the compensation

recognized The Company considers several factors when estimating future forfeitures including types of

awards employee grade level and historical experience Actual forfeitures may differ from current estimates

Sales Commissions Commissions payable to the Companys sales staff are expensed in the period the

related sales efforts are performed Commission expense was $14170 $10749 and $9810 respectively for

the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 All amounts noted are included within Sales and

marketing in the Consolidated Statements of Operations

Advertising The Company expenses
the cost for producing and communicating advertising and

promoting its services when incurred

Income Taxes The Company accounts for income taxes on the asset and liability method prescribed by

ASC 740 Income Taxes Under this method deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future

tax consequences of differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and

liabilities and their respective tax bases as well as net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards Deferred

taxes are measured using enacted tax rates expected to be applied to taxable income in the years
in which

those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled The effect on deferred taxes of change

in tax rates is recognized in results of operations in the period that includes the enactment date

Each reporting period the Company assesses whether its deferred tax assets are more-likely-than-not

realizable in determining whether it is necessary to record valuation allowance This includes evaluating

both positive e.g sources of taxable income and negative e.g recent historical losses evidence that could

impact the realizability of the Companys deferred tax assets

The Company recognizes the impact of an uncertain tax position in its financial statements if in

Managements judgment the position is more-likely-than-not sustainable upon audit based on the positions

technical merits This involves the identification of potential uncertain tax positions the evaluation of

applicable tax laws and measurement of the amount of each uncertain tax position that is more-likely-than-not

76



INTRALINKS HOLDINGS INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In Thousands Except Share and per Share Data

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

sustainable The Company operates within multiple taxing jurisdictions and is subject to audit in these

jurisdictions The Company recognizes interest expense arid penalties on uncertain tax positions as part of

income tax expense

Net Loss Per Share Basic loss per share is computed using net loss and the weighted average number

of common shares outstanding Diluted loss per share reflects the weighted average number of common shares

outstanding plus any potentially dilutive shares outstanding during the period Potentially dilutive shares

consist of shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options and unvested shares of restricted Common Stock

using the treasury stock method and conversion of preferred shares using the as converted method

Common equivalent shares are excluded from the diluted computation if their effect is anti-dilutive

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions The functional currencies of the Companys foreign

operations are the local currencies in each of the foreign subsidiary locations Adjustments resulting from

translating foreign currency financial statements into U.S dollars are recorded as separate component of

accumulated other comprehensive income within the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Preferred Stock

and Stockholders Equity and Comprehensive Loss Income

Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in net loss for each period presented For

years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 foreign currency transaction losses of $875 $363 and $600

respectively were recorded as component of Other income expense net after Income from

operations Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated into U.S dollars primarily

at the exchange rate on the balance sheet date with small number of transactions translated using the

historical exchange rate on the date the transaction occurred Revenue and expenses are translated on

monthly basis at the average exchange rate during the period Equity transactions are translated using

historical exchange rates

Comprehensive Loss Comprehensive loss consists of net loss and other comprehensive loss Other

comprehensive loss includes certain changes in stockholders equity that are excluded from net loss

specifically cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments and unrealized gains or losses on marketable

securities Comprehensive loss has been reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Preferred

Stock and Stockholders Equity and Comprehensive Loss Income as well as in Note 17

Cash and Cash Equivalents The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original

maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents

consist of cash on deposit with banks money market funds and certain investments in commercial paper

investments The Companys investment portfolio may at any time contain investments in U.S Treasury

obligations securities guaranteed by the U.S government certificates of deposit corporate notes and bonds

medium-term notes conmiercial paper and money market mutual funds with original maturities less than

one year

The Companys investments with original maturity dates in excess of three months are classified as

short-term investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets Short-term investments classified as trading

securities are recorded at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recorded to Other income expense

net during each respective reporting period Short-term investments classified as held-to-maturity are

recorded at amortized cost Interest earned on short-term investments is recorded to Interest income which

is presented net of Interest expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations
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In periods prior to December 31 2010 the Companys investment portfolio contained investments in

auction rate securities ARS with UBS AG UBS which contained interest rate resets every 90 days or

less but maturity dates in excess of 90 days In November 2008 the Company entered into an agreement with

UBS providing the Company with rights related to its investments in ARS the Rights The Rights

permitted the Company to require UBS to redeem the ARS at
par

value at any time during the period of

June 30 2010 through July 2012 The enforceability of the Rights resulted in separate freestanding

instrument that was accounted for separately from the ARS portfolio The Company elected to measure this

instrument at fair value and also to classify the ARS as trading securities in order to match the respective

fluctuations in fair value recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations The ARS were measured at

fair value using discounted cash flow approach The assumptions used in the discounted cash flow approach

were based on data available to us at each respective measurement date and include estimates of interest rates

timing and amount of cash flows credit and liquidity premiums and expected holding periods of the ARS The

Company also valued the Rights using discounted cash flow approach based on data available at each

reporting date which includes estimates of interest rates timing and amount of cash flows and an adjustment

for any bearer risk associated with UBSs financial ability to repurchase the ARS beginning June 30 2010 On

July 2010 at the Companys request under the agreement UBS redeemed the remaining ARS at par value

Realized gains or losses on ARS securities redeemed during the period were calculated based on the specific

identification method

Fair Value of Financial Instruments The carrying amounts of the Companys cash and cash

equivalents short-term investments classified as held-to-maturity accounts receivable accounts payable and

other accrued expenses approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments Short-term

investments classified as trading as well as our prior year investments in auction rate securities were

measured and recorded at their respective fair values as described inInvestments above See Derivative

Instruments and Hedging Activities below for discussion of the Companys accounting policy for its

interest rate swap

Concentration of Credit Risk and Significant Customers Financial instruments that potentially subject

the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents restricted cash

investments and trade accounts receivable Although the Company deposits its cash with more than one

financial institution its deposits at times may exceed federally insured limits The Company has not

experienced any losses on cash and cash equivalent accounts to date and the Company believes it is not

exposed to any significant credit risk related to cash Additionally the Company believes its cash on hand

positive cash flows and access to credit facilities provides sufficient liquidity to finance the Companys

anticipated working capital interest expense and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next

twelve months

The Company operates globally with approximately 60% of total revenues derived from customers

located in the United States and the remaining 40% derived from customers located in various international

locations Revenue derived from customers located in the United Kingdom during the years ended

December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 was $27750 $19181 and $15617 or 13% 10.4% and 11.1% of total

revenue respectively No other individual foreign country accounted for more than 10% of the Companys

revenue during these periods and no individual foreign country accounted for more than 10% of the

Companys accounts receivable at December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 The Company holds fixed assets in

four locations the United States United Kingdom Germany and Brazil No country outside of the

United States holds greater than 10% of the Companys total fixed assets

No individual customer accounted for more than 10% of the Companys revenue in the years ended

December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 No individual customer accounted for more than 10% of the Companys

accounts receivable at December 31 2011 2010 and 2009
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The Company evaluates the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts on quarterly basis The

evaluation includes historical loss experience length of time receivables are past due adverse situations that

may affect customers ability to repay
and prevailing market conditions This evaluation is inherently

subjective and estimates may be revised as more information becomes available

The Company currently derives substantial part
of its revenue from the commercial banking and

investment banking industries and in particular through the facilitation of corporate loan syndications and due

diligence for mergers and acquisitions MAAs result the Companys revenue is sensitive to the level

of activity in both the corporate loan and MA markets

Property and Equipment Net Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of those assets

as follows

Computers and software years

Office equipment years

Furniture and fixtures years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of estimated useful life or remaining

lease term

Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred

Software Development Costs The Company accounts for the cost of computer software developed or

obtained for internal use of its application service by capitalizing qualifying costs which are incurred during

the application development stage and amortizing them over the softwares estimated useful life Costs

incurred in the preliminary and post-implementation stages of the Companys products are expensed as

incurred The amounts capitalized include external direct costs of services used in developing internal-use

software and for payroll and payroll-related costs of employees directly associated with the development

activities The Company amortizes capitalized software over the expected period of benefit which is three

years beginning when the software is ready for its intended use

Goodwill and Other Intangible and Long-Lived Assets The Company does not amortize goodwill but

reviews goodwill at the reporting unit level for impairment on an annual basis and when events or

circumstances indicate that the cariying value of the reporting unit may be impaired The Company has one

reporting unit that is evaluated in the annual impainnent assessment which is performed during the

fourth quarter of each year On September 15 2011 the FASB issued authoritative guidance which gives

entities the option of performing qualitative assessment of goodwill prior to calculating the fair value of

reporting unit in step of the goodwill impairment test If entities determine on the basis of qualitative

factors that the fair value of reporting unit is more likely than not less than the carrying amount the

two-step impairment test is required to be performed The Company adopted this newly issued authoritative

guidance effective October 2011 The Company completed its most recent qualitative impairment analysis

as of October 2011 Among the factors included in the Companys qualitative assessment were general

economic conditions and the competitive environment actual and expected financial performance including

consideration of the Companys revenue growth and improved operating results year-over-year

forward-looking business measurements external market conditions the Companys stock-price performance

compared to overall market and industry peers market capitalization and other relevant entity-specific events

Based on the results of the qualitative assessment the Company concluded that it is more likely than not that

the fair value of its reporting unit is more than its carrying amount and therefore performance of the two-step

quantitative impairment test was not necessary There were no impairments of goodwill in any of the periods

presented in the consolidated financial statements
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The Companys long-lived assets primarily consist of computer and office equipment and software

furniture and fixtures and leasehold improvements which are subject to depreciation over the useful life of the

asset Long-lived assets are evaluated for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate

that the carrying value of the asset may be impaired In evaluating an asset for recoverability the Company

estimates the future cash flow expected to result from the use of the asset and eventual disposition If the

expected future undiscounted cash flow ts less than the carrying amount of the asset an impainnent loss

equal to the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of the asset is recognized No impairments

were recorded on long-lived assets for the periods presented in these consolidated financial statements

Other Intangibles net represents definite-lived intangible assets which are being amortized over their

estimated useful lives as follows

Developed technology 10 years

Customer relationships 10 years

Contractual backlog 1.5 years

Trade name 12 years

Non-compete agreement years

Developed technology and contractual backlog are amortized on an accelerated basis over their estimated

useful lives at rates consistent with the expected future cash flows to be generated by the assets All other

definite-lived intangible assets are amortized on straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives

Deferred Financing Costs Deferred financing costs related to the financing of the 2007 Merger as well

as fees for the 2010 credit amendments are being amortized using the effective interest method over the

remaining term of the loan Amortized costs are presented separately as non-operating costs within the

Companys Consolidated Statement of Operations

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities The Company maintains an interest rate swap agreement

to hedge its
exposure to changes in the amounts of future cash flows driven by the variable rates associated

with the Companys long-term debt The interest rate swap is recorded on the balance sheet at fair value The

fair value of the interest rate swap is measured each reporting period and includes credit valuation

adjustment that reflects consideration of the Companys own credit risk since the interest rate swap is in

liability position Valuations may fluctuate considerably from period-to-period due to volatility in underlying

interest rates which is driven by market conditions and the duration of the derivative instrument The

Company does not hold any other derivatives and does not use financial instruments for any trading or other

speculative purposes

From the inception of the interest rate swap agreement through March 2009 the interest rate swap was

designated as cash flow hedge During this time hedge effectiveness was measured by comparing the

change in fair value of the hedged item with the change ih fair value of the derivative instrument The

effective portion of the gain or loss of the hedge was recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets under the

caption Accumulated other comprehensive income In March 2009 the Company amended certain

provisions of the interest rate swap agreement which caused the instrument to no longer qualify for hedge

accounting Therefore as of the second quarter of 2009 all fair value adjustments including the credit

valuation adjustments were recoided on the Consolidated Statements of Operations under the caption Other

income expense net The Company currently has no plans to re-designate the interest rate swap agreement

as cash flow hedge and therefore expects all future fair value adjustments to be recorded in Other

income expense net See Note for additional details
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Warranties and Indemnfi cation The Companys revenue contracts generally provide for

indemnification of customers against liabilities arising from third party claims that are attributable to the

Companys breach of its warranties or infringement of third party intellectual property rights subject to

contractual limitations of liability To date the Company has not incurred any material costs as result of

such indemnifications and has not accrued any liabilities related to such obligations in the accompanying

consolidated financial statements as the Company currently has no infringement or warranty related disputes

with customers or third parties

The Company has entered into service level agreements with minority of its customers warranting

certain levels of uptime reliability and permitting those customers to receive credits or terminate their

arrangement in the event that the Company fails to meet those levels To date the Company has not provided

credits nor had any agreement cancelled based on these service level agreements

The Company warrants that its service is provided in manner reasonably designed for the secure

transmission of customer data The Company does not monitor its exposure to customer contracts in terms of

maximum payout In the event of an infringement claim giving rise to indemnification liability the Company
has the right to satisfy such obligations by providing workaround or may suspend or terminate service to

mitigate any liability The Company relies on risk framework to define risk tolerances and establish limits to

ensure that certain risk-related losses occur within acceptable predefined limits Factors that it considers in

determining exposure include the fact that the Company disclaims liability for consequential and indirect

damages including for loss of data resulting from any breach of contract and that the Company to date has

never had to do any make-good rework or been impacted by any payout in connection with any of these

guarantees Thus the potential for the Company to be required to make payments under these arrangements is

remote and accordingly no contingent liability is carried on the Consolidated Balance Sheet for these

transactions

Newly Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2009 the FASB issued revised authoritative guidance covering Multiple-Deliverable Revenue

Arrangements The revised authoritative guidance amends the previous guidance on arrangements with

multiple deliverables to

Provide updated guidance on whether multiple deliverables exist how the deliverables in an

arrangement should be separated and how consideration should be allocated

Require an entity to allocate revenue in an arrangement using estimated selling prices ESP of

each deliverable if vendor does not have vendor-specific objective evidence VSOE or

third-party evidence of selling price TPE
Eliminate the residual allocation method which will be replaced by the relative selling price

allocation method for all arrangements and

Significantly expand the disclosure requirements

The revised authoritative guidance is effective for new or materially modified arrangements in fiscal years

beginning on or after June 15 2010 The Company adopted this revised authoritative guidance prospectively

for new or materially modified arrangements beginning January 2011 the beginning of the Companys
fiscal year

The Company derives revenue principally through fixed commitment contracts under which it provides

customers with access to the IntraLinks Platform including the IntraLinks cloud-based exchange environment

as well as related customer support and other professional services The Company offers its services to

customers through single-element and multiple-element arrangements some of which contain offerings for

optional services including document scanning data archiving and other professional services
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The adoption of this revised authoritative guidance did not have significant impact on the Companys

consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31 2011 Additionally the Company does not

currently foresee any changes to its services or pricing practices that will have significant effect on its

consolidated financial statements in periods after the initial adoption although this could change The

Company will continue to evaluate the nature of the services offered to customers under its fixed comniitment

contracts as well as its pricing practices to determine if change in policy or disclosures is warranted in

future periods

In January 2010 the FASB issued revised authoritative guidance covering Disclosures About Fair Value

Measurements which added new requirements for disclosures about transfers into and out of Level and

assets and separate disclosures about purchases sales issuances and settlements relating to Level

measurements The revised authoritative guidance also clarified existing fair value disclosure requirements for

the level of disaggregation and inputs and valuation techniques used to measure fair value This authoritative

guidance was effective for the first reporting period including interim periods beginning after December 15

2009 except for the requirement to provide the Level activity of purchases sales issuances and settlements

on gross basis was be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2010 and for interim periods

within those years The Company adopted the guidance related to the Level and Level disclosures in the

first quarter of 2010 and the guidance related to the disclosures of Leyel activity in the first quarter of

2011 The adoption of this authoritative guidance had no material impact on the Companys consolidated

financial statements See Note for further discussion

On September 15 2011 the FASB issued authoritative guidance which gives entities the option of

performing qualitative assessment of goodwill prior to calculating the fair value of reporting unit in

step of the goodwill impairment test If entities determine on the basis of qualitative factors that the fair

value of reporting unit is more likely than not less than the carrying amount the two-step impairment test is

required to be performed The guidance is effective for all entities for annual and interim goodwill impairment

tests performed for fiscal
years beginning after December 15 2011 Early adoption is permitted The Company

adopted the authoritative guidance effective October 2011 and applied this guidance to the annual goodwill

impairment assessment during the fourth quarter of 2011 See Goodwill and Other Intangible and

Long-Lived Assets above for details The adoption of this guidance did not have material impact On the

Companys consolidated financial statements

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

On May 12 2011 the FASB issued revised authoritative guidance covering fair value measurements and

disclosures The amended guidance include provisions for the application of concepts of highest and best

use and valuation premises an option to measure groups of offsetting assets and liabilities on net

basis incorporation of certain premiums and discounts in fair value measurements and measurement

of the fair value of certain instruments classified in shareholders equity The revised guidance is effective for

interim and annual periods beginning after December 15 2011 The adoption of this revised guidance is not

expected to have material impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements

On June 16 2011 the FASB issued revised authoritative guidance covering Presentation of

Comprehensive Income which revises the manner in which entities present comprehensive income in their

financial statements The revised guidance removes the presentation options in the current guidance and

requires entities to report components of comprehensive income in either continuous statement of

comprehensive income or two separate but consecutive statements The revised authoritative guidance does

not change the items that must be reported in other comprehensive income The revised guidance is effective

for interim and fiscal years beginning after December 15 2011 The adoption of this revised guidance is not

expected to have material impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements
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Investments and Fair Value Measurements

During the year
ended December 31 2011 the Company invested $27100 in U.S Treasuries with

maturity dates no greater
than 90 days and all of these U.S Treasuries have since matured and been

transferred to the Companys money market account The Company classified the U.S Treasuries as cash

equivalents with gains and losses recorded to Interest expense net within the Consolidated Statement of

Operations The gains and losses associated with these cash equivalents during the year ended December 31

2011 were not material

During year ended December 31 2011 the Company utilized $41660 of funds from its money market

account to purchase commercial paper corporate bonds and agency bonds with $4000 of the securities

purchased having matured within 2011 Interest earned on these debt securities is recorded to Interet

expense net within the Consolidated Statement of Operations The Company has classified these short-term

investments as held-to-maturity and as such has recorded them at amortized cost The gross unrecognized

holding gains and losses for the year ended December 31 2011 were not material The following table

summarizes these short-term investments as of December 31 2011

Consolidated Balance Sheet Amortized Carrying

Security Type Maturity Classification Cost Interest Amount

Commercial Paper 84 Days Cash and cash equivalents 1300 1300

Commercial Paper 115 to 269 Days Investments short-term 12489 12489

Corporate Notes 128 to 366 Days Investments short-term 19631 317 19948

Agency Bonds 366 Days Investments short-term 4000 4002

Total $37420 $319 $37739

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company invested $4320 in bank time deposits with

maturity dates in excess of three months and all of these were matured as of December 31 2010 The

Company classified these investments as trading securities with gains and losses recorded to Other income

expense within the Consolidated Statement of Operations The gains and losses incurred on these investments

during the year ended December 31 2010 were not material Upon maturity the bank time deposits were

transferred into the Companys money market fund which is classified as cash equivalent on the

Consolidated Balance Sheet

In periods prior to December 31 2010 the Companys investment portfolio contained investments in

ARS with UBS which contained interest rate resets every 90 days or less but maturity dates in excess of

90 days In November 2008 the Company entered into an agreement the Rights Agreement IJBS

providing the Company with the Rights The Rights permitted the Company to require UBS to redeem the

ARS at par value at any time during the period of June 30 2010 through July 2012 Additionally UBS had

the right at its discretion to purchase or sell the Companys ARS at any time until July 2012 so long as

payments were received at par value upon any sale or disposition The Company redeemed its ARS for par

value under the Rights on July 2010 The enforceability of the Rights resulted in separate freestanding

instrument that was accounted for separately from the ARS portfolio The Company elected to measure this

instrument at fair value and also to classify the ARS as trading securities in order to match the respective

fluctuations in fair value recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations The Company valued the

Rights using discounted cash flow approach based on data available at each reporting date which includes

estimates of interest rates timing and amount of cash flows and an adjustment for any bearer risk associated

with UBSs financial ability to repurchase the ARS beginning June 30 2010

On July 2010 at the Companys request under the Rights Agreement UBS redeemed the ARS at par

value and the Company received $900 At December 31 2011 and 2010 the Company did not hold any

investments in ARS
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Investments and Fair Value Measurements continued

The fair value framework under the FASBs guidance requires the categorization of assets and liabilities

into three levels based upon the assumptions used to measure the assets or liabilities Level provides the

most reliable measure of fair value whereas Level if applicable generally would require significant

management judgment The three levels for categorizing assets and liabilities under the fair value

measurement requirements are as follows

Level Fair value measurement of the asset or liability using observable inputs such as quoted

prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level Fair value measurement of the asset or liability using inputs other than quoted prices that

are observable for the applicable asset or liability either directly or indirectly such as quoted prices

for similar as opposed to identical assets or liabilities in active markets and quoted prices for

identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active and

Level Fair value measurement of the asset or liability using unobservable inputs that reflect the

Companys own assumptions regarding the applicable asset or liability

During the year ended December 31 2011 there were no transfers in or out of the Companys Level or

Level assets or liabilities

The following table summarizes those assets and liabilities measured at fair value on recurring basis as

of December 31 2011

Total Level Level Level

Asset

Money market funds as cash equivalents $7197 $7197

Liability

Interest rate swap $1455 $1455

Based on one-month U.S Dollar LIBOR index inclusive of $23 credit valuation adjustment

The following table summarizes those assets and liabilities measured at fair value on recurring basis as

of December 31 2010

Total Level Level Level

Assets

Money market funds as cash equivalents $12900 $12900

Liability

Interest rate swapb 5649 $5649

Based on one-month U.S Dollar LIBOR index inclusive of $138 credit valuation adjustment see Note 10
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Acquired value at

June 15 2007

Amortization

Net book value at

December 31 2008

Amortization
_______ ________ ______ ______ _____ _______

Net book value at

December 31 2009
_______

Amortization
_______ _______ ______ ______ ____ _______

Net book value at

December 31 2010
_______ _______ ______ ____ _______

Amortization _______ _______ ______ ______ ____ _______
Net book value at

December 31 2011
_______ _______ ______ ______ ____

The Company has not identified impairment for any of the definite-lived intangible assets and no

additional definite-lived intangible assets have been acquired through December 31 2011

Intangible amortization for each respective operating expense category is as follows

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

$13237 $13237 $19304

14175 14175 14174

1218 1329 1461

$28630 $28741 $34939

Estimated intangible amortization expense on an annual basis for the succeeding five years is as follows

For the year ending December 31
___________

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

Thereafter

Total

INTRALINKS HOLDINGS INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
In Thousands Except Share and per Share Data

Goodwill and Other Intangibles

There have been no changes in the carrying amount of goodwill through December 31 2011

As of December 31 2011 Other intangibles consists of the following

Definite Lived Intangible Assets

Non-

Developed Customer Contractual Trade Compete

Technology Relationships Backlog Name Agreement Total

$132369 $141747 9219 $14618 728 $298681

40814 21853 9219 1878 374 74138

91555 $119894 $12740 354 $224543

19304 14174 1218 243 34939

72251 $105720 $11522 111 $189604

13236 14176 1218 111 28741

59015 91544 $10304 $160863

13237 14175 1218 28630

45778 77369 9086 $132233

Cost of revenue

Sales and marketing

General and administrative

Total

Amount

25761

23335

23335

23335

23335

13132

$132233
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Fixed Assets

Fixed assets consisted of the following at

December 31

2011 2010

Computer and office equipment and software 21586 17148

Furniture and fixtures 1515 774

Leasehold improvements 1939 1699

Total fixed assets 25040 194621

Less Accumulated depreciation and amortization 17405 11546
Fixed assets net 7635 8075

The Company holds fixed assets in four locations the United States United Kingdom Germany and

Brazil No country outside of the United States holds greater than 10% of the Companys total fixed assets

Depreciation and amortization expense relating to fixed assets for the years ended December 31 2011 2010

and 2009 was $5893 $5796 and $3528 respectively

On March 2010 the Company entered into an equipment sales agreement to purchase previously

leased equipment from the lessor for $3424 thereby releasing the Company from any further commitment or

obligation for continued operating lease payments The Company made the final payment for the purchase of

the equipment in April 2010 at which time title of the assets that were previously subject to the lease

arrangement passed to the Company The cost of the purchased equipment is being depreciated over the

remaining useful lives of the respective assets During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company

recorded $1999 of depreciation expense
related to the purchased equipment

Capitalized Software

Capitalized software consisted of the following at

December 31

2011 2010

Capitalized software 65152 46435

Less Accumulated amortization 34865 20759

Capitalized software net 30287 25676

Amortization expense of capitalized software for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

was 14106 11186 and 8039 respectively

Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following at

December 31

2011 2010

Sales commissions and bonuses 8664 $12004

Current portion of interest rate swap 1455 4332

Current portion of long-term debt 1191 1350

Professional fees 1663 449

Deferred rent 235 375

Other accrued
expenses 6638 3934

Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities $19846 $22444
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INTRALINKS HOLDINGS INC
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The following is summary of the Companys net income loss before income tax by jurisdiction

2011
__________ ____________

$214

183
_______ ________

31
_______ _______

Information pertaining to the Companys income tax expense benefit is as follows

Current

Federal

State and local

Foreign

Total Current

Deferred

Federal

State and local

Foreign

Total Deferred

Total Income tax expense benefit

reconciliation of the provision for income taxes at the U.S

the Companys effective income tax rate is as follows

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

375 45 344

986 654 248

952 864 280

2313 1473 872

1061 6024 16086

1908 2006 2914
254 130 287

1101 7900 19287

1212 $6427 $18415

Federal statutory income tax rate of 35% to

U.S

Non-U.S

Net loss before income tax

Years Ended December 31

__________
2010 2009

$16310 $43396

_____
2553 210

$18863 $43186

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Tax at U.S federal statutory rate 11 $6602 $15115

State taxes net of federal income tax effect 668 1581 2667
Stock compensation 1946 872 226

Non-deductible expenses 712 696 952

Foreign taxes 428 495 417

Research and development credit 1231 341 2211
Other 36 34 17
Total 1212 $6427 $18415

Effective tax rate 3970.2% 34.1% 42.6%
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Income Taxes continued

Following is summary of the components of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at

December 31 2011 and 2010

Net operating loss carryforwards current portion

Accrued expenses

Unrealized loss on interest rate swap short term

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Research and development tax credit

Other

Current deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carryforwards long-term portion

Research and development tax credit carryforwards

AMT tax credit carryforwards

Unrealized loss on interest rate swap long term

Stock based compensation

Other

Non-current deferred tax assets

Total deferred tax assets

Depreciation and amortization

Bonus accrual adjustment

Other

Non-current deferred tax liabilities

Total deferred tax liabilities

Net deferred tax liabilities

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010

9863 13036

860 2546

573 1713

530 684

139

_______
146

18264

1305

4081

946

132

753

12711

10211

5586

1273

520

606
370

65323

65323

$27839

1064

812

18946

31657

58283

236

386

19220

37484

64347

47 _______

58330
________

58330
________

$26673
_______

At December 31 2011 the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of $61633 including $8320

of windfall tax benefits attributable to equity compensation These net operating loss carryforwards expire in

various years beginning in 2020 through 2030 if not utilized The windfall tax benefits attributable to equity

compensation will be recorded to additional paid-in capital when such amounts reduce income taxes payable

At December 31 2011 the Company had U.S Federal and state research and development tax credit

carryforwards of $6464 and $2996 respectively which if not utilized will expire in various years beginning

in 2020 through 2031

Due to ownership changes in 2001 and 2007 and the public stock offerings in 2010 the Companys net

operating loss and research and development tax credit carryforwards are subject to limitations pursuant to

1RC Section 382 and 383 and similar state provisions The Company has recorded the associated tax benefits

on net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards that it believes are more likely than not realizable based on

its evaluation of the foregoing limitations and both positive and negative evidence including reversals of

existing taxable temporary differences As of December 31 2011 the Company had no valuation allowance on

its deferred tax assets
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Income Taxes continued

The following table summarizes changes to the Companys unrecognized tax benefits excluding interest

and penalties for the periods presented

2011 2010 2009

Beginning Balance as of January $2578 $2239 252

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 475 384 245

Additions for tax positions of prior years 204 1742

Reductions for tax positions of prior years 45
Reductions from lapse of applicable statutes of limitations 56
Settlements 40
Balance as of December 31 $3161 $2578 $2239

If recognized unrecognized tax benefits of $2733 at December 31 2011 would impact the effective

income tax rate The liability for unrecognized tax benefits is classified as part of Other long-term liabilities

on the Consolidated Balance Sheets

At December 31 2011 total accrued interest and penalties related to the uncertain tax positions was

$110 which includes $31 $27 and $37 recorded during the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

respectively These amounts were recorded as additional tax expense during the respective periods

As result of prior year net operating losses the Companys U.S Federal income tax returns for years

1999 through 2011 are open for examination by the U.S Internal Revenue Service the IRS State and

local income tax returns for 2009 through 2011 remain subject to examination by various state and local

taxing authorities The Companys non-U.S income tax returns are also subject to income tax examination in

various foreign jurisdictions In the second quarter 2011 the IRS commenced an examination of the

Companys 2006 through 2009 U.S Federal income tax returns At December 31 2011 the IRS has not

proposed any audit adjustments Management believes that it is reasonably possible the IRS could propose

audit adjustments impacting the Companys net operating loss carryforwards However Management believes

it has adequately provided for all uncertain tax positions and any potential audit adjustments would not have

material impact on the Companys financial position The Company does not anticipate that the total

amounts of unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease over the next twelve months

Debt

Long-term debt consisted of the following at

December 31

2011 2010

First Lien Credit Agreement First Lien Credit Facility $91580 $127236

Other financing arrangements 775

Less current portion First Lien Credit Facility 982 1350
Less current portion Other financing arrangements 209
Total long-term debt $91164 $125886

Based on available market information the estimated fair value of the Companys total debt was

approximately $90082 as of December 31 2011

In connection with IntraLinks Holdings financing of the Merger the Company entered into three credit

agreements dated June 15 2007
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Debt continued

On May 14 2010 the Company entered into an agreement with its lenders to amend the First Lien

Credit Agreement and Second Lien Credit Agreement The purpose
of the amended credit agreements was to

allow the Company to use net proceeds from its initial public offering for the repayment in full of the loan

under the Holdings Senior P1K Credit Agreement the P1K Loan and for the repayment of the Tranche

and Tranche term loans under the Second Lien Credit Agreement on pro rata basis Under the terms of

the existing First and Second Lien Credit Agreements the Company was restricted with regards to repayment

preference The amendment of the First Lien Credit Agreement included updated terms on the interest rate

including floor of 1.5% should the Company elect the Eurodollar Rate option and an increase in the rate

margin of 1.75% The amendment of the Second Lien Credit Agreement included updated terms on the

interest rate of the Tranche term loan including floor of 2.0% should the Company elect the Eurodollar

Rate option and an increase in the rate margin of 0.75% The updated interest rates under the amended credit

agreements became effective immediately following the consummation of the Companys initial public

offering which closed on August 11 2010

On November 24 2010 the Company entered into an agreement with its lenders on the First Lien Credit

Facility to allow for the repayment of the remainder of the outstanding balance of the Second Lien Credit

Facility using the net proceeds from the follow-on stock offering

First Lien Credit Facility

The First Lien Credit Facility provides for term loans in the aggregate principal amount of $135000 and

quarterly installment payments equal to 0.25% of the initial principal balance due on the last day of each

quarter which commenced on September 30 2007 and with the balance due in final installment on June 15

2014 Additionally the First Lien Credit Facility includes requirement for mandatory prepayments based on

annual excess free cash flow Term loans under the First Lien Credit Agreement as amended bear interest at

the higher of the Eurodollar Rate as defined in the credit agreement or 1.5% plus 4.25% per annum At

December 31 2011 the interest rate on the First Lien Credit Facility was 5.75% Prior to the amendment term

loans under the First Lien Credit Facility bore interest at the Eurodollar Rate plus 2.75% per annum In

March 2009 the Company made an election allowable by the credit agreement to change the basis which

determines the variable Eurodollar interest rate from three-month LIBOR to one-month LIBOR with

corresponding change in the timing of interest payments to be due on the last business day of each month

The First Lien Credit Facility limits annual consolidated capital expenditures including amounts related

to capitalized software and restricts the ability to borrow against the revolving line of credit if consolidated

EBITDA ratio is not achieved The agreement also contains other positive and negative covenants The

Company was in compliance with these covenants as of December 31 2011

In April 2011 in connection with the Companys follow-on public offering the Company used

substantially all of the net proceeds from this offering to prepay $34582 of outstanding indebtedness on the

First Lien Credit Facility The terms of the First Lien Credit Agreement require any voluntary prepayment of

the term loans to be applied on pro rata basis to each scheduled installment of principal As result the

quarterly installment payment as of December 31 2011 decreased from $338 to $246 for the remaining term

on the loan

The First Lien Credit Facility also provides for $15000 revolving line of credit of which $12912 was

unused as of December 31 2011 At December 31 2011 $2088 was reserved for standby letters of credit

$1288 for operating lease agreements related to the Companys various office locations and $800 related to

the Companys corporate charge card utilized by executives and certain other employees The interest rate on

the unutilized portion of the revolving line of credit was 0.5% for the year ended December 31 2011
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Debt continued

The current portion of long-term debt reflects the quarterly mandatory principal payments of

approximately $246 on the First Lien Credit Facility due in the following year Current portion of long-term

debt aggregated to $982 for the
year

ended December 31 2011

The First Lien Credit Facility is secured by security interests and liens against all of the Companys

assets including pledge of 100% of the equity interests in its domestic subsidiaries and an obligation to

pledge 65% of the equity interests in its direct subsidiaries

Prepayment Penalties and Other Financing Costs

Upon repayment of the P1K Loan the Company incurred prepayment penalty in the amount of $4092

or 4% of the outstanding balance The prepayment penalty as well as $715 in accelerated amortization of

deferred financing Costs from original issuance and $167 in financing costs from the arrangement of the credit

amendments was recorded as Loss on extinguishment of debt within the Consolidated Statement of

Operations for the year ended December 31 2010

As result of the repayment of the Second Lien Credit Facility the Company recorded $426 of

accelerated amortization of deferred financing costs from original issuance classified as Amortization of debt

issuance costs within the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31 2010

As result of the May and November 2010 amendments to the First and Second Lien Credit

Agreements the Company incurred amendment fees of $663 equal to 0.25% of the outstanding respective

balances payable to the creditors These amendment fees were deferred when incurred and are being

amortized over the remaining term of the loans using the effective interest method The amendment fees

related to the amendment of the Second Lien Credit Facility were accelerated upon repayment of those loans

with $163 recorded within Amortization of debt issuance costs within the Consolidated Statement of

Operations for the year ended December 31 2010

The Company also incurred arrangement fees of $850 payable to Deutsche Bank Securities Inc who

acted as third-party administrator and sole arranger and book runner for the amendments to the First and

Second Lien Credit Agreements These arrangement fees were expensed as incund during the year ended

December 31 2010 with $683 classified as Amortization of debt issuance costs within the Consolidated

Statement of Operations and $167 representing the P1K Loan portion classified as Loss on extinguishment

of debt as noted above

Financing costs resulting from the original debt issuance as well as the amendments to the First Lien

Credit Agreement and Second Lien Credit Agreement as described above were deferred when incurred and

are being amortized over the remaining term of the loans using the effective interest method Amortization of

deferred financing costs during the year ended December 31 2011 was $1369 compared to $3084 for the

year ended December 31 2010 As result of the voluntary prepayment of $34582 on the First Lien Credit

Facility using the proceeds from the April 2011 public offering of Common Stock an amount of $407 was

accelerated representing the pro rata portion of financing costs and recognized as AmOrtization of debt

issuance costs during the year ended December 31 2011

Accounting for Debt Modification

The modification of certain terms of the First and Second Lien Credit Agreements as described above

required the Company to perform an assessment of future cash flows to determine if the modified terms

represented substantial difference when compared to the original terms Based on the results of the

assessment of future cash flows the Company concluded that the amendments to the First and Second Lien

Credit Agreements did not represent substantially different terms and as such modification accounting rather

than debt extinguishment should be applied Therefore the Company calculated new effective interest rate

based on the carrying amounts of the original debt instruments The effective interest rate for the First Lien

Credit Facility as of December 31 2011 was 6.77% The effective interest rate includes the
pro rata share of
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Debt continued

the amendment fees which were deferred and will be amortized over the remaining term of the loan utilizing

the effective interest rate method Amortization of deferred financing costs is disclosed separately as

non-operating expense
within the Consolidated Statement of Operations

Other Financing Arrangements

In June 2011 the Company entered into financing arrangement in the ordinary course of business to

purchase certain software and related services in the amount of $1240 including financing costs of $130 to

be repaid over term of 49 months In December 2011 the Company entered into another financing

arrangement in the ordinary course of business to purchase support and maintenance for existing software

licenses in the amount of $215 to be repaid over term of 25 months

The following table summarizes the interest expense incurred on total debt

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

First Lien Credit Facility 6100 5578 4552

Tranche inclusive of $0 $768 and $155 respectively

related to debt discount 3452 3501

Tranche 1829 2259

P1K Loan 8099 12013

Interest Rate Swap see Note 10 4570 5804 6668

Other financing arrangements

Total interest expense on long-term debt $10678 $24762 $28993

10 Derivative Financial Instrument

Interest Rate Swap Transaction

For the periods presented the Company recorded the fair value of the interest rate swap liability as

follows

December 31

2011 2010

Interest rate swap liability 1455 5649

Less current portion as recorded within Accrued expenses and other

current liabilities See Note 1455 4332
Total long-term liability as recorded within Other long-term liabilities 1317

On July 19 2007 the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement that fixed the interest rate at

5.43% on beginning notional amount of $170000 The notional amount amortizes over period ending

June 30 2012 At December 31 2011 the notional amount of $90000 covered approximately 98% of the

Companys variable rate debt on the First Lien Credit Facility

On March 25 2009 in conjunction with the elections made on the First and Second Lien Credit Facility

variable rate bases from three-month LIBOR to one-month LIBOR and quarterly interest payments to

monthly the Company amended the variable leg of its interest rate swap agreement to mirror the current

terms of the First and Second Lien Facilities The fixed rate payable on the interest rate swap was also revised

from 5.43% to 5.25%

The fair value of the interest rate swap is measured each reporting period and includes credit valuation

adjustment that reflects consideration of the Companys credit risk since the interest rate swap is in liability
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10 Derivative Financial Instrument continued

position The credit valuation adjustments represent discounts to consider the Companys own credit risk

since the interest rate swap is in liability position Valuations may fluctuate considerably from

period-to-period due to volatility in underlying interest rates which is driven by market conditions and the

duration of the swap The credit valuation adjustments at December 31 2011 and 2010 were $23 and $138

respectively The value of the interest rate swap represents the estimated amount the Company would receive

or pay to terminate the agreement at the respective measurement date

Prior to March 25 2009 the Company had not recorded any gain or loss due to ineffectiveness of the

hedge or as the result of discontinuance of the hedge Based on the changes made to the swap agreement

on March 25 2009 as of that date the Company no longer qualified to use hedge accounting and therefore

recorded loss of $10653 during the three months ended March 31 2009 which was reflected in Other

income expense net within the Consolidated Statement of Operations The loss of $10653 represents the

accumulated fair value adjustments that were recorded through Accumulated other comprehensive income

on the Consolidated Balance Sheet from the inception of the swap agreement through the date of the hedge

de-designation

The effects of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations were as follows for the

periods presented amounts presented excluded any income tax effects

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Location

Other income expense net $4193 $2778 $8427

11 Common Stock

As of December 31 2011 the Company had 300000000 shares of common stock par value $0.00 per

share Common Stock authorized with 54248178 shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding The

number of authorized shares of Common Stock may be increased or decreased but not below the number of

shares then outstanding by the affirmative vote of holders representing at least 75% in interest of the issued

and outstanding shares of Common Stock The transactions that affected the Common Stock authorized issued

and outstanding during the
years

ended December 31 2011 and 2010 are described in detail below

On August 2010 the SEC declared effective the Companys registration statement on Form S-i as

amended File No 333-165991 the Registration Statement in connection with its initial public offering

of 11000000 shares of Common Stock at public offering price of $13.00 per
share The offering closed on

August 11 2010 Upon consummation of the Companys initial public offering all previously outstanding

shares of the Companys Series Preferred Stock converted to 35101716 shares of Common Stock On

September 2010 the Company closed the sale of an additional 980000 shares of common stock at the

initial public offering price of $13.00 per share pursuant to the underwriters exercise of their over-allotment

option in connection with the Companys initial public offering that closed on August 11 2010

On December 2010 the SEC declared effective the Companys registration statement on Form S-i as

amended File No.333-170694 in connection with our follow-on public offering of an additional 2000000
shares of Common Stock at public offering price of $20.00 per share

On April 2011 the SEC declared effective the Companys registration statement on Form S-i as

amended File No.333-173107 in connection with the Companys follow-on public offering of 1250000

shares of Common Stock at public offering price of $25.50 per share with an overallotment option of an

additional 187500 shares The follow-on offering closed on April 12 2011 pursuant to which total of

1437500 shares were issued inclusive of the exercise of the overallotment option by the underwriters of

187500 shares
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11 Common Stock continued

The Company used substantially all of the net proceeds of our initial public offering including the sale

of the underwriters over-allotment shares and the December 2010 and April 2011 follow-on offerings to

repay significant amount of our outstanding indebtedness see Note

12 Employee Stock Plans

The Company maintains several share-based compensation plans which are more fully described below

Total stock-based compensation expense related to all of the Companys stock awards was included in various

operating expense categories for the periods included below as follows

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Cost of revenue 310 105 63

Product development 1329 755 483

Sales and marketing 2353 1638 529

General and administrative 4716 1717 863

Total $8708 $4215 $1938

2007 Restricted Preferred Stock Plan

The maximum number of restricted Series Preferred shares authorized and issued under the 2007

Restricted Preferred Stock Plan was 2033320 all of which were granted on June 15 2007 in conjunction

with the Merger At the closing of the initial public offering all outstanding shares of Series Preferred Stock

converted into shares of Common Stock including unvested restricted Series Preferred shares At

December 31 2011 there were no shares of Series Preferred Stock issued or outstanding

2007 Stock Option and Grant Plan

The maximum number of shares of Coimnon Stock initially reserved and available for issuance under the

2007 Stock Option and Grant Plan was 4000000 shares Under the 2007 Stock Option and Grant Plan the

maximum number of shares increased by one share automatically for every share of restricted Series

Preferred issued under the 2007 Restricted Preferred Stock Plan that failed to vest and was cancelled On

March 2010 an additional 4000000 shares of Common Stock were authorized for issuance under the 2007

Stock Option and Grant Plan increasing the number of shares of Common Stock authorized for issuance to

8000000 Effective upon the adoption of the Companys 2010 Equity Incentive Plan the Companys board of

directors determined not to grant any further awards under the 2007 Stock Option and Grant Plan and the

shares of Common Stock that remained available for future awards under the 2007 Stock Option and Grant

Plan have been reserved for issuance under the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan

2010 Equity Incentive Plan

The 2010 Equity Incentive Plan was adopted by the Companys board of directors in March 2010 and

approved by its stockholders in July 2010 The 2010 Equity Incentive Plan pennits the Company to make

grants of stock options both incentive stock options and non-qualified stock options stock appreciation

rights restricted stock restricted stock units unrestricted stock cash-based awards performance shares and

dividend equivalent rights to its executives employees non-employee directors and consultants The

maximum number of shares of Common Stock reserved and available for issuance under the 2010 Equity

Incentive Plan is 8000000 shares Generally shares that are forfeited or canceled from awards under the

2010 Equity Incentive Plan the 2007 Stock Option and Grant Plan and the 2007 Restricted Preferred Stock

Plan also will be available for future awards

94



INTRALINKS HOLDINGS INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In Thousands Except Share and per Share Data

12 Employee Stock Plans continued

The following table summarizes the weighted average values of the assumptions used in the

Black-Scholes pricing model to estimate the fair value of the options granted during the period presented

Years Ended

December 31

2011 2010 2009

Expected volatility 57.7% 61.7% 77.0%

Expected life of option 6.06 Years 6.17 Years 5.94 Years

Risk free interest rate 1.6% 2.4% 2.6%

Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

The following table summarizes stock option activity for the year ended December 31 2011

Weighted

Average
Shares Exercise Price

Outstanding at January 2011 2779471 6.53

Granted 3031750 12.93

Exercised 412050 3.60

Forfeited 581423 12.00

Outstanding at December 31 2011 4817748 $10.15

The following table contains additional information with respect to options outstanding and exercisable at

December 31 2011

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Number of Remaining Weighted Remaining Weighted

Options Weighted Average Number Weighted Average

Outstanding Average Life Exercise Price Exercisable Average Life Exercise Price

Exercise Prices

$1.59 655177 6.09 1.59 613517 6.08 1.59

$3.29 143758 7.25 3.29 50045 7.25 3.29

$5.14 134500 9.86 5.14

$6.05 1300000 9.96 6.05

$6.76 649286 8.16 6.76 279177 8.16 6.76

$7.66 526250 9.62 7.66

$13.00 364277 8.60 13.00 123170 8.60 13.00

$19.59 85000 8.84 19.59 26338 8.84 19.59

$21.74 200000 9.37 21.74

$25.89 759500 9.15 25.89 14688 9.15 25.89

4817748 8.80 $10.15 1106935 7.04 4.99

At December 31 2011 the aggregate intrinsic values of stock options outstanding and exercisable were

$3866 and $3000 respectively At December 31 2010 the aggregate intrinsic values of stock options

outstanding and exercisable were $37529 and $12810 respectively The intrinsic value for stock options is

calculated based on the exercise price of the underlying awards and the calculated fair value of such awards

as of each respective period-end date
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The following table summarizes non-vested stock option activity for the year ended December 31 2011

Weighted Average
Grant Date

Shares Fair Value

Non-vested options outstanding at January 2011 2072983 $6.28

Granted 3031750 7.03

Vested 828857 5.73

Forfeited 565063 7.83

Non-vested options outstanding at December 31 2011 3710813 $6.88

The following table provides additional information pertaining to the Companys stock options

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Weighted average grant date fair value for options granted

during the period 7.03

Total fair value of options vested $4752

The intrinsic value of options exercised for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 was $8488

and $2859 respectively

At December 31 2011 there was $22384 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested

stock options net of estimated forfeitures which is expected to be recognized over weighted average period

of 3.60 years At December 31 2010 there was $10179 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to

non-vested stock options net of estimated forfeitures which was expected to be recognized over weighted

average period of 3.41 years Stock-based compensation expense for the Companys stock options under the

2007 Stock Option and Grant Plan and 2010 Equity Incentive Plan during the years ended December 31

2011 2010 and2009 was $6074 $2626 and $502 respectively

Restricted Stock Awards RSAs
Information concerning RSAs outstanding under the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan is as follows

Non-vested shares at January 2011

Granted

Vested and exchanged for Common Stock

Forfeited
_______

Non-vested shares at December 31 2011
_______

For the year ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 the weighted-average grant date fair value for

RSAs was $17.81 $0 and $7.73 respectively The fair value of RSAs vested was $1515 $1422 and $871

respectively during the same periods

The aggregate intrinsic value of RSAs outstanding at December 31 2011 and 2010 was $455 and

$11332 respectively The intrinsic value for RSAs is calculated based on the par value of the underlying

awards and the calculated fair value of such awards as of each period-end date

At December 31 2011 there was $596 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested

RSAs net of estimated forfeitures which is expected to be recognized over weighted average period of

0.98 years At December 31 2010 there was $1646 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to

7.12 $6.22

$1176 $407

Shares

56845

49123

356910

187679

72985

Weighted Average
Grant Date

Fair Value

3.29

17.81

4.28

9.69

$11.52
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non-vested RSAs net of estimated forfeitures which is expected to be recognized over weighted average

period of 1.50 years Stock-based compensation expense for the Companys RSAs under the 2007 Stock

Option and Grant Plan for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 was $1376 $1324 and

$1436 respectively

Restricted Stock Units RSUs
The following table summarizes RSU activity for the year ended December 31 2011

Weighted Average
Grant Date

Shares Fair Value

Non-vested shares at January 2011 100000 $20.03

Granted 157643 14.72

Vested and issued 32143 20.03

Forfeited 2726 7.66

Non-vested shares at December 31 2011 222774 $16.42

For the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 the weighted-average grant date fair value for

RSUs was $14.72 $20.03 and $0 respectively The fair value of RSUs vested was $644 $0 and $0

respectively during the same periods

The aggregate intrinsic value of RSUs outstanding at December 31 2011 and 2010 was $1390 and

$1871 respectively The intrinsic value for RSUs is calculated based on the par value of the underlying

awards and the calculated fair value of such awards as of each period-end date

At December 31 2011 there was $3126 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested

RSUs net of estimated forfeitures which is expected to be recognized over weighted average period of

3.70 years At December 31 2010 there was $1712 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to

non-vested RSUs net of estimated forfeitures which is expected to be recognized over weighted average

period of 4.17 years Stock based compensation for RSUs during the years ended December 31 2011 2010

and 2009 was $903 $90 and $0 respectively

Mod/ication of Awards

During the year ended December 31 2011 pursuant to separation agreement for one individual the

Company extended the vesting terms for certain outstanding equity awards beyond the individuals separation

date resulting in modification of the awards for accounting purposes As result of the extended vesting

term and remeasurement of the modified award the Company recorded an additional $611 in stock-based

compensation costs during the year ended December 31 2011

2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan the 2010 ESPP was adopted by the Companys board of

directors and approved by its stockholders in July 2010 The Companys 2010 ESPP authorizes the issuance of

up to total of 400000 shares of its Common Stock to participating employees The Company will make one

or more offerings each
year to its employees to purchase stock under the 2010 ESPP usually beginning on the

first business day occurring on or after each January April July and October the offering date
and will end on the last business day occurring on or before the following March 31 June 30 September 30

and December 31 respectively the exercise date

The 2010 ESPP permits participating employee to make contributions to purchase shares of Common

Stock by having withheld from his or her salary minimum of 10 dollars $10 per pay period up to

maximum of 10% of the employees salary per pay period Under the 2010 ESPP eligible employees of the
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Company may elect to participate up to 15 business days prior to the offering date On the exercise date

participating employees contributions will be used to purchase up to 5000 shares of Common Stock for the

participating employee hi addition to the 5000 share purchase limit the cost of shares purchased under the

plan by participating employee cannot exceed $25000 in any plan year The purchase price for each share

will be 85% of the fair market value as defined in the 2010 ESPP of the Common Stock on either the

offering date or the exercise date whichever is less

On December 31 2010 18996 shares were issued under the 2010 ESPP Plan at price of $11.05 per

share which represented 85% of the initial public offering price

During the three months ended March 31 2011 24753 shares were issued under the 2010 ESPP Plan at

price of $16.73 per share which represented 85% of the market price of the Common Stock on January

2011 the offering date which was lower than the market price of the Common Stock on March 31 2011 the

exercise date

During the three months ended June 30 2011 26248 shares were issued under the 2010 ESPP Plan at

price of $14.69 per share which represented 85% of the market price of the Common Stock on June 30

2011 the exercise date which was lower than the market price of the Common Stock on April 2011 the

offering date

During the three months ended Septçmber 30 2011 40888 shares were issued under the 2010 ESPP

Plan at price of $6.38 per share which represented 85% of the market price of the Common Stock on

September 30 2011 the exercise date which was lower than the market price of the Common Stock on

July 2011 the offering date

During the three months ended December 31 2011 35987 shares were issued under the 2010 ESPP

Plan at price of $5.89 per share which represented 85% of the market price of the Common Stock on

December 30 2011 the exercise date which was lower than the market price of the Common Stock on

October 2011 the offering date

During the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 the weighted average grant-date fair value of

ESPP rights arising from elections made by ESPP participants was $3.82 and $9.26 respectively The fair

value of ESPP rights that vested during the years
ended December 31 2011 and 2010 was $355 and $176

respectively

The fair value for the employee stock purchase plan rights ESPP rights was estimated using the

Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010

Expected volatility 49.7% 43.1%

Expected life 0.24 years 0.25 years

Risk free interest rate 0.1% 0.2%

At December 31 201 land 2010 there were no outstanding ESPP rights due to the exercise date of the

offering period being the same date as the end of the fiscal quarter Therefore the aggregate intrinsic value of

ESPP outstanding at December 31 2011 and 2010 was $0 Additionally as of December 31 2011 there was

no unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested ESPP rights as all of the ESPP rights were vested at

December 31 2011 Stock-based compensation expense related to the Companys 2010 ESPP for the years

ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 was $355 $175 and $0 respectively
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13 Net Loss per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of common

shares outstanding during the period excluding the dilutive effects of Common Stock equivalents Common

Stock equivalents include stock options unvested shares of restricted Common Stock and unvested shares of

restricted stock units Diluted net loss
per share includes the dilutive effect of stock options restricted shares

of Common Stock and restricted stock units under the treasury stock method

The following table provides reconciliation of the numerator and denominator used in computing basic

and diluted net loss per common share

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Numerator

Net loss 1243 12436 24771

Denominator

Basic shares

Weighted-average common shares outstanding 53381655 21310284 1611090

Diluted shares

Weighted-average shares used to compute

basic net loss per share 53381655 21310284 1611090

Effect of potentially dilutive securities

Options to purchase Common Stock

Unvested shares of restricted stock awards

Unvested shares of restricted stock units

53381655 21310284 1611090

Weighted-average shares used to compute

diluted net loss
per

share

Net loss
per

share

Basic 0.02 0.58 15.38

Diluted 0.02 0.58 15.38

The following outstanding options unvested shares of restricted stock awards and unvested shares of

restricted stock units were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share for the periods

presented as their effect would have been antidilutive

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Options to purchase Common Stock 4817748 2779471 1585243

Unvested shares of restricted stock awards 72985 568451 1197607

Unvested shares of restricted stock units 222774

Series Preferred Stock as-converted basis 35103333

14 Related Party Transactions

On April 27 2011 the Board elected Chris Scalet as Class director of the Company Mr Scalet is

currently Executive Vice President Global Services and Chief Information Officer of Merck Co Inc

Merck global research-driven pharmaceutical company Affiliates of Merck are customers of the

Company in the ordinary course of business Revenue generated from Merck and its affiliates for the year
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ended December 31 2011 totaled approximately $1605 At December 31 2011 amounts due from Merck and

its affiliates totaled approximately $203

15 Restructuring Costs

The restructuring in 2009 included employee severance and other employee-related termination costs and

primarily involved reorganization of the Companys sales and sales supporting operation functions the

2009 Plan The 2009 Plan was designed to enable the Compyto operate more efficiently in still

uncertain economic environment and for continued expansion of its services into broader markets The 2009

Plan encompassed approximately 60 employees that were terminated in 2009

At December 31 2009 the unpaid reserve balance of $732 was included in Accrued expenses and other

current liabilities see Note in the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheet and paid during the year ended

December 31 2010

16 Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

The Company has entered into operating lease agreements for office space Rent is amortized on

straight-line basis over the applicable lease terms Deferred rent at December 31 2011 was $1273

The approximate aggregate future minimum lease obligations under non-cancelable operating leases for

the five years after December 31 2011 and thereafter are set forth below

Year Ending December 31 Amount

2012 3067

2013 3913

2014 3306

2015 3306

2016 2374

Thereafter 10775

Total $26741

Total facilities expenses charged to operations for the years ending December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

$5429 $3688 and $4375 respectively

The Companys principal executive office occupies approximately 66832 square feet in New York

New York In December 2009 the Company executed 10 year lease directly with the landlord for its

corporate headquarters in New York New York which occupies approximately 43304 square feet The new

lease began in August 2011 for 10 years and provided for approximately 12 months of initial free rent and an

allowance from the landlord to be used for office improvements and certain other payments of approximately

$1.9 million In June 2011 the Company executed new lease to expand its corporate headquarters in

New York New York for additional office space occupying approximately 23528 square feet which expires

in December 2013 In addition the Companys research and development facilities in Charlestown

Massachusetts occupy 36557 square feet under lease that expires on December 31 2015 The
present value

of the future minimum lease payments of these operating leases is included in the table above

Legal Proceedings

Securities Class Action On December 2011 the Company became aware of purported class action

lawsuit filed in the U.S District Court for the South District of New York the SDNY or the Court
against the Company and certain of its current and former executive officers The complaint the Wallace

Complaint alleges that the defendants made false and misleading statements or omissions in violation of the
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Securities Exchange Act of 1934 The plaintiff seeks unspecified compensatory damages for the purported

class of purchasers of the Companys common stock during the period from February 17 2011 through

November 10 2011 the Allegation Period On December 27 2011 second purported class action

complaint the Thaler Complaint which makes substantially the same claims as and is related to the

Wallace Complaint was filed in the SDNY against the Company and certain of its executive officers seeking

similar unspecified compensatory damages for the Allegation Period On February 2012 four different

shareholders filed motions to be appointed lead plaintiff pursuant to the provisions of the Private Securities

Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and the Court has not yet decided those motions The Company anticipates

that the lead plaintiff will then file consolidated and amended class action complaint The Company believes

these claims are without merit and intend to defend these lawsuits vigorously

Share/wider Derivative Action On December 28 2011 shareholder derivative complaint was filed in

the SDNY against the Company and certain of its current and former directors The complaint alleges that the

defendants breached their fiduciary duties by causing the Company to issue materially false and misleading

statements about the Companys business prospects financial condition and performance during the same

Allegation Period alleged in the Wallace Complaint and the Thaler Complaint On January 17 2012 the

Company and the plaintiff stipulated to toll the Companys time to move answer or otherwise respond to the

lawsuit until lead plaintiff is selected in the related class action lawsuits The Company believes these claims

are without merit and intends to defend this lawsuit vigorously

Although the Company believes that there is reasonable possibility that the Company could suffer

loss in connection with the final resolution of the matters described above due to the early stages of these

matters and the nature of the potential claims the Company cannot at this time reasonably estimate range of

exposure if any of the potential liability The Company therefore have not accrued in its consolidated

financial statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K any amounts to cover potential liability

SEC Investigation On August 2011 the Company received subpoena from the United States

Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC requesting certain documents related to its business from

January 2011 through August 2011 The Company has produced number of documents to the SEC and

continues to cooperate with the SEC The Company does not consider this to be an unasserted claim for

which loss analysis is required to be conducted because the SECs subpoena does not set forth allegations of

any kind To date no claims have been asserted by the SEC and therefore the Company has not accrued in its

consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K any amounts to cover potential liability

In addition to the matters described above the Company is subject to other various claims charges

disputes and litigation that have arisen in the ordinary course of business Although there can be no assurance

in this regard the Company does not believe these other matters will have material adverse effect on the

Companys results of operations cash flows or its financial condition
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17 Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive Loss is comprised of two components net loss and other comprehensive loss For years

ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 comprehensive loss consisted of the following

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Net loss $1243 $12436 $24771

Other comprehensive loss income

Foreign currency translation adjustments net of tax 192 203 214
Loss on derivatives reclassified to earnings 6019

Total other comprehensive loss income net of tax 192 203 5805

Comprehensive loss $1435 $12233 $18966

18 Subsequent Events

On January 27 2012 David Curran resigned from his position as Executive Vice President Business

and Legal Affairs of the Company Pursuant to the Separation and Independent Contractor Services Agreement

dated January 27 2012 Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February

2012 Mr Curran has agreed to assist the Company on various corporate matters as non-executive

employee until March 31 2012 and thereafter as consultant until January 31 2013 During the consulting

period the Company will pay Mr Curran consulting fee of $217 and reimburse the amount of Mr Currans

health and dental benefits during that period As additional compensation for his consulting services

Mr Curran will receive the benefit of continued vesting of the restricted stock award granted to him on

November 2010 These shares will fully vest on January 31 2013

On February 2012 the Company entered into Separation and General Release Agreement

Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 2012 with Andrew

Damico the Companys former President and CEO Pursuant to this agreement the Company paid lump

sum severance of $425 in February 2012 representing twelve months of base salary and agreed to reimbuise

twelve months of continuing coverage under the Companys medical and dental plans In addition vesting was

accelerated for the unvested portion of the stock options granted to him on February 26 2010 Any additional

stock options not vested as of his last date of employment with the Company were forfeited

On February 2012 the Company granted 500000 restricted shares of Common Stock to its new CEO
Ronald Hovsepian pursuant to his employment agreement Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Current Report

on Form 8-K Filed on December 16 2011 Vesting of this award is based upon the achievement of specified

stock performance and service thresholds This award is to be divided into four tranches of 125000 shares

with the vesting of each tranche subject to the Companys common stock attaining within five years from the

grant date price of $15 $20 $25 and $30 per share respectively for 20 consecutive trading days

As result of these events the Company will recognize additional compensation expense including

stock-based compensation expense during the three months ending March 31 2012
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Years Ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

In Thousands

Deductions for

Purposes for

Balance at Additions Which the Balance at

Beginning of Charged to Accounts Were End of

Period Expense Set Up2 Period

Year ended December 31 2011

Deducted from Accounts Receivable

Allowance for doubtful accounts 581 $1344 $l201 724

Credit reserve 1837 3933 4345 1425

Total $2418 $5277 $5546 $2149

Year ended December 31 2010

Deducted from Accounts Receivable

Allowance for doubtful accounts 611 530 560 581

Credit reserve 1859 7164 7186 1837

Total $2470 $7694 $7746 $2418

Year ended December 31 2009

Deducted from Accounts Receivable

Allowance for doubtful accounts 865 483 737 611

Credit reserve 1740 5845 5726 1859

Total $2605 $6328 $6463 $2470

Additions to Allowance for doubtful accounts are charged to expense and additions to the credit reserve

are recorded as reduction of revenue

Includes actual write offs net of recoveries and credits issued
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ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15e or 15d-15e under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act that are designed to ensure that

information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded

processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange

Commission rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our

management including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer as appropriate to allow

timely decisions regarding required disclosure In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and

procedures management recognized that any controls and procedures no matter how well designed and

operated can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives Our management
with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer evaluated the

effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report

Based upon this evaluation and as result of the material weakness described below under

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting our principal executive officer and

principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of the

end of the period covered by this report Notwithstanding the material weakness described below management

believes that the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are fairly

presented in all material respects in accordance with GAAP and our principal executive officer and principal

financial officer have certified that they fairly present in all material respects our financial condition results of

operations and cash flows for each of the periods presented in this report

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting as defined in Rules 3a- 15f and 5d-15f under the Exchange Act Our internal control over

financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting

and the preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management including our principal executive

officer and principal financial officer we conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control

over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 based on the guidelines established in Internal

Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission COSO During this assessment and in connection with the preparation of this Annual Report on

Form 10-K management identified material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting

relating to the review of the calculation of our maximum annual capital expenditures allowed under related

covenant set forth in our First Lien Credit Facility The identified material weakness in our internal control

over financial reporting is discussed in more detail below material weakness is deficiency or

combination of deficiencies such that there is reasonable possibility that material misstatement of the

annual or interim consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected on timely basis

Specifically we failed to accurately calculate the annual maximum capital expenditure limit for the
year

ended December 31 2011 under financial covenant set forth in our First Lien Credit Facility and did not

design effective controls to ensure an adequate review of the schedule used for such calculation Although the

error in the calculation in this instance did not result in any non-compliance under the First Lien Credit
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Facility our failure to prevent or timely detect an error of this nature in the future could create the potential

for an inadvertent breach of this financial covenant that if not waived by the lenders could result in default

under the loan facility causing all outstanding indebtedness thereunder to become immediately due which in

turn would require the long-term indebtedness reflected in our consolidated financial statements to be

reclassified as current liability As result notwithstanding that this control deficiency had no effect on our

consolidated financial statements management determined that it is reasonably possible that it could result in

our failure to prevent or timely detect material misstatement of our consolidated financial statements

Accordingly management has determined that this control deficiency constitutes material weakness in

internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 Because of the material weakness

management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 was not

effective based on the criteria issued by the COSO

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 has been

audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP an independent registered public accounting firm as stated in their

report which is included in Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Remediation Plan

Management has begun taking or intends to take number of steps to remediate the underlying causes of

the material weakness described above including the following

identifying and implementing improved processes surrounding the calculations that track compliance

with the financial covenants contained in the First Lien Credit Facility

instituting an additionaj level of review and analysis of covenant compliance calculations and

enhancing ongoing monitoring and forecasting of such compliance and

engaging in thorough review of all covenants under First Lien Credit Facility and providing

additional tools for key personnel to track covenant compliance requirements

Management is committed to strong internal control environment and expects that when fully

implemented and tested these remedial actions will strengthen our internal control over financial reporting and

address the material weakness that was identified as of December 31 2011 However we cannot provide any

assurance that these remediation efforts will be successful or that our internal control over financial reporting

will be effective as result of these efforts We will continue to assess the effectiveness of our remediation

efforts in connection with our future assessments of the effectiveness of internal control over financial

reporting The material weakness will be fully remediated when in the opinion of management the revised

control processes have been operating for sufficient period of time to provide reasonable assurance as to

their effectiveness Management has discussed with our Audit Committee the material weakness and its

remedjation and ultimate resolution will be reviewed with the Audit Committee

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter

ended December 31 2011 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our

internal control over financial reporting

ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

None
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PART ifi

ITEM 10 Directors Executive officers and Corporate Governance

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Companys definitive

proxy statement pursuant to regulation 14A which proxy statement is expected to be filed with Securities and

Exchange Commission not later than 120 days after the close of the Companys fiscal year ended

December 31 2011

ITEM 11 Executive Compensation

The information required under this item is incorporated hereiti by reference to the Companys definitive

proxy statement pursuant to regulation 14A which proxy statement is expected to be filed with Securities and

Exchange Commission not later than 120 days after the close of the Companys fiscal year ended

December 31 2011

ITEM 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Companys definitive

proxy statement pursuant to regulation 14A which proxy statement is expected to be filed with Securities and

Exchange Commission not later than 120 days after the close of the Companys fiscal year ended

December 31 2011

ITEM 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Companys definitive

proxy statement pursuant to regulation 14A which proxy statement is expected to be filed with Securities and

Exchange Commission not later than 120 days after the close of the Companys fiscal
year ended

December 31 2011

iTEM 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Companys definitive

proxy statement pursuant to regulation 14A which proxy statement is expected to be filed with Securities and

Exchange Commission not later than 120 days after the close of the Companys fiscal year ended

December 31 2011
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS

The following are filed as part of this Annual Report

Financial Statements

The financial statements filed as part of this Annual Report are listed on the index to financial statements

found on Item

Financial Statement Schedules

The financial statement schedule entitled Schedule IlValuation and Qualifying Accounts filed as part

of this Annual Report is listed on the index to financial statements found on Item

All other schedules have been omitted since the required information is not present or not present in

amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule or because the information required is included in

the Consolidated Financial Statements or the Notes thereto

Exhibits

The following exhibits are required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K

Exhibit

Number Description

3.1 Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended

File No 333-165991

3.2 Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to

the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended File No 333-165991

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the

Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended File No 333-165991

4.2 Registration Rights Agreement by and among the investors and shareholders listed therein and

the Company dated as of June 15 2007 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the

Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended File No 333-165991

4.3 Stockholders Agreement by and among the investors and shareholders listed therein and the

Company dated as of June 15 2007 as amended Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to

the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended File No 333-165991

10.1 Sublease Agreement by and between Meredith Corporation and IntraLinks Inc dated as of

September 24 2007 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Registration

Statement on Form S-i as amended File No 333-165991

10.2 First Amendment to Sublease Agreement by and between Meredith Corporation and

IntraLinks Inc dated as of June 2009 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the

Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended File No 333-165991

10.3 Lease Agreement by and between Hiro Real Estate Co and IntraLinks Inc dated as of

December 31 2009 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Companys Registration

Statement on Form S-i as amended File No 333-165991

10.4 Lease Agreement by and between Schrafft Center LLC and IntraLinks Inc dated July 15

2008 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Companys Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 2010 filed on March 22 2011

10.5 First Amendment to the Lease Agreement by and between Schrafft Center LLC and

IntraLinks Inc dated December 21 2010 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 i7 to the

Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 2010 filed on March 22

2011
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Exhibit

Number Description

10.6 Sublease Agreement among Hiro Real Estate Co True North Communications Inc Pfizer

Inc World Color Corp and IntraLinks Inc dated as of July 22 2011

10.7 2007 Stock Option and Grant Plan First Amendment to 2007 Stock Option and Grant Plan

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement

and Form of Restricted Stock Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the

Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended File No 333-165991

10.8 2007 Restricted Preferred Stock Plan and Form of Restricted Stock Agreement Incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-I as

amended File No 333-165991

10.9 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the

Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended File No 333-165991

10.10 2010 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of award agreements Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.7 to the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended

File No 333-170694

10.11 Senior Executive Incentive Bonus Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the

Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended File No 333-165991

10.12 IntraLinks Inc Senior Executive Severance Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14

to the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended File No 333-165991

10.13 Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to

the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2011 filed on

May 16 2011

10.14 First Lien Credit Agreement by and among IntraLinks Inc the Company the lenders listed

therein Deutsche Bank Securities Inc and Credit Suisse Securities USA LLC as joint lead

arrangers and joint bookrunners Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas as administrative

agent and collateral agent for the lenders and as syndication agent and 1NG Capital LLC as

documentation agent dated as of June 15 2007 including Amendment No to Credit

Agreement dated as of May 14 2010 thereto and Amendment No to Credit Agreement

dated as of November 24 2010 thereto Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the

Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended File No 333-170694

10.15 Second Lien Credit Agreement by and among IntraLinks Inc the Company the lenders listed

therein Deutsche Bank Securities Inc and Credit Suisse Securities USA LLC as joint lead

arrangers and joint bookrunners Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas as administrative

agent and collateral agent for the lenders and as syndication agent dated as of June 15 2007

including Amendment No to Credit Agreement dated as of May 14 2010 thereto

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Companys Registration Statement on

Form S-i as amended File No 333-165991

10.16 Employment Agreement dated as of December 15 2011 by and between the Company and

Ronald Hovsepian Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Current

Report on Form 8-K filed on December 16 2011

10.17 Employment Agreement by and between IntraLinks Inc and Anthony Plesner dated as of

March 18 2005 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Companys Registration

Statement on Form S-i as amended File No 333-165991

10.18 Employment Agreement dated as of January 27 2012 by and between IntraLinks Holdings

Inc and Scott Semel Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Companys Current

Report on Form 8-K filed on February 2012

10.19 Separation and General Release Agreement dated as of February 2012 by and between the

Company and Andrew Damico Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 2012
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Exhibit

Number Description

10.20 Separation and Independent Contractor Services Agreement dated as of January 27 2012 by

and between IntraLinks Holdings Inc and David Curran Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.3 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 2012

10.2 Form of Indemnification Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the

Companys Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended File No 333-165991

21.1 List of Subsidiaries of the Company

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002

31.2 Certification of Principal Accounting Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002

32.2 Certification of Principal Accounting Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002

10i.INS XBRL Instance Document

101 .SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

101 .CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

101 .DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

101 .LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

101 .PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

Filed herewith

Extensible Business Reporting Language XBRL information is furnished and deemed not filed or part

of registration statement or prospectus for purposes of sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933

is deemed not filed for purposes of section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and otherwise is

not subject to liability under these sections

Indicates management contract or compensation plan contract or arrangement
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the

Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf on March 20 2012 by the undersigned

thereunto duly authorized

INTRALINKS HOLDINGS INC

By Is/ RONALD HOVSEPIAN

Ronald Hovsepian

President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below

on March 20 2012 by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated

Signature Title

1sf RONALD HOVSEPIAN

Ronald Hovsepian

Is/ ANTHONY PLESNER

Anthony Plesner

Is/ PATRICK WACK JR

Patrick Wack Jr

Isi BiuAr4 CONWAY

Brian Conway

Is PETER Gns
Peter Gyenes

Isi THOMAS HALE

Thomas Hale

Is CHRIS SCALET

Chris Scalet

Director President and Chief Executive Officer

principal executive officer

Chief Financial Officer

principal financial and accounting officer

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Is HAms KAIROUZ

Habib Kairouz

Is ROBERT McBIuDE

Robert McBride

Director
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Stock Performance Graph

The following shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any of our other filings under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as

amended or the Securities Act of 1933 as amended except to the extent we specifically incorporate it by reference into such
filing

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock with the cumulative total return on

the NASDAQ Composite Index and the NASDAQ Computer Data Processing Index for the period beginning on August

2010 the date our common stock commenced trading on the NewYork Stock Exchange through December 31 2011 assum

ing an initial investment of $100

The comparisons in the graph below are based upon historical data and are not indicative of nor intended to forecast future

performance of our common stock
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